Changing the nature of olfaction throughout life in a model vertebrate, Danio rerio

by

Arash Shahriari

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Biological Sciences University of Alberta

© Arash Shahriari, 2024

Abstract

Animals use olfaction to receive invaluable information about their chemical environment. Chemical cues, also referred to as odourants, are detected by the olfactory system, which begins at the olfactory epithelium. Within this olfactory epithelium are olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) that generate signals in response to odourants. Olfactory signals are transmitted to higher-order processing centers, which mediate behaviour. Olfaction develops early and changes throughout an animal's lifespan as it further develops into adulthood until after a certain point when olfaction deteriorates due to aging-related processes. For my thesis, I used zebrafish to examine how olfaction changes throughout life. I also considered the complications of a more natural setting where multiple odourants are present.

Animals encounter multiple odourants simultaneously. Often, these odourants evoke opposite responses when detected on their own. I used zebrafish to determine how animals may respond to a mixture containing an attracting and a repelling odourant. L-alanine was an attracting odourant while L-cysteine was a repelling odourant. When zebrafish detected Lalanine and L-cysteine together, they evoked an avoidance response. When the repelling odourant's concentration decreased, the avoidance response towards the mixture became attraction.

Animals imprint to odourants during early development. Correspondingly, long-term memories of odourants are formed and responses to these odourants change when re-exposed later in life. Olfactory imprinting may be disrupted by the addition of an odourant either during imprinting or during behavioural testing. I tested if zebrafish could imprint to single amino acids and to a binary amino acid mixture. Fish imprinted to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine.

ii

However, fish that were exposed to L-leucine and L-lysine together did not imprint to either odourants separately or as a mixture, demonstrating that the complexity of the olfactory environment should be considered when examining imprinting.

While imprinting shapes future olfactory-mediated behaviours, aging often causes hyposmia, which is a weakened olfactory sense. Hyposmia is associated with a thinning of the olfactory epithelium and a reduced number of OSNs, of which there are multiple classes. Each class is sensitive to a different subset of odourants. Two classes found across vertebrates are ciliated OSNs and microvillus OSNs, which in fish detect bile acids and amino acids, respectively. Aging studies have not yet examined if all OSN classes decrease in number equally. I examined if age has class-specific effects on OSN density with impacts on response to associated odourants. Even though olfactory epithelium thickness was unchanged, overall cell density decreased as fish aged. Class-specific changes to OSN density were observed as ciliated OSN density was the same across age, but microvillus density decreased with age. As zebrafish aged, only middle-aged fish demonstrated an increase in neuronal activation and elicited a behavioural response to a bile acid or an amino acid. Young- or old-aged fish displayed no response to the odourants. Therefore, olfaction may be most functional at middle age.

Throughout an animal's lifespan, olfaction faces chemical pressure from the environment such as from toxicant exposures. The olfactory epithelium is especially vulnerable to damage by toxicants as it directly interfaces the environment. Copper is a well-known neurotoxicant that enters the hydrosphere and induces apoptosis in the olfactory epithelium of fishes. Also, copper differentially affects ciliated and microvillus OSN density, as ciliated OSNs are more sensitive to the metal's toxic effects than microvillus OSNs. Regardless, olfaction has remarkable resistance to toxicants from high biotransformation enzyme activity and OSN turnover rates. As animals

iii

age, resistance to olfactory toxicity may weaken as biotransformation activity and OSN turnover rates decreases. I examined how age affects olfactory toxicity from copper exposures with a focus on OSN class-specific effects. Age did not change how copper affected the anatomy of the zebrafish olfactory epithelium as its thickness decreased while ciliated and microvillus OSN density was unchanged after copper exposures regardless of age. Differential toxicity was seen in aging fish as copper downregulated expression of genes involved in the signal-transduction pathway of ciliated OSNs only. Responses to an amino acid and a bile acid were seen in middle-aged fish only. Therefore, copper exposures only affected middle-aged fish responses to the odourants. While olfaction may be most functional at middle age, it is also at this age group when olfaction may be most vulnerable to disruption by toxicants.

Preface

This thesis is an original work of Arash Shahriari. Research ethics approval was given for all research under this thesis by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee under the animal use protocol of AUP00052 – Chemicals, effluents, and fishes.

Chapter two of my thesis is a published review article in Aquaculture and Fisheries.

The published citation is:

Shahriari, A., Aoudi, B., & Tierney, K. B. (2023). The signal-transduction pathways of the peripheral olfactory organ and their impairment in vertebrates. *Aquaculture and Fisheries*.

I was responsible for writing this manuscript. Bouthaina Aoudi created the figures in this manuscript using BioRender.

Chapter three of my thesis is a published journal article in *Behaviour*.

The published citation is:

Shahriari, A., Khara, L. S., Allison, W. T., & Tierney, K. B. (2021). Zebrafish (Danio rerio) behavioural response to an odorant mixture containing attracting and repelling odorants. *Behaviour*, *158*(5), 355-375

I was responsible for writing this manuscript. I collected all behavioural data with the help of Lakhan S. Khara, who under my supervision, gathered data on fish response to a binary amino acid mixture. I analyzed all data.

I was responsible for manuscript composition of chapter four of my thesis. I collected all behavioural data with the help of Dustin Doty, Nojan Mannani and Patricia Ann Villarama, who were under my supervision. I analyzed all data.

I was responsible for manuscript composition of chapter five of my thesis. I collected all behavioural and anatomical data. Dustin Doty collected qPCR data under my supervision. Bouthaina Aoudi created Figure 5.1 using BioRender. I analyzed all data. I was responsible for manuscript composition of chapter six of my thesis. I collected all behavioural and immunohistochemistry data. Hudson Bovee collected olfactory epithelium thickness data under my supervision. Dustin Doty collected qPCR data under my supervision. I analyzed all data.

Dedication

"So, fish smell the ocean?"

- A friend

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Keith Tierney. Throughout my 6 years, there was a lot that you taught me including how to create a coherent narrative with my thesis. Within your supervisory style, there was a subtle message that I grasped towards the end of my graduate studies and that was to have confidence in my independence. Thank you for establishing a fun environment and letting me be myself in the lab! Even though I will miss this lab incredibly, I will cherish the past six years with extreme fondness.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Zachary Hall. In addition to the help and guidance you provided me with for tackling my thesis, your approach to academia and science was rejuvenating to experience. I would like to thank my committee member, Dr. Ted Allison for his advice and support throughout my degree. I would also like to thank Dr. Tamzin Blewett for checking up on me and creating fun events. I loved being awesome at Codenames.

To Jillian Sims, Christina Nykyforuk, Zhanika Gimeno, Emma Toulouse-Makay, and Kevin Wight, you provided me with many memorable moments towards the end of my PhD degree whether it was through our frequent silliness or going on adventures to the river, among many other activities– thank you!

Aaron Boyd, Connor Stewart, and Christina Lummer, we were a great team. Thank you for all the wild stories and fun times!

During my graduate degree, I had an army of undergrads helping me with my thesis. Dustin Doty, Nojan Mannani and Patricia Ann Vilarama, thank you for sticking around with me for two or more years.

To my close friends in Vancouver and in Edmonton, thank you for all the memorable stories we created together. I could always rely on you to unwind after work.

It is without saying that I could not have gone to the finishing line without a special group of people to me: my family! Even though I moved one province away, it never felt like it. Thank you for everything!

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II V
PREFACE DEDICATION	
LIST OF FIGURES	
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
AN OVERVIEW OF THE OLFACTORY SYSTEM	1
DISCRIMINATION OF ODOURANT MIXTURES	2
OLFACTORY IMPRINTING	3
AGING EFFECTS ON OLFACTION	4
Research Objectives	6
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW THE SIGNAL-TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS OF THE PERIPHERAL	
OLFACTORY ORGAN AND THEIR IMPAIRMENT IN VERTEBRATES	8
Abstract	8
INTRODUCTION	8
OLFACTORY TRANSDUCTION PATHWAY AT THE PERIPHERAL ORGAN	9
Form and function of the peripheral olfactory organ	9
Olfactory signal transduction	
Termination of the olfactory signal and desensitization	14
OLFACTORY TOXICITY AT THE PERIPHERAL OLFACTORY ORGAN	15
Toxicity on olfactory receptors	16
Toxicity on the ACIII and PLC transduction pathway	
Toxicity to signal termination and desensitization	21
When contaminants have the largest impact on olfactory signalling	23
Conclusion	23
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	24
TABLES	25
FIGURES	
	37
CHAPTER 3: ZEBRAFISH (<i>DANIO RERIO</i>) BEHAVIOURAL RESPONSE TO AN ODOURANT	
MIXTURE CONTAINING ATTRACTING AND REPELLING ODOURANTS	39
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	
Methods	41
Fish husbandry	
Chemicals used	41
Avoidance-attraction trough	41
Zebrafish responses towards odourants and odourant mixtures	
Olfactory involvement in zebrafish response towards odourants	43
Data and statistical analysis	43

Results	
Finding an attraction-associated amino acid	44
Finding an avoidance-associated amino acid	45
Zebrafish attraction-avoidance response towards L-alanine/L-cysteine mixtures	45
Olfactory involvement in response towards L-alanine and L-cysteine	
DISCUSSION	
L-alanine as an attraction stimulus	47
L-serine and L-cysteine as avoidance stimuli	47
Zebrafish responding to L-alanine/L-cysteine mixture	
Olfaction is involved in L-alanine attraction and L-cysteine avoidance	
Conclusions	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
FIGURES	
CHAPTER 4: OLFACTORY IMPRINTING IS EASILY DISRUPTED BY A SINGLE ODO MODEL VERTEBRATE, <i>DANIO RERIO</i>	OURANT IN A 62
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
METHODS	64
Fish Husbandry	64
Developmental exposure of single and paired odourants	64
Adult zebrafish behavioural response towards odourants and odourant mixtures	
Data and Statistical Analysis	
Results	67
Zebrafish imprint to B-PEA	67
Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine	
Zebrafish reared in L-leucine and L-lysine together did not imprint to L-leucine, L-lysine	, or a mixture of
L-leucine and L-lysine	
DISCUSSION	69
Zebrafish imprint to B-PEA	
Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine	
Zebrafish reared in L-leucine and L-lysine together did not imprint to L-leucine, L-lysine	or a mixture of
L-leucine and L-lysine	,
FIGURES	73
CHAPTER 5: AGE-ASSOCIATED CHANGES TO THE ZEBRAFISH (<i>DANIO RERIO</i>) O EPITHELIUM ANATOMY, OLFACTORY SENSORY NEURON ACTIVATION, AND O	LFACTORY LFACTORY-
VIEDIA I ED BEHAV IUUKS	
Abstract	79
INTRODUCTION	80
Methods	81
Fish Husbandry	81
Olfactory epithelium anatomy	81
Olfactory signal-transduction pathway gene expression	83
Behaviour assay	85
Neuronal activity	85

Statistical analysis	
Results	
Changes in olfactory epithelium anatomy over age	
Age-related changes in expression of ciliated and microvillus OSN signal-transduction markers	
Age-related changes in behavioural response to water, I-cysteine, and TCA	87
Age-related changes in neuronal activity during water, L-cysteine, and TCA exposures	
DISCUSSION	
TABLES	
FIGURES	92
CHAPTER 6: AGE AFFECTS OLFACTORY TOXICITY FROM COPPER SULFATE EXPOSURE	ES IN
ZEBRAFISH (<i>DANIO RERIO</i>)	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
METHODS	
Fish Husbandry	
I reatment exposures	
Olfactory epithelium morphology and anatomy	
Oljactory signal-transauction painway gene expression	
Benaviour assay	107
Data analysis	108
RESULIS	100 c 100
Anatomical changes to the objectory epithetium in maaile- and out-aged fish after copper exposure Changes in expression of genes specific to the AC and PLC signal-transduction pathways in middl	5 100 a_ and
changes in expression of genes specific to the AC and I LC signal-transauction painways in maan old-aged fish after conner exposures	2 - unu 109
Changes in response to an amino acid and a bile acid in middle- and old-aged fish after copper ext	105
DISCUSSION	
FIGURES	
CHARTER & CUMMARY AND GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	400
CHAPTER /: SUMMARY AND GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	120
RESPONSES TO A BINARY MIXTURE OF ATTRACTING AND REPELLING ODOURANTS SPECULATED ACROS	SS AGE
OLFACTORY IMPRINTING	
OLFACTION ACROSS AGE	
FUTURE DIRECTION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. The different target sites of the main olfactory signal transduction pathways in which toxic chemicals can disrupt.

Table 5.1. Primer sequences and accession numbers for target genes.

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. The ACIII and PLC signal transduction pathway at the zebrafish olfactory epithelium. Created with BioRender.com

Figure 2.2. Contaminant disrupting different sites of the ACIII and the PLC signal-transduction pathway. Created with BioRender.com

Figure 3.1. (A) 5 distinct positions (A–E) of the avoidance-attraction trough where 100- μ l samples of red dye (Club House, Canada) were taken over 35 min (N = 3 for position and time); (B) i–v, mean absorbance ±SEM for each of the 5 locations over 35 min; vi, the mean percent amount of dye ± SEM that was transferred to the trough in respect to the inflow's absorbance when the dye was initially added.

Figure 3.2. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-alanine (0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-alanine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal activity period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1–10). All datapoints are denoted as mean ± SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * **p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 3.3. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-serine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-serine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1-10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). All datapoints are denoted as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way

ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 3.4. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-cysteine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-cysteine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1 min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal activity period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1–10). All datapoints are denoted as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * **p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 3.5. Adult zebrafish preference response towards an attractive-aversive mixture when decreasing L-cysteine or increasing L-alanine concentration ([L-cysteine]/[L-alanine] = 0.1/0.05 mM, 0.01/0.05 mM, 0.001/0.05 mM, 0.1/0.1 mM, 0.1/0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of odorant mixture inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1–10). All datapoints are denoted as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA on ranked data (α = 0.05). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 3.6. Olfactory involvement in attraction towards L-alanine and avoidance towards Lcysteine. Adult zebrafish underwent no, unilateral or complete nasal cavity cauterization and were then exposed to either (A) 0.05 mM L-alanine, or (B) 0.1 mM L-cysteine. Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent with the amino acids during 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the basal activity period for each treatment (t = 0). Basal activity values were pooled across treatment type only for Lcysteine. The horizontal line represents the average basal preference towards the zone of oduorant inflow across all treatments and the two horizontal dashed lines represent the corresponding SEM. Data set for fish that did not undergo surgery were pulled from those that were used to determine if L-alanine and L-cysteine elicited a response. All datapoints are denoted as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analyses were via a two-way ANOVA on ranked data or two-way repeated measures ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Asterisks represent statistical differences between the basal period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 4.1. Zebrafish imprint to β -phenylethyl alcohol (β -PEA). Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM β -PEA (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidanceattraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (nonimprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 9 – 10 fish.

Figure 4.2. Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-leucine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant

XV

after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 4.3. Zebrafish imprint to L-lysine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-lysine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 fish.

Figure 4.4. Zebrafish imprint to L-valine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-valine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 - 11 fish.

Figure 4.5. Zebrafish imprint to a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media only (non-imprinted fish), 0.1 mM L-leucine only (L-leucine imprinted fish) or a mixture of 0.1 mM L-leucine and L-lysine (L-leucine/L-lysine imprinted fish) and then as adults observed for their behavioural responses to A) 0.1 mM L-leucine B), 0.1 mM L-lysine, or to C) a mixture of 0.1 mM L-leucine and L-lysine. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$)

was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted, L-leucine imprinted, and L-leucine/L-lysine imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 15 - 25 fish.

Figure 5.1. A schematic on how age may affect behaviour and activation of ciliated and microvillus OSNs in response to TCA or L-cysteine. This image was made using BioRender.com

Figure 5.2. Changes in olfactory epithelium morphology across young-, middle-, and old-aged fish. Measurements were A) olfactory epithelium thickness at 20x magnification, and B) olfactory epithelium cell density at 40x magnification. H&E was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.

Figure 5.3. Changes in ciliated and microvillus OSN density across young-, middle- and oldaged fish, Measurements were A) $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity for ciliated OSN density, and B) TRPC2 immunoreactivity for microvillus OSN density. IHC was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean ± SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.

Figure 5.4. Changes in ciliated and microvillus OSN density across age. Measurements were A) $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity for ciliated OSN density, and B) TRPC2 immunoreactivity for microvillus OSN density. IHC was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Data points from individual fish are shown in dark blue dot. Statistical analysis was based on a non-linear regression ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Figure 5.5. Relative expression of genes involved in the olfactory AC pathway (adcy3b and gnal2) and PLC pathway (PLC-b3), based on qPCR experiments. Genes were normalized to TUB-A1. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Figure 5.6. Young-, middle-, and old- zebrafish responses to water, 0.1 mM L-cysteine and 0.01 mM taurocholic acid (TCA). Behavioural parameters were changes in A) swim speed (cm/s), and

B) number of sharp turned (>90°) elicited (n = 10 - 23 for all treatments per age group). Fish were exposed to one of the three stimuli for 5 minutes after a 5-minute period where no odourants were introduced. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analyses were based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Figure 5.7. Activation of OSNs in young-, middle- and old-aged fish exposed to water, 0.1 mM L-cysteine or 0.01 mM taurocholic acid (TCA) (n = 5 – 8 for all treatments per age group). Fish were exposed to one of the three stimuli for 5 minutes after a 5-minute period where no odourants were introduced. Measurements for neuronal activation was based on IHC staining for pERK activity with images captured at 40x magnification. Sample images were taken from middle-aged fish exposed to water, L-cysteine or TCA. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analyses were based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.

Figure 6.1. Olfactory epithelium thickness in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. H&E was used to stain the olfactory epithelium with images captured at 20x magnification. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.

Figure 6.2. Ciliated OSN density in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Density was indirectly measured through optical density values of $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity from IHC staining of the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Figure 6.3. Microvillus OSN density in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Density was indirectly measured through optical density values of TRPC2

immunoreactivity from IHC staining of the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Figure 6.4. Relative expression of A) gnal2 and B) adcy3b, which are involved in the AC pathway, and C) plcb3, which is involved in the PLC pathway, based on qPCR experiments. Genes were normalized to TUB-A1. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks representing statistical significance

Figure 6.5. Behaviour of middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Fish preference responses to A) 0.1 mM L-cysteine and B) 0.001 mM taurocholic acid, were observed in an avoidance-attraction trough. Preference responses were determined by measuring the difference in how much time fish spent in the odour zone between the 10 min period after odourant introduction and the 10 min period prior to odourant introduction. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual fish are shown in blue (water-exposed) and red dots (copper-exposed). Statistical analysis was based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks representing statistical significance.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Olfaction, also referred to as the sense of smell, facilitates interactions between animals and the chemical environment. This chemical environment is comprised of odourant molecules that are released by a plethora of sources including animals, vegetation, microbial activity, and the physical environment. Odourants are detected by an olfactory system, which transduces the chemical stimuli into an electrical signal that leads to the animal sensing the odourant and having a change in behaviour (Manzini et al. 2022). Fundamental olfactory-mediated behaviours include foraging, avoiding harm, and finding kin or mates (Petranka et al., 1987; Nevitt, 1999; Barata et al., 2007; Roberts et al., 2018). The importance of olfaction can be realized by the fact that olfactory-mediated behaviours are seen early in development and persist through to adulthood (Filogamo & Robecchi, 1969; Norgren & Lehman, 1991; Hansen & Zeiske, 1993; Vitebsky et al., 2005). After a certain point in an animal's lifespan, age-dependent degradation of olfactory functionality occurs. Altogether, olfactory functionality changes throughout an animal's lifespan.

An overview of the olfactory system

In vertebrates, the olfactory system begins at the peripheral olfactory organ, which contains an olfactory epithelium. This olfactory epithelium is located within the nasal cavity and consists of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), supporting cells and basal stem cells (Morrison & Costanzo, 1990, 1992). Odourants are detected by G-protein coupled receptors that are located on OSNs, of which multiple classes exist (Buck & Axel, 1991; Dulac & Axel, 1995). Different OSN classes detect different odourants. For example, two OSN classes consistently found across vertebrates are ciliated and microvillus OSNs, which in fish, detect bile acids and amino acids, respectively (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). In terrestrial vertebrates, ciliated and microvillus OSNs detect volatile compounds and water-soluble compounds, respectively (Monti-Bloch & Grosser, 1991; Trinh & Storm, 2003; Kimchi et al., 2007). With the transition from an aquatic to terrestrial lifestyle came a spatial segregation between OSN classes as amphibians, reptiles and mammals have an accessory olfactory chamber known as the vomeronasal organ (VNO) that also contains OSNs. While ciliated and microvillus OSNs, among other classes, are located within a single olfactory epithelium in fish, these two OSNs classes in terrestrial vertebrates are

restricted to the olfactory epithelium and VNO, respectively (Graziadei & Tucker, 1970; Vaccarezza et al., 1981; Moran et al., 1982; Oikawa et al., 1998).

During odourant detection, transduction pathways generate signals at the cilia or microvilli of OSN dendritic ends (Pace et al., 1985; Sklar et al., 1986; Berghard & Buck, 1996). Ciliated OSNs use an adenylyl cyclase pathway while microvillus OSNs use a phospholipase-C pathway. The signals propagate along the neurons towards the axonal terminals and are relayed to the olfactory bulb, which is the first processing center of the olfactory system (Ahn et al., 2011; Bolz et al., 2017). As different OSN classes project their axons to distinct regions of the olfactory bulb, olfactory processing is based on a spatial pattern of activation that is referred to as chemotopy (Johnson et al., 1999; Friedrich & Korsching, 1998; Nikonov & Caprio, 2001). For example, amino acids and bile acids activate the ventrolateral and dorsomedial region of the zebrafish olfactory bulb, respectively (Friedrich & Korsching, 1998). Signals from the olfactory bulb are relayed to the forebrain for higher-order processing that mediates physiology and behaviour (Pace et al., 1985; Levy et al., 1991; Xu et al., 2005).

Discrimination of odourant mixtures

Animals may be continuously surrounded by a 'bouquet' of odourants and therefore, at any given moment may detect multiple odourants simultaneously. Interactions between odourants during their simultaneous detection by OSNs may lead to synergistic or suppressive effects on the generation of signals within the neurons (Kang and Caprio 1997; Ishii et al. 2008; Miyazawa et al. 2008; Chaput et al. 2012; McClintock et al. 2020). Odourants at lower concentrations tend to have synergistic interactions, such as in the case of septic odour being potentiated by the addition of low concentrations of 2- methylisoborneol, which on its own gives a musty smell (Guo et al., 2019). As for suppressive interactions between odourants, the inclusion of an aversive odourant may dampen the signal generated from an attracting one as aversive odours evoke stronger responses than attracting odours (Ehrlichman et al., 1995; Boesveldt et al., 2010). Furthermore, odourants may mask responses normally seen towards other odourants present, such as in the case of mice not responding to the aversive odourant dimethyl sulfide in the presence of citrous odourants (Cain, 1975; Osada et al., 2013). When animals detect odourants in mixture, the mixture is perceived as its individual components or as a new odour that is independent from its constituents. These two means of odour processing are termed as *elemental* and *configurative*, respectively (Laska & Freyer, 1997; Kay et al., 2005; Coureaud et al., 2009). The former is seen when fewer odourants are present, in which case the more stimulatory component drives the response. For example, catfish responded to a ternary amino acid mixture, in a similar manner as they did with L-cysteine, the most stimulatory constituent of the mixture (Valentinčič et al., 2000). Configural processing is seen in mixtures that have a higher number of constituents as animals have a limited capacity on the number of odourants they can discriminate between, with higher detection limits being three to four odourants simultaneously (Livermore & Laing, 1996; Valentinčič et al., 2000). As animals in nature are exposed to a 'bouquet' of odourants, configurative over elemental processing is more likely to occur.

Olfactory imprinting

How animals respond to olfactory stimuli is often shaped by their environment during early development. During a brief window in early development, animals imprint to odours that they encounter forming long-lasting memories that shape future olfactory-mediated behaviours (Marr & Gardner, 1965; Fillion & Blass, 1986). In an ecological context, olfactory imprinting facilitates homing behaviour. For example, salmon imprint to a bouquet of amino acids in their natal stream and sense these odours from afar after seaward migration to guide their return to their natal stream for spawning (Shoji et al. 2000; Yamamoto, et al. 2010; Yamamoto et al. 2013). Larval coral-reef fish imprint to odours that guide them back to their home coral reef after being dispersed by ocean currents (Atema et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2005; Gerlach et al., 2007). Besides facilitating homing behaviour, olfactory imprinting prevents inbreeding across vertebrates, including in fish, birds and mammals (Roberts & Gosling, 2003; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006; Gerlach et al., 2008; Bonadonna & Sanz-Aguilar, 2012). Imprinting also has biological importance in the sense of being an underlying mechanism for kin recognition, which improves survivorship of young (Carter & Marr, 1970; Griffiths et al., 2004; Caspers et al., 2013; Atherton & McCormick, 2017). Furthermore, infants imprint to odours of mother's milk, thereby forming maternal associations (Russell, 1976).

Odourant detection during a sensitive period has been proposed as necessary for successful imprinting. Studies demonstrated that zebrafish imprint to the synthetic chemical, β phenylethyl alcohol, at 2 to 3 days post fertilization (dpf) and to kin odour at 6 dpf (Harden et al., 2006; Gerlach et al., 2008). While the notion of a sensitive period being necessary for successful imprinting is unlikely, it is possible that during this sensitive period, the potential for long-term potentiation under hormonal control is at its highest. For example, salmon in their parr-smolt transformation have elevated thyroid hormones levels, which increase neuronal progenitor proliferation at the olfactory epithelium (Lema & Nevitt, 2004). This increase in OSNs may explain why electrophysiological signals at the salmon olfactory epithelium in response to amino acids increase dramatically during a two week period in their parr-smolt transformation (Yamamoto et al. 2010). Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) at the olfactory bulb were upregulated by thyrotropin releasing hormone immediately before downstream migration (Ueda et al., 2016). These receptors were again upregulated during homing, but by gonadotropin releasing hormone, demonstrating hormonal control for memory retrieval as well. In addition to hormonal control, olfactory imprinting may upregulate the transcription factor *otx2*, which downregulates multiple unrelated olfactory receptors, thereby increasing the signal-to-noise ratio (Harden et al., 2006; Calfún et al., 2016). Overall, the insight of mechanisms underlying imprinting from laboratory-based studies have been thorough. One limitation often seen in these studies is that they expose animals to a single odourant, even though odourants in a natural setting rarely, if ever, occur in isolation (Harden et al., 2006; Yamamoto et al., 2010; Inoue et al., 2021; Armstrong et al., 2022).

Aging effects on olfaction

Olfaction develops early in animals and continues to develop through to adulthood. However, after a certain point in an animal's lifespan, age-dependent degradation in olfactory functionality occurs, in which a weakened sense of smell is also referred to as hyposmia (Patel & Larson, 2009; Rawson et al., 2012; Suzuki et al., 2021). For example, aging in mice reduced signalling sensitivity and weakened behavioural responses towards vanillin (Nakayasu et al., 2000). In humans, aging delayed responses to olfactory-mediated tasks (Morgan & Murphy, 2010). Anatomically, aging-associated hyposmia is associated with a thinning of the olfactory epithelium and reduced OSN density, which may derive from reduced proliferation of progenitor

cells (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). As signals are generated within OSNs, reduced OSN density often correlates with decreased signalling during odourant detection, but a few studies have also demonstrated that signalling sensitivity can be maintained (Thesen & Murphy, 2001; Lee et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2017; Kass et al., 2018; Sabiniewicz et al., 2023). A reason for these opposing results may be the lack of consideration for differential sensitivity towards odourants between different OSN classes (Cao et al., 1998; Lipschitz & Michel, 2002; Trinh & Storm, 2004; Benzekri & Reiss, 2012; Omura & Mombaerts, 2014). While no published studies have yet examined how age may affect different OSN classes differentially, predictions can be made from olfactory toxicology studies that examined OSN class-specific toxicity. For example, studies using zebrafish demonstrated that copper differentially affected ciliated and microvillus OSN density, and following contaminant exposure, both classes had different regenerative capacity due to differences in precursor proliferation rates (Lazzari et al., 2017; Heffern et al., 2018; Ma et al., 2018). This difference in ciliated and microvillus OSN regeneration may suggest that the two classes may be affected differently from physiological aging processes.

As animals age, it is expected that the olfactory system will receive constant chemical pressure from the environment such as by accumulating damage from contaminants, especially since the olfactory epithelium is in direct contact with the environment. For example, copper readily enters the hydrosphere through urban runoffs and induces apoptosis at the olfactory epithelium, which correspondingly decreases in thickness (Julliard et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2013; Lazzari et al., 2017). In regard to OSN density, copper differentially affects ciliated and microvillus OSNs classes (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). Copper was shown to differentially affect fish responses to bile acids and amino acids, which are detected by ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively (Kolmakov et al., 2009; Razmara et al., 2019). However, one study demonstrated that copper affected the generation of an olfactory signal in salmon exposed to amino acids and bile acids (Baldwin et al., 2003). In addition to affecting anatomy, contaminants disrupt olfactory signals by targeting transduction pathways, in which differential toxicity towards different transduction pathways at the olfactory epithelium is also present (Shahriari et al., 2023). With acute contaminant exposures, damage to the olfactory epithelium is reversible from proliferation of progenitor cells that lead to the renewal of OSNs (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Lazzari et al., 2019). In the aging population, olfactory toxicity may be

more difficult to recover from as a reduced proliferation of progenitor cells from aging may lead to a neuronal turnover rate that is insufficient for adequate OSN renewal with contaminantinduced apoptosis (Julliard et al., 1996; Ueha et al., 2018). Furthermore, aging animals have lowered resistance towards contaminants such as by having reduced numbers of biotransformation enzymes, which detoxify contaminants (Getchell et al., 1993; Krishna et al., 1995; Kennedy & Tierney, 2013).

Research Objectives

The main objective of my thesis is to examine how olfaction changes at different ages in vertebrates in a laboratory setting that also considers the complications of a more natural olfactory environment, in which multiple odourants are present. This objective is spread across two research questions: 1) how does the number of odourants present in the environment during early development affect olfactory-mediated responses in adulthood, and 2) how does age affect olfaction? For my research questions, I used the popular vertebrate model, the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), but my findings may have implications across vertebrates due to the conserved anatomy of the olfactory system.

For my first research question, I built and validated an avoidance-attraction trough to observe adult zebrafish response to an attracting and a repelling odourant separately and in mixture. After I confirmed that this behavioural assay captured fish response to single odourants and a binary odourant mixture, I determined if zebrafish could imprint to single amino acids and to a binary amino acid mixture. I **expected that our assay would less likely show that fish could imprint to multiple amino acids simultaneously over single amino acids**.

For my second research question, I first determined how olfaction changes in zebrafish as they age. Specifically, I examined if age affects ciliated and microvillus OSNs differently with impacts on hyposmia in response to their associated odourants. I hypothesized that age would have OSN class-specific effects because of differences in neuronal precursor proliferation rates as observed in olfactory toxicology studies. I then determined how age affects olfactory toxicity from copper exposures. I focused on examining differential toxicity to ciliated and microvillus OSNs in the context of their specific responses to associated odourants. I hypothesized that the effects copper may have on zebrafish olfactory anatomy and

functionality are age dependent, because the aging population has reduced resistance to contaminant toxicity from decreased neuronal regenerative capacity and biotransformation activity.

Chapter 2: REVIEW The signal-transduction pathways of the peripheral olfactory organ and their impairment in vertebrates

Abstract

Animals rely on olfaction to detect and process invaluable chemical information about their environment. For olfaction to function, chemicals must first be detected, which leads to the activation of signal-transduction pathways at the peripheral olfactory organ. As the olfactory system is in direct contact with the environment, the system is constantly vulnerable to damage by contaminants entering the atmosphere or hydrosphere. Contaminants may have a variety of effects, including disrupting olfactory signals generated during chemical detection, or altering numerous targets along the signal transduction pathway. With any impairment of chemical detection, animals may be unable to rely on olfaction to make correct decisions about their environment and thus their fitness. While other reviews have focussed on olfactory toxicology in general, here we specifically explore how contaminants may affect the signal-transduction pathways at various points and link those changes to olfactory functionality across vertebrates with a focus on fishes.

Introduction

Animals are surrounded by chemicals that provide invaluable information about the environment. The detection and perception of these chemical cues are facilitated by sensory neurons, including those of the olfactory system. The olfactory sense is critical for life, considering that it allows animals to forage, avoid predators, and help fine tune kin recognition and mate selection (Porter and Moore 1981; Gerlach and Lysiak 2006; Ferrari et al. 2010; Krause et al. 2012; Konishi et al. 2022). For olfaction to function, animals must perceive chemical olfactory cues, also known as odourants, and an olfactory signal must be generated, which begins at the peripheral olfactory organ. From the initial step of odourant detection, signal-transduction pathways at the peripheral olfactory organ translate chemical input into electrical information, which is relayed to the forebrain for processing (Manzini et al. 2022). At the forebrain, olfactory signals integrate with input provided by other sensory systems to elicit changes in physiology and behaviour.

Contaminants are omniprevalent, whether it be from chemical emissions to the atmosphere or chemical spills into the hydrosphere. As the olfactory system interfaces directly with the environment, it is susceptible to damage by toxic contaminants. The peripheral olfactory organ is the first site where contaminants would reach and potentially cause olfactory toxicity. If contaminants were to disturb the signal-transduction pathways at the peripheral olfactory organ, odourant-induced signals may not be generated. As a result, animals would be unable to benefit from the wealth of information provided by chemical odourants, and as such would be at risk of ecological death, i.e., death by natural processes such as predation. In this review, we focus our discussion on how contaminants may disrupt the main signal-transduction pathways at the peripheral olfactory organ and link changes in olfactory signalling to changes in olfactory functionality across vertebrates, with an emphasis on fishes, upon which much of the work on olfactory toxicology is focussed.

Olfactory transduction pathway at the peripheral organ

Form and function of the peripheral olfactory organ

Olfaction begins with the detection of odourants at the peripheral olfactory organ. The olfactory epithelium of this tissue is located within the nasal cavity and consists of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), supporting cells, and basal stem cells (Morrison and Costanzo 1990; Mackay-Sim and Kittel 1991; Hansen and Eckart 1998; Mandal et al. 2005). Odourants are received by OSNs, which is where olfactory signals to the central nervous system are generated. Anterior to the olfactory epithelium, there is an accessory olfactory chamber in amphibians, reptiles, and mammals known as the vomeronasal organ (VNO), which also contains OSNs. The dendritic end of OSNs within the olfactory epithelium are ciliated while those in the VNO are microvillar (Graziadei and Tucker 1970; Vaccarezza et al. 1981; Moran et al. 1982; Oikawa et al. 1998). While these two morphologically distinct ciliated and microvillus OSNs are spatially segregated in terrestrial vertebrates, all OSN classes in fishes are located within a single olfactory epithelium as no VNO exists in these vertebrates. OSN classes in fishes include ciliated OSNs, microvillus OSNs, crypt cells, kappe neurons and pear-shaped neurons (Muller and Marc 1984; Zielinski and Hara 1988; Byrd and Brunjes 1995; Hansen and Finger 2000; Ahuja et al. 2014; Wakisaka et al. 2017).

Different OSN classes found in vertebrates detect different odourants. In terrestrial vertebrates, ciliated OSNs of the olfactory epithelium detect volatile compounds and microvillus OSNs of the VNO detect water-soluble compounds including pheromones (Monti-Bloch and Grosser 1991; Dulac and Torello 2003; Trinh and Storm 2004; Kimchi et al. 2007). In fishes, ciliated OSNs respond most strongly to bile acids, microvillus OSNs respond most strongly to amino acids, crypt cells detect pheromones or amino acids depending on the species, and pear-shaped neurons detect nucleotides (Lipschitz and Michel 2002; Sato et al. 2005; Vielma et al. 2008; Bazáes and Schmachtenberg 2012; Wakisaka et al. 2017; Kawamura and Nikaido 2021). Odourants associated with kappe neurons have not yet been identified.

The arrangement and functionality of OSN classes within the olfactory epithelium and VNO of amphibians exemplify an intermediate reorganization of the peripheral olfactory structure that accommodates the transition from an aquatic to a terrestrial lifestyle. Early studies demonstrated that in larval anurans, ciliated and microvillus OSNs detect water-soluble compounds despite their segregation into the olfactory epithelium and VNO, respectively (Hansen et al., 1998; Oikawa et al., 1998). As anurans transition from inhabiting aquatic environments to terrestrial environments, ciliated OSNs in the olfactory epithelium detect volatile compounds, and an additional middle cavity epithelium appears, which contains ciliated and microvillus OSNs that detect water-soluble compounds. More recent studies demonstrated partial segregation of ciliated and microvillus OSNs in larval anurans, with the two classes residing in separate regions within the olfactory epithelium (Gliem et al. 2013; Sansone et al. 2014).

Olfactory signal transduction

The signal generated from odourant detection begins with the binding of odourants to Gprotein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) that are located on the cilia or microvilli of OSN dendritic ends. Multiple olfactory receptor types have been identified, mainly olfactory receptors (ORs), trace amine-associated receptors (TAARs), and vomeronasal receptor type 1 and type 2 (V1Rs and V2Rs, respectively) (Buck & Axel, 1991; Dulac & Axel, 1995; Hashiguchi & Nishida, 2006, 2007; Ryba & Tirindelli, 1997; Syed et al., 2013). ORs and TAARs are expressed in ciliated OSNs, while V1Rs and V2Rs are expressed in microvillus OSNs. In fishes, crypt cells express V1Rs (Oka et al. 2012). Additional receptor types have been identified, including the mammalian formyl peptide receptor-like receptor that detects immune-related ligands, and non-GPCR Membrane-Spanning 4A and Guanylyl Cyclase-D olfactory receptors (Leinders-Zufall et al. 2007; Rivière et al. 2009; Munger et al. 2010; Greer et al. 2016). OSNs predominantly follow a *one-neuron-one-receptor* rule, which refers to a neuron expressing a single olfactory receptor gene only (Ishii et al., 2001; Ngai et al., 1993; Saraiva et al., 2015; Serizawa et al., 2003). Exceptions to this *one-neuron-one-receptor* rule occur, but the expression of multiple olfactory receptor genes is a characteristic of immature OSNs, which once developed select for a single olfactory receptor (Hanchate et al. 2015; Tan et al. 2015). As olfactory receptors are often broadly tuned to odourants, a single olfactory receptor interacts with multiple odourants and a single odourant interacts with different olfactory receptors of the same type (Malnic et al. 1999).

The G-protein coupled to olfactory receptors consists of three subunits: G_{α} , G_{β} and G_{γ} . The three subunits form a complex at an inactive state, with G_{α} also bound to a guanosine diphosphate (GDP) molecule (Pace et al., 1985). When odourants interact with olfactory receptors, the receptor and the G-protein undergo a conformational change, which leads to the exchange of GDP for higher energy guanosine triphosphate (GTP) at the alpha subunit (Jones and Reed 1989; Vetter and Wittinghofer 2001). GTP-bound G_{α} dissociates from the $G_{\beta\gamma}$ complex and initiates the conversion of extracellular chemical signals into intracellular signals that are mediated by the signal-transduction pathway of the OSNs.

The G_{α} subunit after separating from the G-coupled protein complex activates one of two main signal-transduction pathways: adenylyl cyclase (AC) or phospholipase-C (PLC) (Figure 2.1). Signal transduction pathways may be characterized by the specific alpha subunit that is coupled to the olfactory receptor. ORs and TAARs on ciliated OSNs across vertebrates are coupled to $G_{\alpha olf}$, which activates adenylyl cyclase III (ACIII) (Pace et al. 1985; Sklar et al. 1986; Jones and Reed 1989; Bakalyar and Reed 1990; Menco et al. 1992). Activated ACIII converts ATP into cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), which binds to cyclic nucleotide gated (CNG) channels and thus initiates neuronal depolarization (Nakamura and Gold 1987; Firestein et al. 1991; Liman and Buck 1994). In a subset of OSNs, guanylyl cyclase replaces ACIII to convert GTP in cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), which also activates CNG channels (Juilfs et al., 1997; Meyer et al., 2000; Nache et al., 2012). These non-selective cation channels consist of four subunits: two CNG- α 2 subunits, one CNG- α 4 subunit, and one CNG- β 1b subunit (Bönigk et al. 1999; Zheng and Zagotta 2004). Even though all subunits bind to cAMP, there are conflicting reports on whether CNG- α 2 or CNG- β 1b are most sensitive to the cyclic nucleotide (Liman & Buck, 1994; Nache et al., 2012, 2016). However, CNG- α 2 was deemed necessary for CNG channels to open (Dhallan et al., 1990; Waldeck et al., 2009). The binding of cAMP to the CNG channel leads to the channel opening, which causes an influx of Ca²⁺ and to a lesser extent, Na⁺, into the neuron (Leinders-Zufall et al. 1997). The Ca²⁺ influx activates calcium-activated Anoctamin-2 (ANO2) channels, which cause a chloride efflux that can greatly depolarize OSNs to a membrane potential threshold that triggers the generation and propagation of action potentials along the OSN axon (Kleene and Gesteland 1991; Kurahashi and Yau 1993; Lowe and Gold 1993; Boccaccio and Menini 2007; Li et al. 2018). As a single ANO2 channel is often activated from the Ca²⁺ current generated through the opening of multiple CNG channels, a high signal-to-noise ratio is generated (Kleene 1997; Reisert et al. 2003). This high signal-to-noise ratio may allow animals to detect weak olfactory stimuli. In conjunction with ANO2 channels, ANO9 cation channels were recently discovered in mice to amplify an odourant-induced depolarizing current (Kim et al. 2022).

The PLC signal-transduction pathway is mainly associated with microvillus OSNs and is coupled to $G_{\alpha q/11}$, $G_{\alpha i2}$, or $G_{\alpha o}$ (Halpern et al. 1995; Berghard and Buck 1996; Matsunami and Buck 1997; Andreini et al. 1997; Wekesa et al. 2003; Chamero et al. 2011). In fishes, crypt cells may similarly be associated with $G_{\alpha q}$, $G_{\alpha i}$ or $G_{\alpha o}$ (Hansen et al. 2003; Belanger et al. 2003; Oka et al. 2012; Bazáes and Schmachtenberg 2012). With this second main transduction pathway, the dissociation of $G_{\beta \gamma}$ from GTP-bound G_{α} leads to the activation of PLC- β , which in turn breaks down phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP₂) into inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (Wekesa and Anholt 1997; Taniguchi et al. 2000; Rünnenburger et al. 2002; Wekesa et al. 2003; Sansone et al. 2014). DAG activates transient receptor potential (TRP)-C2 channels, which cause a depolarizing Ca²⁺ current when opened (Zhang et al. 2010). DAG can be hydrolyzed by DAG lipase into arachidonic acid (AA), which activates a cation channel that also causes a Ca²⁺ influx. IP₃ interacts with IP₃-receptors to release Ca²⁺ from internal stores. IP₃-receptors also co-localize with TRPC2 channels, but they may not be necessary for activating the cation channel (Brann et al. 2002; Chamero et al. 2017). The Ca²⁺ influx from internal stores, TRPC2 and other cation channels, will, as noted above, activate ANO2 channels, which cause a Cl⁻ efflux that may enhance the likelihood of an action potential occurring (Dibattista et al., 2012).

While the ACIII and PLC transduction pathways are often considered segregated into ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively, exceptions to this organization were identified in mice. For example, a subpopulation of ciliated OSNs that detected pheromones and were associated with components from both ACIII and PLC signalling pathways, and expressed TRPM5 instead of TRPC2 channels, was found (Lin et al. 2007; López et al. 2014). Similarly, TRPC2 was co-expressed with genes that encoded for $G_{\alpha olf}$ or $G_{\alpha o}$, ACIII, and CNG- $\alpha 2$ in OSNs located within the olfactory epithelium (Omura & Mombaerts, 2015). This means that the ACIII and PLC signal-transduction pathway may co-exist in a subpopulation of OSNs. Microvillus sensory neurons that express TRPC6, IP₃, and PLC, but not CNG or ACIII were also identified within the olfactory epithelium (Elsaesser et al., 2005). Overall, certain odours may generate olfactory signals within ciliated and microvillus OSNs that are not restricted to the ACIII or PLC signal-transduction pathway.

When the depolarization is sufficient, action potentials are conducted from the dendritic end of OSNs along the neuron toward the axonal terminal and therefore, olfactory information is transmitted to the forebrain for processing. Studies using rodents have demonstrated that action potentials are transmitted along the axons by voltage-gated Na_v1.7 channels, which are expressed in OSNs from the olfactory epithelium and VNO (Ahn et al., 2011; Bolz et al., 2017; Weiss et al., 2011). Voltage-gated Na_v1.3 channels are also present in OSN axons, but their involvement in the signal-transduction pathway has not yet been determined.

There are at least two ways that olfactory signal transduction can be modulated. Specifically, olfactory marker proteins (OMP) tune OSNs to have higher sensitivity and selectivity, as well as faster response kinetics towards odourants (Buiakova et al. 1996; Reisert et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2011). The mechanisms underlying this relationship remain to be discovered, but recent studies suggest that OMP prevents basal and odour-induced cAMP from activating CNG channels by acting as a buffer to the secondary messenger (Dibattista & Reisert, 2016; Nakashima et al., 2020). OMP is expressed in the olfactory epithelium and VNO in mammals but restricted to ciliated OSNs in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), and therefore likely limited to ciliated OSNs in other fishes as well (Monti et al. 1979; Farbman and Margolis 1980; Rössler et al. 1998;

Weiler et al. 1999; Sato et al. 2005; Suzuki et al. 2015). Also present are non-neuronal microvillus cells that release acetylcholine, which interacts with muscarinic acetylcholine receptors type 4 (m₄AChR) on neighbouring OSNs to suppress the transient Ca²⁺current that is induced by odours (Ogura et al., 2011).

Termination of the olfactory signal and desensitization

Terminating an olfactory signal is equally important as generating an olfactory signal to animals, because it allows subsequent odours to elicit their own responses. Termination of an olfactory signal is also necessary for desensitization to prolonged or repeated odour stimuli that otherwise would have OSNs in a constant depolarized state (Leinders-Zufall et al. 1999; Cygnar and Zhao 2009; Stephan et al. 2012). This desensitization towards sustained olfactory stimuli allows animals to detect relevant odours that stand out from continuous background noise. Termination of an olfactory signal stems in part from the Ca²⁺ influx through CNG and TRPC2 channels during odour stimulation. Calcium ions cooperatively bind to calmodulin (CaM), which is a regulatory protein that deactivates CNG and TRPC2 channels, leading to neuronal repolarization (Olwin and Storm 1985; Liu et al. 1994; Peterson et al. 1999; Yildirim et al. 2003; Spehr et al. 2009). With CNG channels, CaM-binding domains were reported on the CNG- α 4 and CNG-B1b subunits (Munger et al. 2001; Bradley et al. 2004). In addition to deactivating CNG channels within the ACIII transduction pathway, Ca²⁺-CaM activates CaM kinase II (CaMKII), which phosphorylates ACIII, thereby also becoming deactivated (Wayman et al. 1995; Wei et al. 1996; Wei et al. 1998). Furthermore, Ca²⁺- CaM increases phosphodiesterase-1C (PDE1C) activity, which breaks down cAMP into AMP (Borisy et al. 1992; Yan et al. 1995; Yan et al. 1996; Cygnar and Zhao 2009).

In tandem with CaM-dependent olfactory desensitization, olfactory receptors undergo clathrin-dependent internalization (Mashukova et al., 2006; Rankin et al., 2002). The clathrin-dependent pathway is initiated when GPCR kinase 3 (GRK3) or cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) selectively phosphorylate olfactory receptors (Dawson et al., 1993; Kato et al., 2014; Laporte et al., 2002; Mashukova et al., 2006; Rankin et al., 2002). The phosphorylation of olfactory receptors recruits β -arrestin-2 to dock to the receptor, which is then stored in recycling endosomes (Mashukova et al., 2006). The recruitment of β -arrestin-2 to olfactory receptors can

be inhibited by muscarinic 3-acetylcholine receptors, which interact with olfactory receptors to potentiate odourant-induced signals (Li and Matsunami 2011; Ohkuma et al. 2013; Jiang et al. 2015)

Excess Ca²⁺ arising from its influx through CNG or TRPC2 channels will eventually be expelled as OSNs maintain ionic homeostasis. Calcium ions leave the neurons through K⁺dependent and K⁺-independent Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchangers (NCKX and NCX, respectively) (Jung et al. 1994; Noé et al. 1997; Pyrski et al. 2007; Stephan et al. 2012). Studies indicate that NCX1 was most abundant in mice olfactory epithelium and that NCKX4 was involved in the termination of olfactory signals and desensitization towards repeated odour stimulation (Pyrski et al. 2007; Stephan et al. 2012). OMP increases NCX1 activity, which would increase the rate of signal termination and therefore shorten the time span in which subsequent odourants evoke their own signal (Kwon et al., 2009). While plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) also removes Ca²⁺ out of OSNs, its involvement in signalling termination has been questioned (Castillo et al. 2007; Kleene 2009; Saidu et al. 2009; Castillo et al. 2010; Griff et al. 2012). The removal of excess Ca²⁺ from OSNs deactivates ANO2 channels, which in turn prevents intracellular Cl⁻ from being depleted (Vocke et al., 2013). Chloride depletion through ANO2 channels is also avoided by its reuptake through Na⁺-K⁺-Cl⁻ contransporter-1 (NKCC1) and Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchanger (Kaneko et al. 2004; Nickell et al. 2007). Chloride ions taken back up and Ca^{2+} ions expelled out of OSNs lead to neuronal repolarization and termination of the olfactory signal-transduction pathways, which would then be ready for re-activation from subsequent olfactory stimuli.

Olfactory toxicity at the peripheral olfactory organ

By necessity, the peripheral olfactory organ is relatively unprotected from the environment and therefore is vulnerable to damage by contaminants. The cellular cascades generated by odorant detection can be impaired at any point along the ACIII or PLC signal-transduction pathways, whether toxins or toxicants disrupt the initial interaction of odourants with olfactory receptors or prevent the final triggering and propagation of action potentials (Table 2.1, Figure 2.2). By hampering the generation of olfactory signals at the peripheral organ, animals may not detect and therefore process chemical information from their environment. The costs of such interference are obvious and relate to fitness costs of the trivial to the absolute.

Toxicity on olfactory receptors

Toxic contaminants disrupt the activation of the olfactory signal-transduction pathways by either modulating olfactory receptor expression or by preventing odourants from binding to olfactory receptors. Recent studies demonstrated that mice exposed to urban particulate matter (UPM) or dexamethasone had reduced OR and $G_{\alpha olf}$ expression, which may have dampened olfactory signalling input received by the animals as they performed poorly in foraging tasks (Kim et al. 2019; 2022). Fetal mice exposed to ethanol through maternal alcohol consumption had downregulated OR genes (Mandal et al. 2015). This observation may provide a possible explanation for why children exposed to ethanol during prenatal development have difficulty identifying household odours (Bower et al., 2013).

Most reports on changes to the olfactory receptor and G-protein subunit gene expression from contaminant exposures have been based on work with fishes. Effects from copper and the pesticide chlorpyrifos (CPF) have received considerable attention. Zebrafish and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) exposed to copper had decreased expression of multiple OR and Gprotein subunit genes (Tilton et al. 2008; Razmara et al. 2021). Prolonging the duration over which rainbow trout were exposed to copper further decreased olfactory receptor expression, indicating time and dose are important factors in olfactory toxicity, as in other biological systems. Recent work has shown that copper nanoparticles also downregulate OR genes in rainbow trout, but at higher concentrations compared to that of copper ions (Razmara et al. 2021). Downregulation of olfactory receptor expression is not always the outcome with toxic chemical exposures. For example, with CPF exposures, numerous OR genes were upregulated in zebrafish (Tilton et al. 2011). However, when zebrafish were exposed to CPF and copper, simultaneously, most OR genes were downregulated, suggesting toxicity can be additive with contaminant mixture exposures (Tilton et al. 2011). Toxicants that induce minimal change to olfactory receptor gene expression may have amplified toxic effects in unfavourable environmental conditions. Consider that medaka (Oryzias latipes) exposed to perfluorobutane sulfonate, a surfactant of recent ecological concern, had reduced OR expression, but only when exposed in a hypoxic environment (Tang et al., 2020). Changes to VR expression in fishes from toxin or toxicant exposures are also frequently reported (Andreini et al. 1997; Williams and Gallagher 2013; Shi et al. 2021; Huang et al. 2023). Contaminants that reduce both OR and VR

expression may disrupt sensitivity towards a wider range of odourants. For example, goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) exposed to microplastics had reduced OR and V2R expression, as well as disrupted behavioural responses towards a bile acid odourant and an amino acid odourant (Shi et al., 2021).

Contaminants may prevent odourants from binding to olfactory receptors. Olfactory receptors contain a metal binding site that has a high affinity for copper and zinc ions (Wang et al. 2003). This metal binding site may provide a mechanism underlying copper and zinc-induced olfactory toxicity, one that exists alongside the initial hypothesis that copper and zinc induces structural changes to the receptor-odourant complex (Burd 1993; Kolmakov et al. 2009; Green et al. 2010; Baldwin et al. 2011; Frontera et al. 2016). Olfactory signalling may also be disrupted by antagonistic interactions between odourants as they compete to bind to olfactory receptors (Araneda et al. 2000; Oka et al. 2004; Sanz et al. 2005; Peterlin et al. 2008; Pfister et al. 2020). As contaminants can elicit their own olfactory signal, it is expected that they compete with other odourants to bind to olfactory receptors (Tierney et al. 2007; Lari and Pyle 2017; Lari et al. 2018; Razmara et al. 2020; Volz et al. 2020; Könemann et al. 2021). Olfactory signals may be dampened when odourants compete with contaminants that elicit a weaker signal (Araneda et al. 2000). Odourants with larger surface areas had increased antagonistic potency, which suggests that contaminants that contain cyclic functional groups may bind to olfactory receptors and be potent inhibitors (Peterlin et al., 2008). However, as olfactory receptors are often generalists, there may be multiple receptors that a given odourant can bind to and so contaminants that compete for olfactory receptors may have little effect (Malnic et al. 1999).

Toxicity on the ACIII and PLC transduction pathway

Activation of the ACIII or PLC signal-transduction pathway leads to the production of secondary messengers, which initiate OSN depolarization. With the ACIII signal-transduction pathway, odourant-induced cAMP production is obviously dampened by toxicants or pharmacological agents that inhibit ACIII activity (Chen et al. 2000). Additionally, toxic contaminants may also decrease ACIII expression, such as is the case for salmon and mice exposed to copper and UPM, respectively (Wang et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2022). However, salmon exposed to copper had a constant cAMP concentration despite the decreased ACIII expression (Wang et al. 2013). Instead, copper exposure reduced cGMP production, which may disrupt
olfactory imprinting, a mechanism underlying salmon homing behaviour (Dittman et al. 1997; Wang et al. 2013). ACIII disruption may also occur from contaminants that agonize dopamine-2 receptors, which are expressed in the olfactory epithelium and inhibit ACIII activity once activated (Mania-Farnell et al. 1993; Coronas et al. 1997; Maj et al. 1997; O'Neill et al. 1998; Kihara et al. 2002). Reduced cAMP production from contaminant exposures may lessen downstream cAMP-dependent activation of CNG channels, thereby preventing depolarization (Nakamura and Gold 1987; Firestein et al. 1991; Liman and Buck 1994). ACIII knockout mice demonstrate the potential consequences from toxicant-induced changes to ACIII activity, which include an absence in producing a generator potential and knock on effects of failed aversive olfactory conditioning and impaired airflow sensitivity (Wong et al. 2000; Chen et al. 2012).

Even if the ACIII pathway is working properly, contaminants can prevent neuronal depolarization by directly impairing CNG channel functionality. For example, pseudechetoxins from snake venom interact with the CNG- α 2 subunit to inhibit the Ca²⁺ influx through CNG channels (Yamazaki et al. 2002; Brown et al. 2003). Also, divalent cations other than Ca²⁺ can block CNG channels (Frings et al., 1995). Besides contaminants blocking CNG channels, it was recently found that copper nanoparticles decreased CNG expression in rainbow trout (Razmara et al. 2021). CNG- α 2, CNG- α 4, or CNG- β 1b knockout mice confirm the potential adverse effects of impairing CNG subunits. For example, knockout of CNG- α 2 prevented the depolarizing Ca²⁺ influx, likely because the channel remained closed after stimulation of odourants that activated the ACIII pathway (Brunet et al. 1996; Zheng et al. 2000; Lin et al. 2004). CNG- α 4 and CNG- β 1b knockout mice had inhibited signalling termination and disrupted desensitization to olfactory stimuli, which may explain why mice with CNG- α 4 knockouts were unable to discriminate odours from background noise (Munger et al. 2001; Kelliher et al. 2003; Song et al. 2008).

In addition to impairing the ACIII signal-transduction pathway, toxic contaminants also disrupt the PLC signal-transduction pathway. Multiple studies have demonstrated differential toxicity towards this pathway because odourants that only acted via the PLC signal-transduction pathway were disrupted by PLC inhibitors (Ma and Michel 1998; Delay and Dionne 2002; Dew et al. 2014; Sansone et al. 2014). However, a PLC inhibitor dampened the generator potential generated by amino acids and bile acids in yellow croaker (*Larimichthys polyactis*) (Zhu et al.

2023). Another PLC effect may be stimulation, which can occur from exposures to antidepressants, such as imipramine (Cadiou & Molle, 2003). Overstimulated PLC may cause DAG to accumulate to cytotoxic levels, which then in turn may induce lipid peroxidation when DAG lipase converts DAG to AA (Farooqui et al., 2001). In contrast, organophosphates and carbamates inhibit DAG lipase, which would reduce AA production (Bomser et al. 2002). Low concentrations of AA or DAG limit the activation of TRPC2 and other cation channels, thereby inhibiting OSN depolarization (Zhang et al. 2010). Neuronal depolarization may also be dampened by IP3-receptor inhibitors, which would prevent a Ca²⁺ influx from internal stores or TRPC2 channels (Brann et al., 2002; L. Ma & Michel, 1998). However, multiple studies have reported odour-induced neuronal depolarization in the presence of IP3-receptor inhibitors (Taniguchi et al. 2000; Spehr et al. 2002; Sansone et al. 2014; Chamero et al. 2017). As both IP3 and DAG production lead to a Ca²⁺ influx into OSNs, toxicants may need to disrupt both DAG and IP3 activity to have meaningful effects on olfactory signalling.

Contaminants can disrupt OSN depolarization by inhibiting TRPC2 channels or by modifying TRPC2 expression. A calcium current induced by l-arginine was reduced by 73% in frogs exposed to the TRPC2 channel inhibitor 2-aminotheoxydiphenyl borate (Sansone et al. 2014). Studies that exposed zebrafish to cadmium have shown conflicting findings with either decreased or increased TRPC2 expression (Wang and Gallagher 2013; Volz et al. 2020). Toxicity to TRPC2 channels may have negligible effects however, as one research team noted that the channel's contribution to the overall olfactory response to pheromones was not appreciably altered in TRPC2 knockout mice (Kim et al. 2011). In contrast, other studies have shown the importance of TRPC2 channels as TRPC2 knockout mice failed to demonstrate olfactory-mediated sexual behaviours (Stowers et al. 2002; Kimchi et al. 2007).

Calcium-dependent ANO2 channels may demonstrate a means of tolerance to toxicity towards the ACIII and PLC signal-transduction pathways. Unless entirely abolished, inhibition of the transient Ca²⁺ current from internal stores or through CNG, TRPC2 or other cation channels can still lead to activation of ANO2 channels (Kleene 1993). Therefore, a majority of the olfactory signal can be generated even at a low Ca²⁺ influx. For example, pheromone stimulation still activated ANO2 channels in TRPC2 knockout mice (Kim et al. 2011). While signalling amplification from ANO2 channels may minimize upstream inhibitory effects, inhibition of Cl⁻ efflux may prevent the triggering of an action potential. Inhibitors of the ANO2 channels reduced a depolarizing current by 90% in frog OSNs and by 77% in mice OSNs (Kleene and Gesteland 1991; Stephan et al. 2009). However, the significance of ANO2 channels to the signal-transduction pathway has previously been questioned, as ANO2 knockout mice were still able to perform olfactory-mediated behaviours (Billig et al., 2011). ANO2 channel inhibition would nevertheless decrease the likelihood of a high signal-to noise ratio during transduction and likely prevent animals from detecting weaker olfactory stimuli (Kleene 1997; Reisert et al. 2003).

The propagation of action potentials along OSN axons is necessary for animals to perceive odours. Therefore, toxic chemicals that block voltage-gated Na_v1.7 channels, such as copper and zinc, may disrupt olfactory detection even in the presence of generator potentials (Horning & Trombley, 2001). One study demonstrated that mice with non-functional voltagegated Na_v1.7 channels were unable to perform olfactory-mediated tasks (Weiss et al., 2011). Even though odour-induced action potentials were still triggered in these mice, signals relayed to the forebrain for processing were absent. Similarly, activity was reduced in the olfactory processing center of rhesus monkeys exposed to various drugs that block voltage-gated Na_v1.7 channels (Ballard et al., 2020; Roecker et al., 2021). While drugs such as fluoxetine are used for medical purposes due to their ability to inhibit voltage-gated Na_v1.7 channels, they also enter the hydrosphere and are taken up by aquatic animals, thereby potentially causing olfactory disruption (Paterson & Metcalfe, 2008;Bringolf et al., 2010; Izadyar et al., 2016).

The modulation of olfactory signal transduction is vulnerable to toxicity. Studies have often reported decreased OMP expression in the presence of various toxins and toxicants, including for fishes exposed to copper ions (Tilton et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2013), copper nanoparticles (Razmara et al. 2021), diesel particulate matter (Song et al. 2022) or fluoxetine (Huang et al. 2022). In mice, cholera toxin and 3-methylindole exposures also reduced OMP expression (Kim et al. 2010; Fukuyama et al. 2015). In mice exposed to 3-methylindone, decreased OMP expression was correlated with impaired olfactory-mediated foraging tasks. OMP knockouts in mice exemplify a slower increase to peak depolarization and therefore a delayed firing of action potentials after olfactory stimulation (Reisert et al. 2007). OMP knockouts also caused delayed signalling termination, which could be derived from either

reduced buffered cAMP levels or reduced NCX1 activity (Kwon et al., 2009; Nakashima et al., 2020). In sum, subsequent odours may be unable to generate their own responses if neuronal repolarization occurs slowly.

Peripheral olfactory dysfunction may also occur at the level of paracrine signal inhibition. Cholinergic microvillus cells can suppress signals that are generated in neighbouring OSNs, thus lowering sensitivity towards odourants and perhaps preventing excitotoxicity (Ogura et al., 2011). However, the acetylcholine-induced modulatory effects on an olfactory signal can be blocked by toxicants that antagonize m₄AChR, such as atropine (Lind et al. 1998). In contrast, overstimulation of m₄AChR might constantly suppress olfactory signals. Acetylcholinesterase prevents the accumulation of acetylcholine in the olfactory epithelium (Hedlund & Shepherd, 1983). Therefore, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors would prevent the breakdown of acetylcholine and in turn cause OSNs to be less responsive towards odourants from m₄AChR overstimulation (Tierney et al., 2010; Colovic et al., 2013).

Toxicity to signal termination and desensitization

While activation of the ACIII or PLC pathway is required for olfactory detection, their termination is crucial for desensitization and for maintaining ion homeostasis. Signal termination involves Ca²⁺-CaM inhibiting ACIII, CNG and TRPC2 activity, as well as activation of PDE to breakdown cAMP (Borisy et al. 1992; Liu et al. 1994; Wayman et al. 1995; Yan et al. 1995; Wei et al. 1996; Wei et al. 1998; Yildirim et al. 2003; Cygnar and Zhao 2009; Spehr et al. 2009). Therefore, toxic contaminants that potentiate CaM or PDE activity, such as CPF, copper, fluoxetine, and manganese, are likely to dampen neuronal depolarization during olfactory stimulation (Prasad 1974; Tilton et al. 2008; Tilton et al. 2011; Maryoung et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2022). Contaminants may also decrease CaM or PDE activity, which could prolong the decay of an olfactory signal and disrupt desensitization (Leinders-Zufall et al. 1999; Cygnar and Zhao 2009; Gudziol et al. 2010; Antunes et al. 2014; Hosseinzade et al. 2021). Decreased CaM or PDE activity may correlate with persistent ACIII activity, which could lead to cytotoxic levels of cyclic nucleotides (Farber & Lolley, 1974; Lolley et al., 1977). Cytotoxicity from high cyclic nucleotide production may also occur when contaminants deactivate CNG or TRPC2 channels as CaM activity would be reduced (Frings et al. 1995; Yamazaki et al. 2002; Brown et al. 2003; Xu et al. 2013).

Another route of toxicity may be via disruption in internalization of olfactory receptors, which involves GRK3 or PKA recruiting β -arrestin-2 to olfactory receptors (Dawson et al. 1993, Laporte et al. 2002, Rankin et al. 2002, Mashukova et al. 2006, Kato et al. 2013). For example, zebrafish exposed to copper had decreased PKA and β -arrestin-2 expression (Tilton et al. 2008). While no toxicants that impact GRK3 activity have been identified yet, GRK3 inhibition would likely reduce recruitment of β -arrestin-2 (Møller et al., 2020). Contaminants may need to disrupt both GRK3 and PKA activity to effectively impact desensitization as GRK3 and PKA selectively phosphorylate olfactory receptors (Kato et al., 2014). Furthermore, muscarinic-3 acetylcholine receptor antagonists could promote β -arrestin-2 recruitment to olfactory receptors and dampen olfactory signalling (Ohkuma et al. 2013; Jiang et al. 2015).

Olfactory signal termination includes the efflux of calcium ions out of OSNs through NCX1 and NCKX4 channels (Jung et al. 1994; Noé et al. 1997; Pyrski et al. 2007; Stephan et al. 2012). However, multiple toxicants decrease NCX1 or NCKX4 expression and therefore likely dampen the calcium efflux (Kwon et al. 2009; Sørhus et al. 2016; Tang et al. 2020; Yoo et al. 2020; Razmara et al. 2021; Huang et al. 2023; Jeong et al. 2023). NCKX4 knockout mice reveal how reduced Ca²⁺ efflux can affect olfactory functionality. One study demonstrated lowered action potential frequency in NCKX4 knockout mice, which were also unable to locate buried food (Stephan et al. 2012). A more recent study demonstrated that NCKX4 knockout mice spent more time sniffing to effectively perform behavioural tasks, suggesting that animals may adjust their behavioural strategies to maintain olfactory functionality in the presence of disrupted olfactory signalling (Reisert et al., 2021). Toxic contaminants can also disrupt calcium efflux by inhibiting Ca²⁺-ATPase, including PMCA activity (Kwon et al. 2009; Castillo et al. 2010; Griff et al. 2012; Huang et al. 2022). However, one study demonstrated that a PMCA inhibitor had no effect on the termination of a response after olfactory stimulation, and so, PMCA channels may not be involved in signalling termination (Griff et al. 2012). Other than affecting Ca²⁺ efflux during neuronal repolarization, contaminants may delay the termination of an olfactory signal by preventing the reuptake of chloride ions through NKCC1 channel inhibition (Kaneko et al. 2004; Nickell et al. 2007).

When contaminants have the largest impact on olfactory signalling

In this review, we discussed how toxic contaminants affect olfactory signalling when targeting the different steps of the main signal-transduction pathways, whether it be disruption in odourants interacting with olfactory receptors or preventing the triggering, propagation, and termination of action potentials. With no odour-induced signals relayed from OSNs to the forebrain, animals cannot process olfactory stimuli from their environment. However, multiple studies have demonstrated that toxicity towards a particular step of the signal-transduction pathway induces minimal change to olfactory signalling or functionality, which indicates the complexity and resilience of this system to perturbation (Taniguchi et al. 2000; Spehr et al. 2002; Kim et al. 2011; Chamero et al. 2017). As well, differential toxicity towards the ACIII and PLC pathway limits what odours animals are insensitive towards (Ma & Michel, 1998). In the face of signalling disruption, animals may alter their strategy to perform olfactory-mediated behaviours (Reisert et al., 2021). Nevertheless, toxic contaminants often do the biggest harm to olfactory signals and olfactory functionality when they target multiple steps of the signal-transduction pathways. For example, copper is considered a potent neurotoxin that disrupts olfactorymediated behaviours as it targets multiple components of OSNs including altering the expression of genes encoding for olfactory receptors, ACIII, CNG channels, CaM, PKA and β-arrestin-2 (Tilton et al. 2008; Tilton et al. 2011; Pfister et al. 2020). While disruption of each step on its own may minimally impact olfactory signalling, it is the combined disruption of multiple targets of the signal-transduction pathway that would prevent animals from "smelling" their environment.

Conclusion

The signal-transduction pathways responsible for generating and terminating olfactory signals at the peripheral olfactory organ have been thoroughly described in vertebrates. Therefore, the foundation exists to build an understanding of how different contaminants might disrupt the various intricate processes involved with olfactory signalling. Over the past decade, changes in the expression of genes involved in the olfactory signal-transduction pathways due to contaminant exposures have been frequently reported. These studies have found that contaminants often decrease gene expression and that this downregulation of genes may correlate

with dampened signal transduction and delayed signal termination. A few studies have also shown that contaminants may induce toxicity by increasing expression of genes, especially those pertaining to signal termination. Knockout experiments have allowed for speculation regarding the relationship between disruption in olfactory signalling and olfactory functionality. While the implications of impairing specific targets in signal transduction can be modelled in a straightforward manner, some contaminants may target multiple sites along the signaltransduction pathways, thus limiting our ability to predict adverse olfactory effects.

Ultimately, disturbances to the generation, termination, or modulation of olfactory signals may have a consequential impact on downstream physiological and behavioural processes. Thus, future investigations should aim to evolve outcome pathways that relate changes in the functionality of olfactory machinery to critically important behaviours of fitness relevance, such as foraging, avoiding predators, mating, and migrating. In modelling such relationships, we must consider that animals may utilize behavioural strategies to maintain olfactory functionality despite alterations to the olfactory signal-transduction pathways, and that animals may detect contaminants from afar and avoid encountering the contaminants altogether.

Acknowledgements

All figures were created with BioRender.com. This work was support by a grant from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council to K.B.T.

Tables

Table 2.1. The different target sites of the main olfactory signal transduction pathways in which toxic chemicals can disrupt.

Olfactory signal			
transduction pathway target sites	Toxic chemicals	Species	References
Offactory receptors			
	2,4,6- trichloroanisole	Human	<u>Tempere et al. 2017^{Ψ}</u>
			Ishida and
	Benthiocarb	Common carp	Kobayashi 1995 ^Ψ
	Buspirone	Zebrafish	<u>Abreu et al., 2016</u>
Multiple ORs, TAARs, V1Rs, V2Rs	Cadmium	Coho salmon	<u>Williams and</u> <u>Gallagher 2013,</u> <u>Williams et al. 2016</u>
		Rainbow trout	Lari et al. 2018^{Ψ}
Multiple ORs, TAAR340, V1R320	Copper	Sea lamprey	Jones et al. 2019
		Rainbow trout	<u>Lari et al. 2018</u> , <u>Razmara et al. 2021</u>
Multiple ORs		Zebrafish	Tilton et al. 2008
OR2T11		Human	Li et al. 2016^{Ψ}

Multiple ORs	Copper nanoparticle	Rainbow trout	Razmara et al. 2020, Razmara et al. 2021
Multiple ORs	Chlorpyrifos	Zebrafish	Tilton et al. 2011
OR1507	Dexamethasone	C57BL6 mice	<u>Kim et al. 2019</u>
	Diazepam	Zebrafish	<u>Abreu et al., 2016</u>
	Diazinon	Zebrafish	<u>Könemann et al.</u> 2021 ^Ψ
Multiple ORs	Ethanol	C57BL6 mice	Mandal et al. 2015
	Fluoxetine	Zebrafish	<u>Abreu et al., 2016</u>
	Imidacloprid	Zebrafish	<u>Könemann et al.</u> 2021 [₽]
	Isoprothiolane	Common carp	<u>Ishida and</u> Kobayashi 1995 [¥]
OR23	Lyral	BALB mice	Touhara et al. 1999^{Ψ}
OR23		Mice	$\frac{\text{Grosmaitre et al.}}{2006^{\Psi}}$
	Nickel	Rainbow trout	Lari et al. 2018^{Ψ}
	Oil sands process- affected water	Rainbow trout	Lari and Pyle 2017^{Ψ}
Multiple ORs	Perfluorobutane sulfonate + hypoxia	Marine medaka	<u>Tang et al. 2020</u>
	Permethrin	Zebrafish	Volz et al. 2020^{Ψ}

GFA2, GFA28, GFB1, GFB8	Polystyrene microplastics	Goldfish	<u>Shi et al. 2021</u>
	Propanol	Land phase salamander	<u>Firestein and</u> <u>Shepherd 1992</u>
	Risperidone	Zebrafish	<u>(Abreu et al., 2016)</u>
	Roundup	Rainbow trout	Tierney et al. 2007^{Ψ}
OR2T11	Silver	Human	<u>Li et al. 2016^{Ψ}</u>
	Sodium lauryl sulfate	Common carp	<u>Ishida and</u> Kobayashi 1995 ^Ψ
GFA2, GFA28, GFB1, GFB8	Triclosan/ Triclocarban	Goldfish	<u>Huang et al. 2023</u>
OR1507	Urban particulate matter	C57BL6 mice	<u>Kim et al. 2022</u>
Adenylyl Cyclase III			
	Amitriptyline	Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Mania-Farnell et al.</u> <u>1993</u>
	Bromocriptine	Wister rats	Coronas et al. 1999
		Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Mania-Farnell et al.</u> <u>1993</u>
	Cadmium	Coho salmon	Williams et al. 2016
	Copper	Zebrafish	<u>Tilton et al. 2008</u>
		Coho salmon	Wang et al. 2013

Forskolin	Zebrafish	Michel 1999, Michel
		<u>et al. 2003</u>
	Goldfish	<u>Rolen et al. 2003</u>
	Pacific Jack Mackerel	Vielma et al. 2008
	American bullfrog	<u>Sklar et al. 1986,</u> Lowe et al. 1989
	Clawed frogs	<u>Gliem et al. 2009,</u> <u>Brinkmann and</u> <u>Schild 2016</u>
	Marsh frogs	Pace et al. 1985
	C57BL6 mice	<u>Chen et al. 2012</u>
	Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Chen et al. 2012</u>
	Wistar rats	<u>Asanuma and</u> <u>Nomura 1991,</u> <u>Sasaki et al. 1999,</u> <u>Otsuguro et al. 2005</u>
MDL12330A	Common mudpuppy	<u>Delay and Dionne</u> 2002
	Goldfish	Sorensen and Sato 2005
	Tiger salamander	<u>Chen et al. 2000</u>
	Grass frog	Pun and Kleene 2003

		CD-1 mice	<u>Chen et al. 2000</u>
		Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Ukhanov et al. 2011</u>
		Wistar rats	<u>Spehr et al. 2002</u>
	Quinpirole	Tiger salamanders	<u>Chen et al. 2000</u>
		CD-1 mice	
		Simonsen albino rats	Vargas and Lucero 1999
		Wister rats	Coronas et al. 1999
	SQ22536	Tiger salamander	<u>Chen et al. 2000</u>
		C57BL6 mice	Lin et al. 2007
		CD-1 mice	Frenz et al. 2014
		Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Ukhanov et al. 2011</u>
	Urban particulate matter	C57BL6 mice	<u>Kim et al. 2022</u>
Phospholipase-C			
	Imipramine	Common carp	<u>Cadiou and Molle</u> 2003
		Goldfish	Sato and Sorensen 2018
	Neomycin	Common mudpuppy	Delay and Dionne 2002

		Goldfish	Sorensen and Sato 2005
		Zebrafish	Ma and Michel 1998
		Wistar rats	<u>Inamura et at al.</u> 1997
	U-73122	Goldfish	Sorensen and Sato 2005, Sato and Sorensen 2018
		Fathead minnows	<u>Dew et al. 2014</u>
		Yellow croaker	<u>Zhu et al. 2023</u>
		Zebrafish	Kaniganti et al. 2021
		Clawed frogs	Sansone et al. 2014
		Common musk turtle	<u>Brann and Fadool</u> 2006
		C57BL6 mice	<u>Zhang et al. 2010</u>
		Wistar rats	<u>Inamura et at al.</u> <u>1997, Spehr et al.</u> <u>2002</u>
		Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Vogl et al. 2000</u>
Inositol triphosphate			
receptor			
	Ruthenium red	Zebrafish	Ma and Michel 1998

		Channel catfish	<u>Restrepo et al. 1990,</u> <u>Miyamoto et al.</u> <u>1992</u>
		Clawed frogs	<u>Lischka and Schild</u> <u>1993</u>
		Chinese pond turtles	<u>Taniguchi et al. 1995</u>
		Garter snakes	Taniguchi et al. 2000
		Wistar rats	<u>Inamura et at al.</u> <u>1997</u>
	Xestospongin C	Clawed frogs	Sansone et al. 2014
DAG lipase			
	Chlorpyrifos oxon	Chinese hamster	Bomser et al. 2002
	RHC-80267	Chinese hamster	Bomser et al. 2002
		Wistar rats	<u>Spehr et al. 2002</u>
Cyclic nucleotide gated channels			
	2,4,6-Trichloro anisole	Japanese fire- bellied newts	<u>Takeuchi et al. 2013</u>
	8-Br-cAMP	BALB/c mice	<u>Boccaccio et al.</u> 2006
		Sprague-Dawley rats	<u>Zhainazarov et al.</u> 2004
		Human	<u>Hagen et al. 1996</u>

	Copper nanoparticle	Rainbow trout	Razmara et al. 2021
	LY83583	Tiger salamanders	<u>Leinders-Zufall and</u> <u>Zufall 1995</u>
		Chilean toads	Madrid et al. 2005
	Magnesium	Clawed frogs	Frings et al. 1995
	Nitric oxides	Tiger salamanders	Broillet and Firestein 1996
		Wistar rats	Lynch 1998
	Pseudechetoxins	Clawed frogs	<u>Yamazaki et al.</u> 2002, Brown et al. 2003
	Trifluoperazine	Northern grass frog	<u>Kleene 1994</u>
	Trifluoperazine W-7	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog	<u>Kleene 1994</u> <u>Kleene 1994</u>
Transient receptor potential C2 channel	Trifluoperazine W-7	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog	<u>Kleene 1994</u> <u>Kleene 1994</u>
Transient receptor potential C2 channel	Trifluoperazine W-7 2- APB	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog Zebrafish	<u>Kleene 1994</u> <u>Kleene 1994</u> <u>Kaniganti et al. 2021</u>
Transient receptor potential C2 channel	Trifluoperazine W-7 2- APB	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog Zebrafish Clawed frogs	Kleene 1994Kleene 1994Kaniganti et al. 2021Sansone et al. 2014
Transient receptor potential C2 channel	Trifluoperazine W-7 2- APB	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog Zebrafish Clawed frogs C57BL6 mice	Kleene 1994Kleene 1994Kaniganti et al. 2021Sansone et al. 2014Zhang et al. 2010
Transient receptor potential C2 channel	Trifluoperazine W-7 2- APB Cadmium	Northern grass frog Northern grass frog Zebrafish Clawed frogs C57BL6 mice Zebrafish	Kleene 1994Kleene 1994Kaniganti et al. 2021Sansone et al. 2014Zhang et al. 2010Williams andGallagher 2013,Volz et al. 2020

Anoctamin-2 channel

	3',5-dichloro diphenylamine-2- carboxylate	Norther grass frog	Kleene and Gesteland 1991
	DIDS	C57BL6 mice	<u>Nickell et al. 2007,</u> <u>Dibattista et al. 2012</u>
	Niflumic acid	Northern grass frog	<u>Kleene 1993</u>
		Mice	<u>Stephan et al. 2009,</u> <u>Haering et al. 2015</u>
		C57BL6 mice	Dibattista et al. 2012
	SITS	Japanese fire- bellied newts	<u>Kurahashi and Yau</u> <u>1993</u>
		Chinese pond turtle	<u>Kashiwayanagi et al.</u> <u>1996</u>
Nav1.7 channels			
	Aryl sulfonamides	Rhesus macaques	Roecker et al. 2021
	Copper	Rat	<u>Horning and</u> <u>Trombley 2001</u>
	Fluoxetine	Swiss outbred mice	Igelström and Heyward 2012
	Zinc	Rat	<u>Horning and</u> <u>Trombley 2001</u>
Olfactory marker			

protein

	3-methylindole	C57BL6 mice	<u>Kim et al. 2010</u>
	Cholera toxin	BALB/c mice	<u>Fukuyama et al.</u> 2015
	Copper	Zebrafish	<u>Tilton et al. 2008</u>
		Coho salmon	<u>Wang et al. 2013</u>
	Copper nanoparticle	Rainbow trout	<u>Razmara et al. 2021</u>
	Diesel particulate matter	Zebrafish	<u>Song et al. 2022</u>
	Fluoxetine	Goldfish	<u>Huang et al. 2022</u>
Calmodulin/Calmodulin kinase II			
	Autocamtide-2- related inhibitory peptide	C57BL6 mice	<u>Wei et al. 1998</u>
		Tiger salamanders	<u>Leinders-Zufall et al.</u> <u>1999</u>
			Manager et al.
	Chlorpyrifos	Rainbow trout	<u>Maryoung et al.</u> 2015
	Chlorpyrifos	Rainbow trout Zebrafish	<u>Maryoung et al.</u> 2015 <u>Tilton et al. 2011</u>
	Chlorpyrifos Copper	Rainbow trout Zebrafish Zebrafish	<u>Maryoung et al.</u> <u>2015</u> <u>Tilton et al. 2011</u> <u>Tilton et al. 2008</u>
	Chlorpyrifos Copper Diazinon	Rainbow trout Zebrafish Zebrafish Caspian roach	Maryoung et al.2015Tilton et al. 2011Tilton et al. 2008Hosseinzade et al.2021

	<u>et al. 1998</u>
Mastoparan Sprague-Dawley rats	and Yau 1994
Phosphodiesterase	
3-isobutyl-1- Tiger salamanders <u>Firest</u> methylxanthin	ein et al. 1991
Northern leopard <u>Antol</u>	in and
frogs <u>Matth</u>	news 2007
Mice Cygn 2009	ar and Zhao
BALB/c mice <u>Bocca</u> <u>2006</u>	accio et al.
C57BL6 mice Wei e	et al. 1998
Wistar rats <u>Antur</u>	nes et al. 2014
Theophylline NMRI mice <u>Gudz</u>	iol et al. 2010
β-arrestin-2	
Atropine Japanese fire- bellied newt	ma et al. 2013
C57BL6 mice Jiang	et al. 2015
Carbachol C57BL6 mice Jiang	et al. 2015
Copper Zebrafish <u>Tiltor</u>	<u>n et al. 2008</u>

NCX1/NCKX4

	3,4- dichlorobenzamil hydrochloride	Mice	<u>Kwon et al. 2009</u>
	Copper nanoparticle	Rainbow trout	<u>Razmara et al. 2021</u>
	Perfluorobutane sulfonate + hypoxia	Marine medaka	<u>Tang et al. 2020</u>
	Triclosan/ Triclocarban	Goldfish	<u>Huang et al. 2023</u>
Plasma Ca ²⁺ -ATPase			
	Carboxyeosin	Northern leopard frogs	Castillo et al. 2010
		Mice	<u>Kwon et al. 2009</u>
	Fluoxetine	Goldfish	<u>Huang et al. 2022</u>
Na-K-Cl cotransporter-1			
	Bumetanide	Northern leopard frogs	<u>Jaén et al. 2011</u>
		Mice	<u>Kaneko et al. 2004,</u> <u>Reisert et al. 2005</u>
		C57BL6 mice	<u>Nickell et al. 2007</u>
		Rats	<u>Kaneko et al. 2004</u>

 $^{\Psi}$ Studies that observed contaminants that generated an olfactory signal or evoked an olfactory-mediated response in animals, and therefore are likely to interact with olfactory receptors

Figures





Figure 2.1. The ACIII and PLC signal transduction pathway at the zebrafish olfactory epithelium. Created with BioRender.com



Figure 2.2. Contaminant disrupting different sites of the ACIII and the PLC signal-transduction pathway. Created with BioRender.com

Chapter 3: Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) behavioural response to an odourant mixture containing attracting and repelling odourants

Abstract

Odourants guide essential activities such as foraging and fleeing predators. Studies usually examine behavioural and physiological effects of individual odourants, while animals in the environment are exposed to multiple stimuli simultaneously. In this study, we exposed zebrafish to a mixture of attraction-evoking and aversion-evoking amino acids, and behavioural responses were observed. Attraction to L-alanine and avoidance to L-cysteine were observed, and so these amino acids were used to make the mixture (zebrafish also avoided L-serine, but this was weaker than with L-cysteine exposures). When exposed to the mixture, fish responded with avoidance, which suggests that aversion-evoking stimuli outweigh attraction-evoking stimuli. Attraction towards the mixture was seen only when the concentration of L-cysteine was decreased from 0.1 to 0.001 mM. Olfactory ablation surgery confirmed that the behaviours were olfactory-mediated. Overall, this study demonstrated that odourant stimuli that repel outweigh stimuli that attract until their concentration decreases by as much as 100-fold.

Introduction

Animals live by responding to internal and external cues. Of the external cues, odourants such as amino acids drive numerous behaviours including foraging, avoiding predators and mating (Atema et al., 1980; Marvin & Hutchison, 1994; Bloss et al., 2002). For example, aquatic animals often display foraging behaviours when encountering L-alanine (Steele et al., 1990; Carr et al., 1996) and show avoidance responses when encountering L-serine or L-cysteine (Idler et al., 1956; Rehnberg & Schreck, 1987; Vitebsky et al., 2005). Such behavioural responses towards odourants are also seen in amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals, demonstrating that oduorants responses are likely highly conserved for survival across vertebrates (Vitt & Cooper, 1986; Marvin & Hutchison, 1994; Pastro & Banks, 2006; Roth et al., 2008).

The general mechanisms of the olfactory system are the same across vertebrates (Eisthen, 2008). Odourants are detected by olfactory receptors on sensory neurons, which are located within an olfactory epithelium (Buck & Axel, 1991; Ngai et al., 1993). It is here where the

chemical input is converted to electrical signals, which are relayed to the olfactory bulb and eventually the forebrain for higher order processing (Mombaerts et al., 1996; Nikonov et al., 2005). Even though many studies have looked at the physiological and behavioural responses of individual odourants to animals, this does not necessarily represent the natural environment, because animals live within a multitude of odourants.

In a natural setting, animals are likely to encounter sensory input such as food and predator odourants simultaneously. Correspondingly, a conflict may arise in animals in making a decision regarding attraction or avoidance. Therefore, observing their attraction/avoidance to mixtures in which concentrations are varied could provide valuable information on which type of stimuli 'outcompetes' the other.

Of the studies that have exposed animals to odourant mixtures have demonstrated that either individual odourants are dominant or that the mixture acts as a new odourant (Tabor et al., 2004; Valentincic et al., 2011; Thomas-Danguin et al., 2014). The former is observed when there are fewer odourants, in which the more stimulatory one often drives an animal's response. The latter is usually observed when there are four or more odourants, including in humans (Livermore & Laing, 1996). The importance of odourants in a mixture is dependent on an individual odourant's physical properties, as was demonstrated by carpenter ants exposed to binary mixtures of alcohols and aldehydes (Perez et al., 2015).

The objective of the present study was to investigate how a model animal behaviourally responded to an odourant mixture, in which the constitutive odourants would elicit opposing behavioural responses. This was carried out through exposing adult zebrafish, a popular animal model, to a mixture made of an attraction-evoking amino acid (L-alanine) and an avoidance-evoking amino acid (L-serine or L-cysteine). These three odourants were selected because they have previously been shown to act as attraction or avoidance cues, respectively (for L-alanine attraction: Steele et al., 1990, L-serine avoidance: Idler et al., 1956; Rehnberg & Shreck, 1987, L-cysteine avoidance: Vitebsky et al., 2005). Food and predator skin extract were not used as attractive and aversive odours, respectively, since they are difficult to characterize and describe, and thus use in mechanistic examinations of behaviour (Haynes & Millar, 2012). By observing movement to combined attractive and aversive stimuli, zebrafish behavioural response towards

the odourant mixture was determined. Furthermore, the strength of the dominant stimulus was characterized by increasing or decreasing the concentrations of the individual odourants.

Methods

Fish husbandry

Adult tupfel long-fin (TL) strain zebrafish were housed at the University of Alberta (Edmont, AB, Canada) in a recirculating aquatics rack system (Aquaneering, San Diego, CA, USA) consisting of 28 ± 0.5 °C reverse osmo- sis (RO) water. Fish were subjected to a 14:10 h light:dark photoperiod and were fed twice daily of a mixture containing TetraMin flakes (Tetra Holding, Blackburg, VA, USA), Cobalt Aquatics spirulina flakes (Cobalt, Rock Hill, SC, USA) and Omega OneTM freeze-dried blood worms (Omegasea, Sitka, SK, Canada). Prior to experimentation, zebrafish underwent a one day fasting period. Treatment of all zebrafish was under accordance with University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP No. 052).

Chemicals used

L-alanine was a potential attraction-evoking odourant while L-serine and L-cysteine were used as avoidance-evoking odourants. A subset of zebrafish underwent nasal cavity ablation surgery, in which they were first anesthetized with tricaine methansefulfonate (TMS; Syndel, Nanaimo, BC, Canada) buffered with bicarbonate (pH 7.2). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

Avoidance-attraction trough

Adult zebrafish behaviour was observed in a $50 \times 10 \times 10$ cm (L × W × H) plexiglass avoidance-attraction trough similar to that in Saglio et al. 2001. In brief, the apparatus contained two 10-l polypropylene carboys, in which each was situated at opposite ends of the trough and provided a continuous inflow (0.7 l/min) of 28°C RO water. Water from the two inflows moved towards and drained through a central plexiglass-made pipe with an inner diameter of 7 mm. As a result, two contiguous water bodies were made. Therefore, when odourants were introduced to the trough through one of the two inflows, zebrafish could decide whether to spend more or less time in the zone containing the odourant. A water column depth of at least 5 cm was kept; anything shallower may have induced anxiety (Córdova et al., 2016). A black opaque curtain enclosed the apparatus to minimize external influences. Overhead dome colour IR cameras (SAV-CD120; Matco, Stow, OH, USA), which were placed beneath the curtain, were used to record zebrafish swimming. Based on preliminary observations, adult fish that were introduced to the trough swam freely and lacked any preference biases to either side of the trough during a 10-min basal activity period following a 20-min acclimation period. For all experiments, trials were considered valid only when zebrafish swam freely across both sides of the trough during a 10-min basal activity period.

Red dye was used to model the movement of odourants within the trough as well as approximate dilute rates (Figure 3.1). The dye increased in concentration quickly within 1 min and peaked at 3 min before gradually declining, until being undetectable after 15 min. Since the dye was present for 10 min (p < 0.001 between t = 10 min and t = 0 min; Holm–Sidak one-way ANOVA), odourants were introduced to the trough for 10 min.

Zebrafish responses towards odourants and odourant mixtures

All behavioural experiments had the same procedure where one adult TL zebrafish of either sex, was randomly placed in an avoidance-attraction trough and given a 20-min acclimation period, followed by the recording of a 10-min basal activity period and a subsequent 10 min odorant(s) exposure period. The odourants were introduced to the trough through one of the inflows, which was chosen at random. The trough was rinsed with RO water between trials for 30 min, which allowed for amino acids to be removed. L-alanine (0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5 mM), L-serine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM), or L-cysteine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM) was introduced to observe potential attraction and avoidance responses. The concentrations chosen for each amino acid were based on the reasoning that they were above zebrafish olfactory system detection threshold, according to earlier electrophysiological studies (Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995; Friedrich & Korsching, 1998). Fish were given a minimum of one week between tests to reduce stress from frequent handling and allow their behaviour to return to normal in case the amino acids changed odorant receptor expression levels in the olfactory epithelium (Wang et al., 1993). The concentration of amino acids that caused the greatest attraction or avoidance response were used to create the mixture that zebrafish were exposed to. If the mixture evoked attraction or avoidance, the dominant cue's concentration was decreased, or the weaker cue's concentration

increased, until the opposite response was seen. All experiments were performed between 9 a.m. and 6 p.m. since this is when they are considered active and not resting (Reed & Jennings, 2011). Each treatment used 10–11 fish.

Olfactory involvement in zebrafish response towards odourants

The olfactory system, gustatory system and solitary chemosensory cells (SCCs) can detect amino acids to mediate behaviours such as foraging and avoiding predators (Lindsay & Vogt, 2004). Therefore, olfactory involvement of the amino acids that caused maximal attraction and avoidance in the current study were determined by nasal cavity ablation. Using TMS buffered with bicarbonate (1:1, pH 7.2) to induce and maintain stage III anaesthesia (induction dose: 200 mg/l, maintenance dose: 120 mg/l; visualized by absent opercular movement), fish were held on a bench-top-v-shaped perfusion apparatus. A fine-tip cautery pen (Bovie Medical AA01; FL, USA) was used on both nasal cavities to render fish anosmic. Following surgery, zebrafish were given a one-week recovery period and were observed to ensure they behaved normally. Neither disorientation nor lethargy (including a lack of drive for food) were observed following surgery. Unilateral cauterization was also performed as a procedural control.

Data and statistical analysis

Zebrafish responses towards amino acids were manually scored as the average time they spent on either end of the avoidance-attraction trough. The central area of the trough where some mixing occurred, visualized by dye trials, was not included (5 cm in length). Manual scoring was binned into 1 or 10 min intervals of the exposure period and compared to the basal activity period in which the average time fish spent on either end of the trough was determined. The recordings from basal activity were pooled across treatments for a given amino acid or amino acid mixture when the values did not deviate from one another (one-way analysis of variance, $\alpha = 0.05$). EthoVision XT10 (Noldus, Wageningen, The Netherlands) was used to also analyse changes in swim speed for the amino acids at the concentrations that elicited behavioural responses. Here, swim speed (cm/s) was determined in the basal activity period and compared to that of each minute during the exposure period.

Statistical analysis for comparing percent of time zebrafish spent in zone of odourant(s) inflow between the exposure and basal period was via a two-way (concentration × time) analysis

of variance (ANOVA), followed by a Holm–Sidak post hoc test. Swimming activity was analysed by a one- way ANOVA or a two-way ANOVA. The former was used if only one concentration for a given amino acid induced a preference response in fish. The latter was used if more than one concentration for a given amino acid induced a response. For all analyses, when the assumptions of normality and equal variance failed, arcsine transformations were done, but, if this did not resolve the assumptions, a one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA on rank-transformed data were used instead. SigmaPlot 14.0 (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA) was used for statistical analysis and statistical significance was defined by $\alpha = 0.05$. P -values near the threshold (p < 0.1) were reported in order to minimize type II error of not detecting a real difference in behavioural changes. The rationale was that behavioural experiments may have high individual variation (Shamchuk & Tierney, 2012). All values are presented as mean \pm SEM.

Results

Finding an attraction-associated amino acid

Overall, L-alanine evoked attraction and avoidance responses ($\chi_{3,40} = 38$; p < 0.001) (Figure 3.2). Specifically, L-alanine at 0.05 mM caused zebrafish to swim $74 \pm 6.8\%$ of the time period with the amino acid once it was introduced (Figure 3.2A). This preference towards Lalanine was higher than that of any other concentrations used (p < 0.001 between 0.05 mM and 0.01, 0.1 and 0.5 mM). The response was also time-dependent ($\chi_{10,40} = 3.1$, p < 0.001) and lasted for approximately 7 min, with L-alanine attraction beginning within 1 min and peaking at the 5th and 6th min intervals (p = 0.031, 0.071, 0.032, 0.068, 0.009, 0.013, and 0.068 from 1–7 min, respectively; Figure 3.2B). This was associated with a decrease in swim speed of 1 cm/s or more, until the last 2 min of exposure (p < 0.001 for 1–6, 8 min and p = 0.003 for 7 min; Figure 3.2C). When L-alanine concentration was at 0.1 mM, fish demonstrated a delayed avoidance response that peaked at the 8th min interval of the exposure period, in which 8 out of 10 fish sampled had at least a 20% difference in time spent with L-alanine (p = 0.046, 0.043, 0.005 for 5th, 6th and 8th min interval, respectively; Figure 3.2B). Soon after 0.1 mM L-alanine was introduced, swim speed increased by 1 cm/s for 2 min (p = 0.023 and 0.043 for 2nd and 3rd min of exposure; Figure 3.2C). Between 0.05 and 0.1 mM, the amount of time fish spent in the zone of L-alanine inflow diverged within the third and 8th min interval of the exposure period ($\gamma_{30.40}$) = 2.0, p = 0.002). Interestingly, zebrafish demonstrated indifference towards L-alanine when its concentration further increased to 0.5 mM, which may have overstimulated their olfactory system (Figure 3.2A, B). As a result, fish may not have been able to properly process the stimulus.

Finding an avoidance-associated amino acid

Zebrafish did not respond to L-serine and avoided L-cysteine (Figure 3.3, 3.4). In regard to L-serine, concentration did not influence zebrafish behaviour ($\chi_{2,3} = 0.28$, p = 0.76; Figure 3.3A). That said, there was a gradual decline of fish spending time with the amino acid at 0.5 mM, but this trend did not come close to reaching statistical significance at any time intervals once L-serine was introduced ($\chi_{10,30} = 1.1$, p = 0.39; Figure 3.3B). In contrast, while concentration of L-cysteine did not appear to influence zebrafish behaviour ($\chi_{2,3} = 2.1$, p = 0.13; Figure 3.4A), the fish avoided 0.1 mM of the amino acid for nearly half of exposure period, with the biggest reductions being more than half of the basal period ($\chi_{10,30} = 2.4$, p = 0.009; p-values of 0.037 and 0.014 for the 4th and 8th min interval, respectively; Figure 3.4B). Zebrafish swim speed was not affected by 0.1 mM L-cysteine (Figure 3.4C). Altogether, L-cysteine at 0.1 mM demonstrated being the more robust avoidance cue and therefore was used for further experimentation.

Zebrafish attraction-avoidance response towards L-alanine/L-cysteine mixtures

The amino acid mixture introduced to zebrafish consisted of 0.05 mM L-alanine and 0.1 mM L-cysteine as individually these concentrations caused the strongest attraction and avoidance responses, respectively (Figures 3.3 and 3.4). Overall, the concentration of either amino acid within the mixtures strongly affected zebrafish behaviour ($\chi_{4,50} = 4.5$, p = 0.001; Figure 3.5A). More specifically, when fish were exposed to 0.05 mM L-alanine and 0.1 mM L-cysteine simultaneously, they responded in a time-dependent manner ($\chi_{10,50} = 3.1$, p < 0.001) with avoidance during the second half of the exposure period (p values of 0.067 and 0.1 for 6 and 7th min, respectively; Figure 3.5B). This was characterized by often spending half as much time in the inflow zone as that during the basal activity period. Being the dominant cue, L-cysteine's concentration was decreased by 10-fold until it reached 0.001 mM. At this point, zebrafish demonstrated an attraction response and in turn the percent time they spent with the mixture

deviated from when the concentration of L-cysteine was at 0.1 or 0.01 mM (p-values of 0.019 and <0.001 between L-alanine/L-cysteine concentrations of 0.05/0.001 mM and 0.05/0.1 or 0.05/0.01 mM, respectively; Figure 3.5A, B). With the mixtures, swim speed did not change (Figure 3.5C). When increasing L-alanine concentration while holding L-cysteine concentration at 0.1 mM, the avoidance response initially seen by zebrafish did not become an attraction response (Figure 3.5A, B). At most, zebrafish were indifferent to the mixture at a 5 and 10-fold increase of L-alanine. Its concentration was not raised further due to the apparatus's excessive amount required to reach a 100-fold increase and potentially oversaturating the fish's olfactory system.

Olfactory involvement in response towards L-alanine and L-cysteine

Olfactory epithelium ablation surgery suggested that the observed attraction and avoidance response caused by 0.05 mM L-alanine and 0.1 mM L-cysteine, was mainly through the olfactory system (Figure 3.6). More specifically, anosmic zebrafish subjected to either stimulus did not change the amount of time they spent in the inflow zone. The surgery did not have an influence since unilateral cauterized zebrafish showed a gradual increase in time spent with L-alanine within the first two minutes of its introduction (p = 0.066 at the 2nd min interval, Figure 3.6A), and had a delayed avoidance response towards 0.1 mM L-cysteine, peaking at the 8th min interval of the exposure period (p = 0.027 and 0.028 for the 7th and 8th min interval, respectively, Figure 3.6B). The unilateral cauterized fish responses towards both amino acids were weaker than those not undergoing surgery, suggesting the important role for both nares. Ablation of both nasal cavities led to no response to either L-alanine or L-cysteine.

Discussion

Animals encounter a multitude of odourants simultaneously, including blends of attractive and aversive odourants. However, there has been a lack of examination on how animals respond to odourant mixtures that contain competing signals. The present study using a model aquatic vertebrate demonstrated that aversion-evoking odourants may outweigh attraction-evoking odourants until their concentration is greatly reduced.

L-alanine as an attraction stimulus

On its own, L-alanine was attractive to zebrafish only when its concentration was 0.05 mM. In general, L-alanine tends to elicit foraging behaviours in aquatic animals as it is a feeding cue found in many prey species (Steele et al., 1990; Carre et al., 1996). The concentration of L-alanine often must be greater than 0.01 mM to be considered attractive (Steele et al., 1990; Zippel et al., 1993). However, there have been exceptions such as with arctic charr showing attraction to 0.01 μ M L-alanine (Jones & Hara, 1985). Interestingly, we found that 0.1 mM L-alanine eventually elicited an avoidance response in zebrafish. This may have owed to the L-alanine concentration reaching a threshold where the odourant became overwhelming and therefore evoked aversion (Laing et al., 1978; Giattina et al., 1982; Tierney, 2016). Because zebrafish have previously shown attraction towards L-alanine at 0.1 mM, I recommend further examination of what concentration this amino acid may become aversive (Steele et al., 1990).

In association with the attraction response towards L-alanine at 0.05 mM, zebrafish reduced their swim speed. This was unexpected as foraging behaviours are usually associated with an increase in swim speed and distance travelled, accompanied with frequent turns (Steele et al., 1990; Hara, 2006; Kalueff et al., 2013). A possible explanation for our findings is that individuals were fixating on the inflow source, as suggested by Jones & Hara (1985), who reported reduced swim speed in whitefish exposed to food extract.

L-serine and L-cysteine as avoidance stimuli

Of the two potential avoidance cues used in the present study, L-cysteine at 0.1 mM was noticeably more aversive than L-serine at any given concentration. A similar difference between the two amino acids has previously been reported by Vitebsky et al. (2005), who demonstrated that juvenile zebrafish displayed weaker avoidance responses towards 0.03 mM L-serine than L-cysteine. These observations could be because the avoidance towards L-cysteine is innate while that of L-serine is acquired. For example, in Vitebsky's (2005) same study, larval zebrafish exposed to L-cysteine also elicited an avoidance response, which carried through to adulthood, while they did not respond to L-serine. Therefore, fish exposed to L-serine may need aversive conditioning, such as detecting the amino acid while observing a predator kill conspecifics. As a reference, salmon learn to avoid L-serine, which is found on bear skin (Idler et al., 1956;

Rehnberg & Schreck, 1987). The current study may suggest that zebrafish associate L-serine with human net handling (Croxton et al., 2006). On the other hand, L-cysteine is a sulphurous compound, which generally cause aversion in animals (Nolte et al., 1994). A physiological explanation for why L-cysteine was more aversive than L-serine is that L-cysteine is one of the most potent olfactory amino acids in fish, including catfish, goldfish, salmonids and zebrafish (Byrd & Caprio, 1982; Sorensen et al., 1987; Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995; Hara & Zhang, 1997). This conclusion mainly comes from studies that have measured amino acid sensitivity using electro-olfactograms (EOGs). For example, Michel & Lubomudrov (1995) exposed adult zebrafish to a wide array of amino acids at 100 µM and found that L-cysteine evoked a large EOG response, while L-serine evoked a moderate response. Therefore, L-cysteine may also tend to induce a greater behavioural response than L-serine.

Zebrafish responding to L-alanine/L-cysteine mixture

The simultaneous introduction of 0.05 mM L-alanine and 0.1 mM L-cysteine evoked an avoidance response. This odourant mixture could have been perceived as its individual components or as a new odour entirely (Tabor et al., 2004; Valentincic et al., 2011; Thomas-Danguin et al., 2014). Usually, animals detect individual odourants when there are fewer within a mixture, and the more stimulatory one drives the response (Valentincic et al., 2011). Since a binary mixture was used for the current study, L-cysteine being more stimulatory than L-alanine likely drove the behavioural response of zebrafish (Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995). Only when the concentration of L-cysteine decreased from 0.1 mM to 0.001 mM, did L-alanine become more stimulatory and zebrafish again displayed attraction towards the mixture. L-cysteine was likely still detected in the mixture, as its decreased concentration was higher than the detection threshold of 0.01 µM (Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995). Overall, these findings suggest that the risk of a potential negative encounter outweighs the reward for an attractive one until the presence of the former diminishes greatly. For example, animals avoid foraging in areas that have high risk of predation (Holbrook & Schmitt, 1988; Dupuch et al., 2009; Suselbeek et al., 2014). Animals avoiding a foraging event are likely to encounter another opportunity in the near future. However, an encounter with a predator, may well mean the end of an animal's life. Zebrafish only demonstrated indifference towards the odourant mixture when the concentration of L-alanine increased. This implies that as long as the avoidance cue is present, attraction

towards the mixture will not occur, regardless of how attracting each component is. This supports the recent finding that the presence of one odourant can suppress the signal of another odourant in the mice olfactory epithelium (Xu et al., 2020).

Olfaction is involved in L-alanine attraction and L-cysteine avoidance

Ablation of the zebrafish nasal cavity demonstrated that their attraction towards L-alanine and avoidance of L-cysteine was primarily from the olfactory system. Besides the olfactory system, amino acids can be detected through other chemosensory systems. For example, rats can detect L-alanine with their gustatory system (Taylor-Burds et al., 2004). In the case of zebrafish, chemical cues can drive behavioural responses from olfaction, gustation and/or SCCs (Lindsay & Vogt, 2004). In fact, zebrafish facial nerves have previously responded strongly to L-alanine and moderately to L-cysteine (Oike et al., 2007). The fact that unilaterally-cauterized zebrafish showed behavioural responses towards L-alanine and L-cysteine, suggests that both nasal cavities are not required for fish to effectively respond to odourants. However, both nasal cavities may enhance the signal received from olfactory input, as the behavioural responses observed from unilateral cauterized fish were weaker than those that did not undergo any surgery. It is unlikely that this lesser olfactory response was from the surgery as the fish returned to behaving normally early on during their 7-day recovery period.

Conclusions

The present study demonstrated that if adult zebrafish were to encounter a mixture made up of an odourant that attracts (L-alanine) and an odourant that repels (L-cysteine), they would avoid the mixture until the concentration of the repelling stimulus was diminished greatly.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Jeff Johnson for building the avoidance-attraction trough and Dr. Andrew Waskiewicz for providing adult zebrafish for the olfactory epithelium ablation surgery (sourced from an established colony in the Department of Biological Sciences at the University of Alberta). This work was supported by an NSERC grant to KBT. A.S., W.T.A and K.B.T created and/or designed the study. A.S. and L.K gathered and analysed data. A.S. and K.B.T made or revised the manuscript. This work was supported by Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (grant number 2019-04478).

Figures



Figure 3.1. (A) 5 distinct positions (A–E) of the avoidance-attraction trough where 100- μ l samples of red dye (Club House, Canada) were taken over 35 min (N = 3 for position and time); (B) i–v, mean absorbance ±SEM for each of the 5 locations over 35 min; vi, the mean percent

amount of dye \pm SEM that was transferred to the trough in respect to the inflow's absorbance when the dye was initially added.




Figure 3.2. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-alanine (0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-alanine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal activity period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1–10). All datapoints are denoted as mean ± SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.



Figure 3.3. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-serine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-serine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1-10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). All datapoints are denoted as mean ± SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects,

while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.



Figure 3.4. Adult zebrafish preference response towards L-cysteine (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of L-cysteine inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1 min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1-10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal activity period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1-10). All datapoints are denoted as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal activity period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * **p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.





Figure 3.5. Adult zebrafish preference response towards an attractive-aversive mixture when decreasing L-cysteine or increasing L-alanine concentration ([L-cysteine]/[L-alanine] = 0.1/0.05 mM, 0.01/0.05 mM, 0.001/0.05 mM, 0.1/0.1 mM, 0.1/0.5 mM). Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent in the zone of odorant mixture inflow for (A) the entire exposure period, or (B) 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the average basal activity period pooled across the multiple concentrations used (horizontal solid line denotes the pooled average and the two horizontal dashed line denote the SEM). At the concentrations that evoked a behavioural change, (C) swim speed across the basal period (t = 0) was also compared to that of each minute of the exposure period (t = 1–10). All datapoints are denoted as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analyses were via two-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA on ranked data (α = 0.05). Different letters represent concentration-dependent effects, while asterisks represent statistical differences between the pooled basal period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.



Figure 3.6. Olfactory involvement in attraction towards L-alanine and avoidance towards Lcysteine. Adult zebrafish underwent no, unilateral or complete nasal cavity cauterization and were then exposed to either (A) 0.05 mM L-alanine, or (B) 0.1 mM L-cysteine. Attraction or avoidance was determined by comparing the percentage of time fish spent with the amino acids during 1-min intervals of the exposure period (t = 1–10) to that of the basal activity period for each treatment (t = 0). Basal activity values were pooled across treatment type only for Lcysteine. The horizontal line represents the average basal preference towards the zone of oduorant inflow across all treatments and the two horizontal dashed lines represent the corresponding SEM. Data set for fish that did not undergo surgery were pulled from those that were used to determine if L-alanine and L-cysteine elicited a response. All datapoints are denoted as mean ± SEM. Statistical analyses were via a two-way ANOVA on ranked data or two-way repeated measures ANOVA on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$). Asterisks represent statistical differences between the basal period and 1-min intervals of the exposure period (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, * * *p < 0.001). All treatments had 10 fish.

Chapter 4: Single odourant imprinting is disrupted by a second odourant in a model vertebrate, *Danio rerio*

Abstract

Animals use olfaction to gather information about their environment. How animals respond to chemosensory information is often shaped by their rearing environment, including through olfactory imprinting. Mechanisms underlying olfactory imprinting are often studied using animals that are exposed to single odourants, but in the natural world, odourants rarely occur in isolation. The purpose of the current study was to determine how olfactory imprinting in zebrafish is affected by additional odourants in the environment during developmental imprinting and behavioural testing of imprinted odourants in adulthood. Fish were first tested for their ability to imprint to single odourants including β -phenylethyl alcohol and the amino acids L-leucine, L-lysine, and L-valine. Zebrafish were exposed to the odourants during development and then grown to adulthood, at which point their behavioural responses to odourants were compared to those of adult fish that were exposed to embryo media only during development. Fish imprinted to β -phenylethyl alcohol, L-leucine, and L-lysine, but not to L-valine. Imprinting experiments on L-leucine were then repeated, but with L-lysine also added to the environment during imprinting and/or behavioural testing in adulthood as these two amino acids individually evoked opposite responses in imprinted fish. The addition of L-lysine to the environment of early developing fish disrupted their ability to imprint to L-leucine or to L-lysine. Furthermore, fish did not imprint to a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine. This study demonstrates the relevance of considering the complexity of the olfactory environment when examining imprinting.

Introduction

Animals sense their environment through chemical cues, which are detected in part by the gustatory and olfactory sensory systems. With the latter, the olfactory system of animals detects odourants to facilitate activities such as foraging, avoiding predators and finding mates (Laska & Freyer, 1997; Martin et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2010). How animals respond to olfactory stimuli is shaped by their environment during early development, which can be considered the most sensitive period of sensory development (Berardi et al. 2000).

During a brief window in early development, animals imprint to olfactory stimuli that they encounter, forming long-lasting memories that shape how they respond to the odourants when encountered later in life (Fillion & Blass, 1986; Marr & Gardner, 1965). For example, during parr-smolt transformation, salmonids imprint to amino acids that help them perform future homing behaviour after seaward migration (Shoji et al. 2000; Yamamoto, et al. 2010; Yamamoto et al. 2013). Zebrafish as young as 2 or 3 days post fertilization (dpf) were shown to imprint to β -phenylethyl alcohol (PEA) through changes in preference response towards the odourant as adults (Harden et al. 2006; Calfún et al. 2016). In songbirds and guinea pigs, olfactory imprinting is important for nest and littermate recognition, respectively (Carter & Marr, 1970; Caspers et al., 2013).

Animals in their natural environment detect 'bouquets' of odourants arising from the biotic and abiotic components of an ecosystem. Studies that have examined the mechanisms underlying olfactory imprinting have often used single odourants (Harden et al. 2006; Yamamoto et al. 2010; Inoue et al. 2021; Armstrong et al. 2022). Nevertheless, odourants in a natural setting rarely, if ever, occur in isolation. During the detection of multiple odourants simultaneously, the signaling input received by the olfactory system may be modulated by synergistic or suppressive interactions between odourants (Kang and Caprio 1997; Ishii et al. 2008; Miyazawa et al. 2008; Chaput et al. 2012; McClintock et al. 2020). For example, the addition of an aversive odourant may dampen the signal generated by an attracting odourant, as aversive odours often evoke stronger responses than attracting odours (Ehrlichman et al., 1995; Boesveldt et al., 2010). As well, animals have difficulty discriminating between odourants when faced with multiple odourants simultaneously (Livermore and Laing 1998). Therefore, the different interactions between multiple odourants in the rearing environment may influence olfactory imprinting ability in animals.

Responding to imprinted odourants or mixtures later in life may be altered by the presence of other odourants. For example, odourants can mask the responses normally seen towards other odourants present, such as in the case of mice not responding to the aversive odourant dimethyl sulfide, in the presence of citrous odourants (Cain, 1975; Osada et al., 2013). As mentioned above, the ability to discriminate between odourants decreases when animals are presented with multiple odourants simultaneously (Livermore and Laing 1998). This is the

classic issue of detecting a signal from surrounding noise. Therefore, responses to imprinted odourants may be lost or obscured by the addition of other odourants to the environment, either through masking responses normally observed towards imprinted odourants or a decreased discrimination capacity.

The purpose of the current study was to determine how olfactory imprinting is affected by additional odourants, either during imprinting or during behavioural testing at adulthood. I used the common aquatic vertebrate model, the zebrafish, which have previously been shown to imprint to odourants (Harden et al., 2006; Gerlach et al., 2008; Hinz et al., 2013, Calfún et al., 2016;). In my experiments, I tested if zebrafish could imprint to single amino acids and binary amino acid mixtures with the expectation that the assay would less likely show that fish could imprint to multiple amino acids simultaneously over single amino acids.

Methods

Fish Husbandry

A breeding colony of adult tüpfel longfin (TL) strain zebrafish were housed in a selfcirculating aquatic racks system (Aquaneering, San Deigo, CA, USA) containing $28 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C reverse-osmosis (RO)-supplied water. Fish were fed twice daily of Zeigler zebrafish diet (Gardners, PA, USA) and held under 14:10 hr light: dark cycle. All animals were treated in accordance with the University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use committee (AUP no. 052).

Developmental exposure of single and paired odourants

I first tested the imprinting paradigm by replicating the findings from previous studies that demonstrated that zebrafish imprint to β -PEA (Harden et al. 2006; Calfún et al. 2016). β -PEA is a synthetic odourant that zebrafish are not preconditioned to and so has relevance to demonstrating whether long-term associations towards the odourant can be made during early development (Nevitt et al., 1994). Fish were then tested for their ability to imprint to amino acids individually. L-leucine, L-lysine and L-valine were selected as they all generate neuronal generator signals in the zebrafish olfactory system (Michel and Lubomudrov 1995; Friedrich and Korsching 1997). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (purity > 98%; St. Louis, MO, USA). Eggs were collected immediately after fertilization and transferred to glass petri dishes, with 60 to 80 embryos in each dish. For single odourant imprinting trials, groups of 60 - 80 embryos were exposed from 0.5 to 7 dpf to 0.001 mM β -PEA (W285811), 0.1 mM L-leucine (L8000), 0.1 mM L-lysine (L5501) or 0.1 mM L-valine (A12720), which were solubilized in 40 mL embryo media (EM). Groups of 60 - 80 non-imprinted control zebrafish were exposed to EM only. 95% of exposure media was replaced daily. All embryos were housed at 28 ± 0.5°C and subjected to a photoperiod of a 12:12 hr light: dark cycle. Once fish reached 7 dpf, they were moved to an aquatics rack system and raised (Winter 2021) without being exposed to β -PEA, Lleucine, L-lysine, or L-valine by the experimenters until they reached adulthood.

After determining which amino acids zebrafish imprinted to individually, a second series of experiments were conducted using L-leucine and L-lysine. These amino acids were selected because fish imprinted to them separately. Imprinting experiments were replicated with groups of 60 to 80 embryos exposed from 0.5 to 7 dpf to EM or 0.1 mM L-leucine only, or 0.1 mM L-leucine and L-lysine simultaneously. As above, fish were reared in water free of amino acid addition (Winter 2021, Summer 2022) until they reached adulthood.

Adult zebrafish behavioural response towards odourants and odourant mixtures

Behavioural responses of adult zebrafish to all odourants or mixtures (β -PEA, L-leucine, L-lysine, L-valine, or a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine) were determined in an avoidanceattraction trough, detailed in Shahriari et al. (2021). In short, the apparatus consisted of two inflows of 28°C RO water, situated on opposite ends of the trough. Water from the two inflows continuously drained into the trough at 0.7 l/min and subsequently drained through a central fenestrated pipe (inner diameter of 7 mm), which created two zones with minimal intermixing (5 cm in length). Therefore, when an odourant was introduced to the trough through one of the two inflows, only the corresponding half of the trough contained the odour, confirmed visually with dye trials (Figure 3.1). A water column depth of at least 5 cm was maintained in order to minimize anxiety in zebrafish (Córdova et al., 2016). Overhead dome colour IR cameras (SAV-CD120; Matcow, Stow, OH USA) connected to an Elgato Video Capture software (Elgato Systems, CA USA) were used to record fish movement. The trough was surrounded in an opaque curtain and environmental auditory input was kept to a minimum. To determine if zebrafish exposed to β -PEA, L-leucine, L-lysine, or L-valine, had been imprinted, their preference response towards these odourants at adulthood were compared to those that were reared only in EM. For this, adult fish were fasted for 1 day prior to behavioural experiments. Behavioural trials began with a randomly selected fish being placed into one side of the avoidance-attraction trough. Fish were given a 30 min acclimation period, in which their behaviour during the last 10 min was recorded. After this 10 min period, β -PEA, L-leucine, Llysine or L-valine (0.001, 0.01, 0.1 mM) was added into one of the two inflows, chosen at random, and the behaviour of the fish was recorded for another 10 min. Olfactory imprinting was considered to have occurred only if fish reared in β -PEA, L-leucine, L-lysine, or L-valine, had a preference response towards the odourants that differed from those reared only in EM. Each odour at a given concentration had 9 to 10 naïve fish and 10 to 11 odour-exposed fish.

To investigate if zebrafish imprint to a mixture of two odourants that evoke imprinting on their own, adult fish reared in L-leucine and L-lysine, L-leucine only, or EM only, were exposed to either 0.1 mM L-leucine, 0.1 mM L-lysine, or a mixture of 0.1 mM L-leucine and 0.1 mM L-lysine in the avoidance-attraction trough. L-leucine and L-lysine were chosen as they evoked opposite preference responses in imprinted fish. Here, zebrafish underwent the same experimental procedures as the fish that were tested for their ability to imprint to single odourants above. With this experiment, 15 - 25 fish per group were used for each treatment.

Data and Statistical Analysis

All adult zebrafish were manually scored for the total time they spent in the area of an avoidance-attraction trough that contained the odourants during a 10 min odour exposure period. The area of the trough containing the odourant was termed *odour zone*. The time fish spent in this odour zone during the 10 min exposure period was compared to the total time fish spent in the same area of the trough during a 10 min period prior to odour addition. The time fish spent in the central trough where intermixing between the two inflows occurred was not considered.

Statistical analysis on determining zebrafish behavioural response to β -PEA, L-leucine, L-lysine, L-valine, and a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine, was based on a two-way (treatment type × time period) repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). Holm-Sidak post hoc tests were used to perform pairwise comparisons between basal and exposure behaviour within

treatment groups for each concentration of the odourants administered. For all analyses, when normality or equal variance failed, log transformations were done, but if this failed to resolve the assumptions, two-way repeated measures ANOVA on ranked data were used. SigmaPlot 14.0 (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA) was used for all statistical analyses with statistical significance being defined by $\alpha = 0.05$. Group averages are represented as mean ± SEM.

Results

Zebrafish imprint to β -PEA

Exposing zebrafish to β -PEA during early development affected their behavioural response to the odourant 3 months later at adulthood (Figure 4.1). When 0.001 mM β -PEA was added to the avoidance-attraction trough, the change in time imprinted fish spent in the odour zone differed from that of non-imprinted control fish (F_{1,17} = 9.95, p = 0.006). While control fish decreased their time spent in the odour zone by 21 ± 11 s (p = 0.095), imprinted fish increased their time spent by 34 ± 12 s (p = 0.015) (Figure 4.1A). Introducing concentrations of β -PEA that were higher than those that fish imprinted to (i.e., 0.01 and 0.1 mM) did not evoke a response (Figure 4.1B, C).

Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine

Zebrafish imprinted to L-leucine with changes in behaviour seen in a concentrationspecific manner (Figure 4.2). With the introduction of 0.001 mM L-leucine to the avoidanceattraction trough, fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone ($\chi_{1,18} = 19.5$, p < 0.001; Figure 4.2A). Specifically, non-imprinted control fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 14 ± 17 s (p = 0.035), while imprinted fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 33 ± 12 s (p <0.001). When L-leucine concentration increased to 0.01 mM, control and imprinted fish showed no preference response towards the odourant during the exposure period (Figure 4.2B). When 0.1 mM L-leucine was added to the trough, imprinted fish displayed a preference response that differed from control fish (F_{1,18} = 18.0, p < 0.001; Figure 4.2C). While control fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 64 ± 20 s (p = 0.005), imprinted fish increased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 56 ± 20 s (p = 0.012). Zebrafish imprinted to L-lysine (Figure 4.3). With the addition of 0.001, 0.01 or 0.1 mM L-lysine to the avoidance-attraction trough, fish changed the amount of time spent in the odour zone ($F_{1,18} = 10.4$, p = 0.005 for 0.001 mM; $F_{1,18} = 5.28$, p = 0.034 for 0.01 mM; $F_{1,18} = 9.56$, p = 0.006 for 0.1 mM). However, this change in behaviour was only seen in imprinted fish. Specifically, non-imprinted fish spent a similar amount of time in the odour zone after L-lysine introduction (p = 0.283, 0.300, 0.179 for 0.001, 0.01, 0.1 mM, respectively), while imprinted fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone after L-lysine introduction, regardless of what concentration was administered (p = 0.003, 0.043, 0.008, for 0.001, 0.01, 0.1 mM, respectively).

Fish did not imprint to L-valine (Figure 4.4). Specifically, with the introduction of 0.001 and 0.01 mM L-valine to the avoidance-attraction trough, changes in behaviour indicative of imprinting were not found (Figure 4.4A, B). There was, however, a tendency to respond to L-valine at 0.1 mM, which was evident in control fish ($F_{1,18} = 5.95$, p = 0.025; Figure 4.4C). However, post-hoc analysis revealed no differences in time EM and L-valine reared fish spent in the odour zone between the odour exposure period and the 10 min interval prior to L-valine addition to the trough (p = 0.094 and p = 0.11 for EM and L-valine reared fish, respectively).

Since L-leucine and L-lysine induced contrasting imprinting-based responses, I then investigated how the presence of both amino acids during development affected olfactory imprinting. Specifically, I examined if fish exposed to a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine during early development would still be attracted to 0.1 mM L-leucine and would still avoid 0.1 mM L-lysine. I also determined if they would imprint to the mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine.

Zebrafish reared in L-leucine and L-lysine together did not imprint to L-leucine, L-lysine, or a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine

Overall, zebrafish did not imprint to L-leucine or L-lysine when fish were exposed to the two amino acids together during early development (Figure 4.5). In response to L-leucine being added to an avoidance-attraction trough, changes in the amount of time spent in the odour zone was different between adult fish that were exposed to EM only, L-leucine only, or a mixture of L-leucine and lysine during early development ($F_{2,67} = 4.06$, p = 0.022; Figure 4.5A). Adult fish exposed to L-leucine and L-lysine simultaneously during early development did not change the

amount of time they spent in the odour zone with the introduction of L-leucine to the trough (p = 0.28). Repeating the single odourant experiments for L-leucine, naïve fish showed no behavioural change in response to the addition of L-leucine to the trough (p = 0.083). Only fish exposed to L-leucine alone during early development continued to increase the time spent in the odour zone of the trough with the introduction of L-leucine, replicating findings from the first study (p = 0.043). In regard to L-lysine exposures, adult fish that were exposed to EM only or to a mixture of L-leucine or L-lysine during early development did not change how much time spent in the odour zone after L-lysine was introduced to the trough.

Even though zebrafish imprinted to L-leucine and L-lysine separately, fish did not imprint to a mixture of the two amino acids (Figure 4.5C). Specifically, with the simultaneous introduction of L-leucine and L-lysine to the trough during testing, adult fish exposed to EM only, L-leucine only, or a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine during early development had no behavioural change.

Discussion

Imprinting is known to guide some of the most sensitive and important behaviours that we know. A question is, just how sensitive is the imprinting response? The current study demonstrates that the ability to imprint to single amino acids is not seen with the addition of a second odourant to the rearing environment of zebrafish.

Zebrafish imprint to β -PEA

Zebrafish imprinted to 0.001 mM β -PEA, as adult fish exposed to the odourant during early development were attracted to 0.001 mM β -PEA, whereas adult fish that were reared only in EM showed no such response. This finding replicates previous work demonstrating that zebrafish imprinted to 0.001 mM β -PEA are attracted to the odourant at 0.001 mM (Harden et al., 2006) and validates my imprinting paradigm. Interestingly, when adult fish from my study were exposed to higher concentrations of the odourant, differences in behavioural response by imprinted and control fish were absent. This identification of imprinting was also concentration specific in L-leucine imprinted-fish, which showed an altered behavioural response to the amino acid only at 0.1 mM. Therefore, behavioural assays for observing olfactory imprinting in animals are likely sensitive to the concentration of odourants administered.

Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine

Overall, zebrafish imprinted to L-leucine and L-lysine, but not to L-valine. Like zebrafish, salmonids have also imprinted to amino acids including l-proline and l-glutamic acid, exhibiting an attraction response in adulthood (Yamamoto et al. 2010, 2013). While salmonids use imprinted amino acids for homing behaviour, zebrafish have been suggested to imprint to amino acids for the purposes of kin odour recognition (Shoji et al. 2000; Hinz et al. 2013; Yamamoto et al. 2013). While zebrafish imprinted to L-leucine were attracted to the amino acid at 0.1 mM in adulthood, fish that imprinted to L-lysine avoided 0.001, 0.01 and 0.1 mM L-lysine in adulthood. Olfactory imprinting that leads to animals avoiding odourants in adulthood have been reported in an ecological context, such as fish, birds and mammals avoiding kin odour to prevent inbreeding (Isles et al., 2002; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006; Gerlach et al., 2008; Bonadonna & Sanz-Aguilar, 2012; Caspers et al., 2013;). The three amino acids that zebrafish were exposed to during early development have previously been shown to elicit an electrical signal in the olfactory system, but to varying degrees of magnitude (Michel and Lubomudrov 1995; Friedrich and Korsching 1997). Among the three amino acids, the signal generated from L-valine detection had the weakest input. This reduced olfactory signal generated by L-valine may have posed a greater difficulty in its detection, which may have contributed to no evidence of imprinting to the odourant. Even though fish exposed to L-leucine or L-lysine from 0.5 to 7 dpf was sufficient for olfactory imprinting to occur, a longer duration may have been needed for fish to imprint to Lvaline. As a comparison, sockeye salmon imprinted to 1-proline and 1-glutamic acid only after they were exposed to the amino acids for two weeks during parr-smolt transformation (Yamamoto et al. 2010).

Zebrafish reared in L-leucine and L-lysine together did not imprint to L-leucine, L-lysine, or a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine

Exposing zebrafish to a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine during early development abolished the attraction response towards 0.1 mM leucine seen in fish imprinted to L-leucine alone. The avoidance response towards 0.1 mM L-lysine seen in fish imprinted to L-lysine alone was also abolished. Therefore, fish did not imprint to L-leucine or L-lysine when detecting the two odourants together. In fish detecting two amino acids simultaneously, the signals generated from each odourant may have suppressed one another, lessening the olfactory signal of each odourant compared to each detected alone (Kang & Caprio, 1997; Oka et al., 2004; Chaput et al., 2012; McClintock et al., 2020). Specifically, the addition of L-lysine may have suppressed the signal generated by L-leucine detection, and vice versa, rendering zebrafish unable to imprint to L-leucine or L-lysine. For example, the activation of neurons in mice by isoamyl acetate was suppressed in the presence of whiskey lactone (Chaput et al., 2012). As L-leucine imprinted-fish were attracted to L-leucine and L-lysine imprinted-fish avoided L-lysine, fish may have still imprinted to the two odourants when simultaneously added to the rearing environment. The conflicting signals perceived by the fish during behavioural testing during adulthood may have masked one another, causing the fish to neither approach or avoid the binary mixture (Ehrlichman et al., 1995; Boesveldt et al., 2010). However, the idea that fish imprinted to both odourants successfully, but such a result was masked during binary mixture testing is not supported by the current study as adult fish exposed to L-leucine and L-lysine during early development were not attracted to L-leucine on its own as adults.

Even though zebrafish imprinted to L-leucine and L-lysine separately, fish did not imprint to a mixture of the two amino acids. Not only did they face a challenge in imprinting to the mixture due to potential suppressive interactions in the signal generated from the amino acids, but also from difficulty in discriminating between the odourants. The capacity of animals to discriminate between odourants decreases as they detect more odourants simultaneously (Livermore and Laing 1998). As fish exposed to L-leucine and L-lysine during early development did not respond to L-leucine in adulthood, the mixture was likely not perceived as its individual components during the imprinting window. However, I propose that future studies examine how processing of odourant mixtures affect olfactory imprinting capacity (Valentincic et al. 2011).

Mechanisms underlying olfactory imprinting are often studied using animals that are exposed to single odourants. Because odourants rarely occur in isolation, I tested if adding a second odourant to the environment of early developing zebrafish affects olfactory imprinting. I demonstrated that the inclusion of a second odourant can disrupt imprinting to single odourants,

suggesting future studies should consider the complexity of the olfactory environment when examining olfactory imprinting. Overall, this study provides an intermediary link between studies that demonstrate mechanisms of olfactory imprinting by exposing animals to single odourants and the natural world where animals sense a 'bouquet' of odourants.



Figures

Figure 4.1. Zebrafish imprint to β **-phenylethyl alcohol (\beta-PEA).** Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM β -PEA (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 9 – 10 fish.



Figure 4.2. Zebrafish imprint to L-leucine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-leucine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 fish.



Figure 4.3. Zebrafish imprint to L-lysine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-lysine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 fish.



Figure 4.4. Zebrafish imprint to L-valine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media (non-imprinted fish) or 0.001 mM L-valine (imprinted fish), and then as adults observed for their behavioural response to the odourant at A) 0.001 mM, B) 0.01 mM, or C) 0.1 mM. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted and imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 10 - 11 fish.



Figure 4.5. Zebrafish imprint to a mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine. Fish from 0.5 to 7 dpf were reared with embryo media only (non-imprinted fish), 0.1 mM L-leucine only (L-leucine imprinted fish) or a mixture of 0.1 mM L-leucine and L-lysine (L-leucine/L-lysine imprinted fish) and then as adults observed for their behavioural responses to A) 0.1 mM L-leucine B), 0.1 mM L-lysine, or to C) a mixture of 0.1 mM L-leucine and L-lysine. The amount of time individual fish spent in the odour zone of an avoidance-attraction trough pre- and post-odour introduction are represented by grey circles, with the difference traced for each fish by a solid black line. The difference in means for how much time fish spent with the odourant after its introduction is shown by the solid red line. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used to determine the effects on treatment type (non-imprinted, L-leucine imprinted, and L-leucine/L-lysine imprinted fish) and 10 min time period (pre- and post- odour introduction). All treatments had 15 - 25 fish.

Chapter 5: Age-associated changes to the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) olfactory epithelium anatomy, olfactory sensory neuron activation, and olfactory-mediated behaviours

Abstract

Aging is associated with hyposmia, which is a weakening of the sense of smell. Hyposmia is believed to at least partially result from a thinning of the olfactory epithelium and a decline in the number of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), of which there are multiple classes. However, aging studies have not explored whether all OSN classes decline in the same manner. Here, using a zebrafish model, I explored whether the decline in OSNs that happens over a lifetime occurred to all OSN classes or to specific OSN classes. I expected it to be class-specific because the OSN classes are differentially sensitive to stressors. I organized zebrafish into three age groups: young-aged ($3 \mod -1$ yrs old), middle-aged (1 - 2 years old) and old-aged (≥ 2 yrs old). Age did not affect olfactory epithelium thickness, but it did consistently decrease microvillus but not ciliated OSN density. This change was not associated with any apparent differences in OSN class-specific genes including gnal2, adcy3b and plcb3. There were, however, some differences in OSN activation and downstream behavioural responses to odourants. As microvillus OSNs detect amino acids, I expected that there might have been a diminished activation of these neurons by L-cysteine. Surprisingly, the expression of pERK, a neuronal activation marker, was increased at middle age, not young or old, and was not different between OSN classes. Furthermore, a behavioural response to L-cysteine was also apparent, but only at middle age. The data confirm that age brings changes in the cellular structure of the olfactory epithelium, and that these changes can be OSN class-specific. The data also indicate that the relationship between olfactory tissue anatomy and function are not straightforward and can in fact oppose each other at times in life. It is possible that there may be compensatory mechanisms that maintain or even enhance olfactory responsiveness at middle age that no longer apply at old age, but this remains for study.

Introduction

As animals age they lose their ability to sense their environment. For example, aging weakens olfaction, and this decreased sense of smell is referred to as hyposmia (Patel & Larson, 2009; Rawson et al., 2012; Rey et al., 2012; Suzuki et al., 2021). Aging-associated hyposmia is often associated with structural changes to the olfactory system including at the peripheral olfactory organ. This organ contains an olfactory epithelium, which consists of stem cells, supporting cells, and OSNs that detect odourants (Morrison & Costanzo, 1990). Structural changes include the thinning of the olfactory epithelium and decreased OSN density and a turnover rate that correlates with reduced progenitor cell proliferation (Child et al., 2018; Jia & Hegg, 2015; Kondo et al., 2010; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). As OSNs generate signals that are mediated by signal-transduction pathways, decreases in OSN density may reduce signalling amplitude at the olfactory epithelium in response to odourants (Buiakova et al., 1996; Thesen & Murphy, 2001; Zhang et al., 2017). Therefore, aging may affect olfactory-mediated behaviours as signals are relayed from OSNs to higher-order processing centers (Xu et al., 2005). However, recent studies suggest that signalling sensitivity to certain odourants can be maintained despite decreased OSN density, and therefore, aging may not affect OSN signalling sensitivity or behaviour (Lee et al., 2009; Kass et al., 2018; Sabiniewicz et al., 2023).

Multiple OSN classes exist within the olfactory epithelium and each class has different sensitivity towards specific subsets of odourants. Two classes that are consistently found across vertebrates are ciliated and microvillus OSNs (Kratzing, 1975; Zuri et al., 1998; Lipschitz, 2002; Saito et al., 2010; Benzekri & Reiss, 2012). In fish, ciliated OSNs respond most strongly to bile acids while microvillus OSNs respond most strongly to amino acids (Lipschitz and Michel, 2002; Sato et al., 2005, Koide et al., 2009). Detection of bile acids and amino acids activates class-specific transduction pathways, in which ciliated OSNs have an adenylyl cyclase (AC) pathway and microvillus OSNs have a phospholipase-C (PLC) pathway (Wong et al., 2000; Hansen et al., 2003). While no studies have yet focused on age-associated effects on multiple OSN classes, toxicological studies using fish have demonstrated that different OSN classes have differential regenerative capacity owing to differences in precursor proliferation rates (Lazzari et al., 2017; Heffern et al., 2018; Ma et al., 2018). Furthermore, toxicants may differentially affect responses to different odourants, including bile acids and amino acids (Tierney et al., 2007;

Kolmakov et al., 2009; Dew et al., 2014). It is therefore possible that with aging, changes in the number of OSNs are class-specific due to differences in precursor proliferation rates. Such changes could be apparent in changing physiological or behavioural responses to OSN class-specific odourants.

The objective of the current study was to use molecular, anatomical, physiological, and behavioural endpoints to determine how aging-associated anatomical changes to the olfactory epithelium correspond to the development of hyposmia (Figure 5.1). The focus on age-associated effects between OSN classes and their impact on olfactory functionality will demonstrate if olfaction changes with certain odours only. I used the popular vertebrate model, the zebrafish, which have five OSN classes including ciliated and microvillus OSNs (Ahuja et al., 2014; Hansen & Eckart, 1998; Wakisaka et al., 2017). The findings from this study have implications beyond zebrafish as the olfactory system is highly conserved across vertebrates.

Methods

Fish Husbandry

A colony of tüpfel longfin zebrafish were housed in a self-circulating aquatic racks system (Aquaneering, San Deigo, CA, USA) that contained 28 ± 0.5 °C reverse-osmosis (RO) water. Fish were fed twice daily consisting of artemia and Zeigler zebrafish diet (Gardners, PA, USA), and were subjected to a photoperiod of 14:10 hr light: dark cycle. Prior to any experiments, zebrafish were organized into one of three age groups: young-aged fish (3 mo – 1 yr old), middle-aged fish (1 – 2 yrs old), or old-aged fish (> 2 yrs old). Sex was balanced or near balanced between each age group. All animals were treated in accordance with the University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use committee (AUP no. 052)

Olfactory epithelium anatomy

I first examined whether the olfactory epithelium would change with age. In fish, the olfactory epithelium is located within finger-like projections called lamellae (Hansen & Eckart, 1998). Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was used to determine olfactory epithelium thickness and overall cell density across young-, middle-, and old-aged zebrafish. Fish were first euthanized from an overdose of tricaine mesylate (TMS; Syndel, Nanaimo, BC, Canada) that

was buffered with bicarbonate (stock concentration = 2.5 g/L, pH = 7.2). Fish were decapitated with the heads immediately transferred into 10% neutral-buffered formalin for fixation for 1 day at 4°C. After fixation, the samples were decalcified using Cal-ExTM (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) for 4 to 7 hrs. The heads were dehydrated by ascending ethanol washes and then embedded in paraffin. Five micrometer horizontal sections were cut using a microtome (Lecia, RM2125 RTS), mounted on Superior Quality Microscope Slides (Bio Nuclear Diagnostics, Toronto, Ontario, Canada), and incubated overnight at 37°C. Sections were deparaffinized in toluene, rehydrated in descending ethanol washes and then H&E stained. Observers were blinded prior to imaging slides. Sections were imaged under the same light conditions on a Zeiss Axio Scope A1 Microscope at 20x and 40x magnification to measure olfactory epithelium thickness and cell density, respectively. Images were analyzed on FIJI (ImageJ). Olfactory epithelium thickness was measured across 4 sections per fish. For each section, three lamellae were randomly selected to measure the olfactory epithelium thickness from the basal membrane to the apical surface that excluded cilia. Three measurements were taken along the sensory region of a lamella. Cell density was counted for three chosen lamellae that appeared across three sections per fish. Cell density was determined on three 30 µm in length regions from the basal membrane to the apical surface of a lamella.

After measuring the lamellae, separate sections were taken for immunohistochemistry (IHC). IHC was used to quantify ciliated and microvillus OSN abundance across young-, middle-, and old-aged fish. Fish were overdosed with TMS and then decapitated. Heads were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 ± 4 hrs at 4°C and then decalcified with 0.5 M ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) for 7 days at 4°C. Following decalcification, heads were dehydrated in ascending ethanol washes and embedded in paraffin. Five micrometer-thick horizontal sections were cut, mounted on Superfrost Plus Microscope Slides (Fisherbrand, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) and incubated overnight at 37°C.

IHC staining of the olfactory epithelium was done by using a Vectastain Elite ABC: Universal Kit, HRP (Horse Anti-mouse/rabbit IgG) kit (BioLynx, Brockville, Ontario, Canada). Slides were kept at room temperature unless specified. Sections were first deparaffinized with xylenes (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and dehydrated with ascending ethanol washes. Sections were rinsed with three 30 min washes in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Sections

were immersed in 1x sodium citrate buffer solution + 0.05% tween (pH = 6; Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA) for 10 min at 95°C in an oven. Samples were rinsed again in three 30 min PBS washes. Samples were quenched for endogenous peroxidase activity using BLOXALL for 10 min. Samples were rinsed with three 30 min washes in PBS-tween (PBS-T). Slides were blocked for 2 hrs with 2.5% normal horse serum (NHS) + 1% bovine serum albumin. The olfactory epithelium was incubated in primary antibodies with blocking solution overnight at 4°C. Ciliated OSNs were stained with monoclonal-mouse $G_{\alpha/olf}$ antibody (1:200, sc-55545; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dhallas, Texas, USA) and microvillus OSNs were stained with polyclonal-rabbit TRPC2 antibody (1:200, LS-C95010; LSBio Lynnwood, Washington, USA). Slides were returned to room temperature the following day and rinsed in three 30 min PBS-T washes. Sections were exposed to biotinylated anti-mouse/anti-rabbit secondary antibodies for an hour and then rinsed in two 30 min PBS-T washes followed by two 30 min PBS washes. Staining of ciliated and microvillus OSNs was visualized with 3,3'diaminobenzedine (DAB) that was optimized for a one min exposure period.

The olfactory epithelium stained for ciliated or microvillus OSNs were imaged on a Zeiss Axio Scope A1 Microscope at 40x magnification under the same light conditions. Observers were blinded prior to measuring ciliated and microvillus OSN abundance, which was indirectly determined by taking optical density (OD) measurements on ImageJ; $OD = \log$ (background grey value/region of interest grey value) as reported in Bettini et al. (2016). Optical density values were averaged from three sections, in which three lamellae were randomly chosen per section. Optical density values were determined across three 30 µm in length regions on each side of a given lamella from the basement membrane to the apical side excluding cilia. Optical density was not determined for 10 µm intervals that interconnected between the 30 µm in length measured regions.

Olfactory signal-transduction pathway gene expression

Real-time PCR (qPCR) was used to quantify genes involved in the olfactory AC and PLC signal-transduction pathway of ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively. Six young-, middle-, or old-aged male or female fish were placed in a 5.7 L tank containing 5 L RO water where they

acclimated for 24 hrs. Three out of the six fish were transferred into a second 5.7 L tank and following another 24 hrs, they were used for RNA extraction. These fish were euthanized from a TMS overdose, and then decapitated anteriorly from the eye as the tissue contained the olfactory epithelium. The tissues were mechanically homogenized and pooled into TRIzolTM (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA, USA) in order to initiate RNA extractions, which was based on the manufacturer's guidelines. RNA samples were stored in RNase-free water at -80°C until analysis. This was replicated three to four times per age group.

RNA purity was measured on a NanoDrop ND-100, in which all samples had acceptable 260:230 nm and 260:280 nm ratios of being above 1.5. RNA integrity was assessed by an RNA Nano 6000 Assay Kit for the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzers, in which all samples had an RNA Integrity Number above 7. RNA concentration was determined using a Qubit fluorometer (InvitrogenTM, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Following quality control, cDNA was synthesized out of total RNA using a SuperScriptTM III First Strand Synthesis System (InvitrogenTM) as described by the manufacturer on Mastercycler Pro S (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany).

Primer efficiencies were determined before running qPCR experiments, with acceptable values falling in the range of between 90 and 110%. Experiments were run on 96 well plates on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Each reaction contained 2.5 μ L forward/reverse gene specific primers, 2.5 μ L cDNA template, and 5.0 μ L custom SYBER Green master mix. Every cDNA amplification sequence was run in triplicates. Each qPCR reaction was denatured at 95°C for 2 min and then cycled 40x through a 15 s denature step at 95°C followed by a 1 min annealing step at 60°C. The generation of a single product was confirmed from dissociation curves. All genes were normalized to the endogenous control, tubulin- α 1 (TUB-A1). The threshold cycle (Ct value) was used to determine target cDNA amplification levels. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.

Targeted genes for the ciliated OSN signal transduction pathway included adenylyl cyclase 3b (adcy3b) and $G_{\alpha olf2}$ (gnal2). Phospholipase-C β 3 (PLC-b3) was used to target the microvillus OSN signal transduction pathway. Specific primer sequences are listed in Table 5.1.

Behaviour assay

Young-, middle-, and old-aged fish were recorded for their responses towards an amino acid (L-cysteine; Sigma-Aldrich) and a bile acid (taurocholic acid, TCA; Millipore), which are detected by microvillus and ciliated OSNs, respectively (Lipschitz and Michel, 2002; Sato et al., 2005; Koide et al., 2009). Fish response towards L-cysteine and TCA were compared to their response towards RO water, which served as a negative control. Fish were placed in a $20 \times 9 \times 8 \text{ cm}$ ($1 \times w \times h$) tank containing 800 mL of 28°C RO water and their behaviour was recorded using an overhead dome colour IR camera (SAV-CD120; Matcow, Stow, Ohio, USA). EthoVisionXT10 (Noldus, Wageningen, Netherlands) was used for live tracking fish movement to measure differences in average velocity (cm/s) and number of sharp turns (>90°) in response to the three odour stimuli. The tank was situated in a dark chamber devoid of any visual stimuli. Once the fish were placed in the tank, they were given a 50 min acclimation period, followed by the recording of a 5 min activity period without any odours injected into the tank. After this 5 min period was over, water, 0.01 mM TCA or 0.1 mM L-cysteine was injected into the tank and fish behaviour was recorded for another 5 minutes. Tanks were rinsed three times with RO water between experiments.

Neuronal activity

A subset of zebrafish that underwent behaviour experiments were immediately euthanized with an overdose of TMS to determine if water, TCA, or L-cysteine increased neuronal activity at the olfactory epithelium. Following euthanasia, fish were decapitated, fixed in 4% PFA overnight at 4°C and then decalcified in 0.5 M EDTA for 7 days at 4°C. Heads were dehydrated in ascending ethanol washes and embedded in paraffin. Five micrometer thick sections were mounted on SuperFrost Plus Microscope Slides and incubated overnight at 37°C. The olfactory epithelium was stained for the neuronal activation marker, pERK (1:100, p-44/42; New England Biolabs, Ipswich, Massachusetts, USA), using the same IHC protocol as described above in *Olfactory epithelium morphology and anatomy*, except for the fact that nickelintensified DAB (BioLynx) was used for 1 min to enhance visualization of pERK immunoreactivity. Images of olfactory epithelial tissue stained for pERK were captured on a Zeiss Axio Scope A1 Microscope at 40x magnification under the same light conditions. Observers were blinded before using ImageJ to count cells that had increased pERK immunoreactivity. Three random lamellae were chosen per section with 3 sections analyzed per fish. A standardized staining intensity threshold across all images was used to discriminate cells that had increased pERK activity from background noise. On each side of a lamella, cells that passed the threshold were manually counted within three 30 μ m in length regions from the basement membrane to the apical side excluding cilia. Ten micrometer intervals that interconnected between the 30 μ m in length measured regions were excluded from data collection.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were run on SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA). Analysis on olfactory epithelium thickness and cell density, ciliated and microvillus OSN optical density, and ciliated and microvillus OSN signal-transduction pathway gene expression were based on one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). A non-linear regression model was also used to examine changes in microvillus and ciliated OSN optical density values across age to ensure that binning data into three age groups did not misrepresent conclusions drawn from the dataset. Analysis on zebrafish behaviour and pERK immunoreactivity in response to water, L-cysteine, and TCA were based on two-way (Age group × Treatment type) ANOVAs. Tukey and holmsidak post hoc tests were used for one-way ANOVA and two-way ANOVA analyses, respectively. All analyses were tested for the assumptions of normality and equal variance. Log transformations were performed on data that failed either assumption. If log transformations failed, analyses were used on ranked data instead. Outliers were removed if they passed Grubb's Method on GraphPad v9.5. Statistical significance was defined by $\alpha = 0.05$. All data are represented as mean \pm SEM.

Results

Changes in olfactory epithelium anatomy over age

Olfactory epithelium thickness was similar between young-, middle-, and old-aged zebrafish ($F_{2,28} = 0.907$, p = 0.417; Figure 5.2A). However, cell density varied by age ($F_{2,25} =$

6.03, p = 0.008) as young-aged fish had a greater number of cells compared to middle- (p = 0.046) and old-aged fish (p = 0.010; Figure 5.2B).

Ciliated OSN optical density for $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity was similar between young-, middle-, and old-aged fish (F_{2,27} = 1.63, p = 0.217; Figure 5.3A), potentially owing to moderate biological variation across age (R² = 0.16, p = 0.11, Figure 5.4A) Microvillus OSN optical density for TRPC2 immunoreactivity varied by age (F_{2,26} = 5.15, p = 0.014; Figure 5.3B) with an apparent decrease between middle- and old-aged fish (p = 0.011). Regression analysis also revealed that TRPC2 immunoreactivity varied by age despite the moderate biological variation between samples (R² = 0.23, p = 0.045, Figure 5.4B).

Age-related changes in expression of ciliated and microvillus OSN signal-transduction markers

The genetic markers selected for revealing age-related changes to the AC signaltransduction pathway of ciliated OSNs did not reveal any differences between young-, middleand old-aged fish ($F_{2,3} = 0.427$, p = 0.67; $F_{2,3} = 0.359$, p = 0.71 for adcy3b and gnal, respectively; Figure 5.5). The genetic marker selected for revealing age-related changed to the PLC signaltransduction pathway of microvillus OSNs also did not reveal any differences ($F_{2,3} = 0.273$, p = 0.77 for PLC-b3).

Age-related changes in behavioural response to water, L-cysteine, and TCA

Zebrafish did not alter swim speed in response to water, L-cysteine, or TCA, regardless of their age ($F_{2,3} = 0.00803$, p = 0.99; Figure 5.6A). However, there was a difference in the number of turns made in response to L-cysteine ($F_{4,122} = 2.51$, p = 0.046). After L-cysteine introduction, the number of turns made by middle-aged fish was higher than in young-aged fish (p = 0.004; Figure 5.6B). This suggested that the assay did work, at least for the one odourant.

Age-related changes in neuronal activity during water, L-cysteine, and TCA exposures

An immediate neuronal response was apparent following the introduction of L-cysteine and TCA ($\chi_{2,3} = 5.09$, p = 0.010; Figure 5.7). Responses in young- and old-aged fish were not significant to either odourant whereas they were in middle-aged fish (p = 0.022 and 0.040 for L-

cysteine and TCA-exposed fish, respectively). This suggests that olfaction was most functional at middle age. Having said that, neuronal activity did tend to be apparent in some of the young-aged fish, but differences were likely obscured by responses to control.

Discussion

As with other vertebrates, a change in the anatomy of the olfactory epithelium was noted with zebrafish. While a general thinning was not observed, as was expected, a decrease in density of OSNs was determined, but of interest, for one OSN class only. Specifically, only microvillus OSN density decreased with aging. The difference in olfactory epithelium anatomy was associated with a change in their behaviour that was only evident in middle-aged fish exposed to L-cysteine. Neuronal activation during odourant exposure was also only seen in middle-aged fish. This suggests that age-associated anatomical changes to the olfactory epithelium do not dictate changes to neuronal activation or olfactory-mediated behaviours. Furthermore, olfaction may be most functional at middle age.

Overall, age did not affect zebrafish olfactory epithelium anatomy. Olfactory epithelium thickness was similar between young-, middle-, and old-aged zebrafish, despite a decline in cell density as fish aged. The decreased cell density may have derived from a decreased quantity or proliferation of stem cells that give rise to other cell types in the olfactory epithelium (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Medrano et al., 2009; Ueha et al., 2018). It is also possible that the decreased cell density led to larger sized cells and larger gaps between the cells, thereby maintaining olfactory epithelium thickness across the three age groups (Greenberg et al., 1977). Furthermore, zebrafish were raised in an aquatic racks system that minimized the introduction of contaminants, thereby likely demonstrating the effects of physiological aging processes on olfactory epithelium anatomy. Nevertheless, this finding contradicts other studies that found that olfactory epithelium thickness decreases with aging (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018).

Changes to OSN density were class specific. Specifically, microvillus OSN density decreased in old-aged zebrafish while ciliated OSN density was similar across age. This differential effect between OSN classes may be explained by proliferation differences in progenitor cells, with microvillus and ciliated OSNs having decreased and unchanged turnover rates during aging, respectively (Kondo et al., 2010; Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). It is

worthwhile to examine how age affects OSN classes besides ciliated and microvillus OSNs. In the zebrafish olfactory epithelium, there are also crypt cells, kappe neurons, and pear-shaped neurons, which detect odourants that are different from those that are detected by ciliated and microvillus OSNs, but may be equally important to the fish (Ahuja et al., 2014; Hansen & Eckart, 1998; Wakisaka et al., 2017). As ciliated OSNs are most sensitive to bile acids and microvillus OSNs are most sensitive to amino acids, the differential age effect on OSN classes is a major new finding, in part because animals may be able to respond to bile acids regardless of age while responses to amino acids may be absent in the aging population (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005).

There was an expectation that activation of OSNs would be apparent to varying degrees between young-, middle-, and old-aged zebrafish that were exposed to L-cysteine or TCA, which are detected by microvillus and ciliated OSNs, respectively (Lipschitz and Michel, 2002; Sato et al., 2005; Koide et al., 2009). This was not the case as the neuronal activation marker, pERK, was elevated only in middle-aged fish that were exposed to either odourants. Furthermore, only middle-aged fish responded to L-cysteine by increasing the number of sharp turns elicited, and fish across the three age groups did not respond to TCA. In regard to swimming activity during odourant exposures, one study also demonstrated that L-cysteine increases the number of sharp turns zebrafish elicit (Kermen et al., 2020). However, this study also demonstrated that bile acids increase fish movement. Nevertheless, my findings suggest that olfaction was most functional in middle-aged fish. In contrast, exposing old-aged fish to the two odourants did not activate OSNs or evoke behavioural responses. In comparison to middle-aged fish, this finding may imply aging-associated hyposmia that was non-specific to L-cysteine and TCA even though microvillus OSN and not ciliated OSN density decreased in old-aged fish. However, neuronal activation was also absent in young-aged fish that were exposed to the two odourants. This is surprising as cell density within the olfactory epithelium was highest in this age group. Furthermore, microvillus OSN density was similar between young- and middle-aged fish, yet only middle-aged fish responded to L-cysteine. Therefore, age-associated changes to the olfactory epithelium anatomy may not dictate changes to neuronal acuity or behavioural responses to odourants. Instead, ageassociated changes in olfactory sensitivity to TCA and L-cysteine may depend on changes in AC and PLC signal-transduction pathways of ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively (Carlson et al., 2008; Gerschütz et al., 2014). The current study found that expression of genetic markers
involved in either transduction pathways were not different between young-, middle- and oldaged fish. It is important to note that gene expression does not necessarily dictate activity.

Hyposmia is often defined as a decreased sense of smell. A recent discussion has been to improve the clarity of olfactory nomenclature, including the definition of hyposmia (Hernandez et al., 2023). This study's findings demonstrate the importance of defining hyposmia clearly. Aging induced hyposmia in terms of decreasing microvillus OSN density and OSN activation during L-cysteine and TCA exposures. However, aging did not affect olfactory epithelium thickness or ciliated OSN density.

In conclusion, age-associated structural changes to the olfactory epithelium do not dictate changes in OSN activation or behaviour during odourant detection. Specifically, this study's findings suggest that age may have OSN class-specific effects as ciliated OSN density remained the same across age while microvillus OSN density decreased with aging. However, increased neuronal activation and changes in behaviour towards an amino acid and a bile acid were seen only in middle-aged fish. Throughout an animal's lifespan, olfaction may be most functional at middle age.

Tables

Target gene name	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence	Accession number
	(5' – 3')	(5'-3')	
TUB-A1	GCC TGG GCT	AAC TCG CCC	<u>AF029250.1</u>
	CGT CTG GAT	TCC TCC ATA	
		CC	
gnal2	GTC ACT ACT	CTG CCG CAG	<u>NM_001366715.1</u>
	GTT ACC CCC	GTG CAT TC	
	ATT TCA C		
adcy3b	ATC CTG AAG	CAA GAT TTG	<u>XR_659225.3</u>
	GAG TAC GGT	CCT TGT ATC	
	TTT CG	TGA TGT G	
PLC-b3	GAG GCA GAG	AGA GTT TGG	<u>NM_001122773.1</u>
	CTA AAG CGT	GCC GTC ATT G	
	TTG		

 Table 5.1. Primer sequences and accession numbers for target genes.

Figures



Figure 5.1. A schematic on how age may affect behaviour and activation of ciliated and microvillus OSNs in response to TCA or L-cysteine. This image was made using BioRender.com



Figure 5.2. Changes in olfactory epithelium morphology across young-, middle-, and old-aged fish. Measurements were A) olfactory epithelium thickness at 20x magnification, and B) olfactory epithelium cell density at 40x magnification. H&E was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.



Figure 5.3. Changes in ciliated and microvillus OSN density across young-, middle- and oldaged fish, Measurements were A) $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity for ciliated OSN density, and B) TRPC2 immunoreactivity for microvillus OSN density. IHC was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean ± SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.



Figure 5.4. Changes in ciliated and microvillus OSN density across age (months). Measurements were A) $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity for ciliated OSN density, and B) TRPC2 immunoreactivity for microvillus OSN density. IHC was used to stain the olfactory epithelium. Data points from individual fish are shown in dark blue dot. Statistical analysis was based on a non-linear regression ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 5.5. Relative expression of genes involved in the olfactory AC pathway (adcy3b and gnal2) and PLC pathway (PLC-b3), based on qPCR experiments. Genes were normalized to TUB-A1. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was based on a one-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 5.6. Young-, middle- and old-aged zebrafish responses to water, 0.1 mM L-cysteine and 0.01 mM taurocholic acid (TCA). Behavioural parameters were changes in A) swim speed (cm/s), and B) number of sharp turned (>90°) elicited (n = 10 - 23 for all treatments per age group). Fish were exposed to one of the three stimuli for 5 minutes after a 5-minute period where no odourants were introduced. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analyses were based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 5.7. Activation of OSNs in young-, middle- and old-aged fish exposed to water, 0.1 mM L-cysteine or 0.01 mM taurocholic acid (TCA) (n = 5 - 8 for all treatments per age group). Fish were exposed to one of the three stimuli for 5 minutes after a 5-minute period where no odourants were introduced. Measurements for neuronal activation was based on IHC staining for pERK activity with images captured at 40x magnification. Sample images were taken from

middle-aged fish exposed to water, L-cysteine, or TCA. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analyses were based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.

Chapter 6: Age affects olfactory toxicity from copper sulfate exposures in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*)

Abstract

The olfactory system is continuously vulnerable to damage from toxicants. For example, copper induces apoptosis at the olfactory epithelium and reduces the number of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), of which there are multiple classes including bile acid-detecting ciliated OSNs and amino acid detecting-microvillus OSNs. In regard to these two OSN classes, copper exposures may affect their numbers differently. Such damage is reversible, at least for environmentally realistic copper concentrations. However, regenerative capacity of the olfactory epithelium may weaken with aging as proliferation of progenitor cells decreases. Using zebrafish, I demonstrated that age affects olfactory toxicity from copper exposures with a focus on differential toxic effects between microvillus and ciliated OSNs. I specifically examined changes to olfactory epithelium thickness, density of ciliated and microvillus OSNs, expression of genes specific to ciliated and microvillus OSN signal-transduction pathways, and preference responses to an amino acid (L-cysteine) and a bile acid (taurocholic acid). Copper exposures decreased olfactory epithelium thickness and did not affect ciliated or microvillus OSN density, regardless of age. Differential toxicity was seen in aging fish as copper downregulated expression of genes specific to ciliated OSNs including gnal2 and adcy3b. Age influenced how copper affected olfactory-mediated responses. While copper did not affect a behavioural response to taurocholic acid, it did affect those of middle-aged fish to L-cysteine. As old-aged fish did not respond to L-cysteine, copper exposures were not associated with a response. Throughout an animal's lifespan, olfaction may be most functional at middle age, but during this time olfactory functionality may also be most vulnerable to disruption by toxicants such as from copper exposures. As animals age, effects from toxicants on olfaction become less relevant as aging-associated hyposmia is induced.

Introduction

Olfaction facilitates invaluable interactions between animals and their chemical environment. Chemical cues may be referred to as odourants, are detected by the olfactory

system, which begins with the peripheral olfactory organ. This organ contains an olfactory epithelium that consists of odourant-detecting olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), supporting cells, and stem cells that give rise to all cell types within the epithelium (Morrison & Costanzo, 1990, 1992). Regarding OSNs, there are multiple classes, and each class has a different sensitivity to specific subsets of odourants. Ciliated and microvillus OSNs are two classes found across vertebrates, and in fish, they are most sensitive to bile acids and amino acids, respectively (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). During odourant detection, signals are generated within OSNs by transduction pathways that are class-specific (Pace et al., 1985; Sklar et al., 1986; Berghard & Buck, 1996). Ciliated OSNs have an adenylyl cyclase (AC) pathway while microvillus OSNs have a phospholipase-C (PLC) pathway (Hansen et al., 2003; Wong et al., 2000). Olfactory signals propagate along OSNs to higher-order processing centers that influence behaviour (Xu et al., 2005). Olfactory-mediated behaviours include foraging, avoiding predators and finding kin or mates (Petranka et al., 1987; Nevitt, 1999; Barata et al., 2007; Roberts et al., 2018).

Throughout an animal's lifespan, the olfactory system will continuously receive chemical pressure from the environment. In fact, the olfactory epithelium is in direct contact with the environment and is therefore vulnerable to damage by toxicants. For example, copper enters the hydrosphere through urban runoffs and causes apoptosis at the olfactory epithelium, which correspondingly decreases its thickness (Julliard et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2013; Lazzari et al., 2017). Interestingly, there is data to suggest that not all OSNs are equally affected by copper exposures. For example, two studies using zebrafish demonstrated that ciliated OSNs were more sensitive to copper toxicity than microvillus OSNs (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). This differential toxicity can also be seen in various toxicants that disrupt either the AC or PLC signal-transduction pathways of ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively (Shahriari et al., 2023). Other toxicants can also cause differential OSN toxicity (Tierney et al., 2010; Shahriari et al., 2023). As toxicants may have class-specific effects on OSNs and their associated signaltransduction pathways, toxicants may also affect responses to certain odourants only. For fish species exposed to copper, olfactory signals from bile acids may be disrupted to a greater extent than those from amino acids (Kolmakov et al., 2009; Dew et al., 2014; Razmara et al., 2019). However, this differential impact on olfaction has not always been observed as one study demonstrated that copper affected the generation of olfactory signals in salmon exposed to amino acids and bile acids (Baldwin et al., 2003). This may have owed to differences in species sensitivities or copper concentrations.

The olfactory epithelium has remarkable resistance to toxic agents. There is considerable activity of biotransformation enzymes, which inactivate toxicants (Ben-Arie et al., 1993; Monod et al., 1994; Matsuo et al., 2008). As well, metal exposures will increase the expression of metallothioneins, which chelate metals to limit adverse effects (Williams & Gallagher, 2013; Williams et al., 2016). Furthermore, damage to the olfactory epithelium after toxicant exposures is reversible as progenitor cells proliferate to replace damaged cells (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Lazzari et al., 2019). However, the capacity of OSN regeneration after toxicant exposures may be class specific.

Resistance to olfactory toxicants and regenerative capacity may reduce as animals age. This may owe to several factors. For example, the expression of biotransformation enzyme and metallothioneins decreases past middle age (Malavolta et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2019) Aging also decreases progenitor cell proliferation (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). Changes such as these may affect all OSN classes together (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Lazzari et al., 2019). Furthermore, aging is associated with hyposmia, which refers to a weakened olfactory sense (Patel & Larson, 2009; Rawson et al., 2012; Suzuki et al., 2021). The addition of toxicant exposures may exacerbate hyposmia.

The objective of the current study was to determine how age affects olfactory toxicity with a focus on examining differential toxicity to ciliated and microvillus OSNs. I used the popular model, the zebrafish, in which I exposed them to copper sulfate. Copper was chosen as it was previously found to differentially affect ciliated and microvillus OSNs in the context of their specific responses to associated odourants (Kolmakov et al., 2009; Dew et al., 2014; Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Razmara et al., 2019)

Methods

Fish Husbandry

A colony of tüpfel longfin zebrafish were housed in a self-circulating aquatic racks system (Aquaneering, San Deigo, CA, USA) that contained 28 ± 0.5 °C reverse-osmosis (RO)

water. Fish were fed twice daily consisting of artemia and Zeigler zebrafish diet (Gardners, PA, USA), and were subjected to a photoperiod of 14:10 hr light: dark cycle. Prior to any experiments, zebrafish were categorized as middle-aged fish (1 - 2 yrs old) or old-aged fish (> 2 yrs old). Sex was balanced or near balanced between the two age groups. All animals were treated in accordance with the University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use committee (AUP no. 052).

Treatment exposures

Copper (II) sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was used to make 5 g/L of copper stock solutions, which were treated with 1% HNO₃ (FisherBrand, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) to maximize ion dissociation. Stock solutions were stored at 4°C.

Prior to exposures, six middle- or old-aged fish were acclimated for 24 ± 3 hrs in a 5.7 L glass tank that contained 5 L RO water that was heated to $28 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C. Following acclimation, half of the fish were placed in a new 5.7 L tank containing 5 L RO water only. This treatment acted as a control. The other half were placed in a third tank containing 5 L of 25 μ g/L copper solution, which is a concentration high enough to affect olfaction without impairing movement (Tilton et al., 2011; Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). Copper exposure tanks were pretreated with 25 μ g/L copper solution for one day to reach a stable state and copper concentration would not fluctuate during exposures. Fish were exposed to water only or to copper for 24 ± 3 hrs prior to any experimentation. Copper exposure tanks were rinsed with 5% HNO₃ followed by a rinse with water for one day prior to any reuse.

Olfactory epithelium morphology and anatomy

Zebrafish were euthanized from an overdose of tricaine mesylate (TMS; Syndel, Nanaimo, BC, Canada) that was buffered with bicarbonate (stock concentration = 2.5 g/L, pH = 7.2). Fish were decapitated with the heads immediately transferred into 4% paraformaldehyde for fixation for 20 ± 4 hrs at 4°C. After fixation, samples were decalcified using 0.5 M ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) for seven days at 4°C. Following decalcification, the heads were dehydrated by ascending ethanol washes and then embedded in paraffin. A microtome (Lecia, RM2125 RTS) was used to cut samples into five micrometer thick sections. Sections were mounted on Superior Quality Microscope Slides (Bio Nuclear Diagnostics, Toronto, Ontario, Canada) for hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining or mounted on Superfrost Plus Microscope Slides (Fisherbrand, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) for immunohistochemistry (IHC). Slides were incubated overnight at 37°C prior to tissue staining.

Olfactory epithelium thickness was quantified on sections that were H&E stained. Sections were first deparaffinized in toluene, rehydrated in descending ethanol washes and then H&E stained. Sections were imaged under the same light conditions on a Zeiss Axio Scope A1 Microscope at 20x magnification. Observers were blinded prior to analyzing images on FIJI (ImageJ). Olfactory epithelium thickness was measured across three sections per fish. For each section, three lamellae were randomly selected to measure the olfactory epithelium thickness from the basal membrane to the apical surface that excluded cilia. Three measurements were taken along the sensory region of a lamella.

Ciliated and microvillus OSN density were quantified using IHC. A Vectastain Elite ABC: Universal Kit, HRP (Horse Anti-mouse/rabbit IgG) kit (BioLynx, Brockville, Ontario, Canada) was used. Slides were kept at room temperature unless specified. Sections were deparaffinized with xylenes (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and dehydrated with ascending ethanol washes. Sections were rinsed with three 30 min washes in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and then immersed in 1x sodium citrate buffer solution + 0.05% tween (pH = 6; Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA) at 95°C in an oven for 10 min. Samples were rinsed again in three 30 min PBS washes. Samples were quenched for endogenous peroxidase activity using BLOXALL for 10 min. Samples were rinsed with three 30 min washes in PBS-tween (PBS-T). Slides were blocked for 2 hrs with 2.5% normal horse serum (NHS) + 1% bovine serum albumin. Sections were incubated in primary antibodies with blocking solution overnight at 4°C. Ciliated OSNs were stained with monoclonal-mouse $G_{\alpha/olf}$ antibody (1:200, sc-55545; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dhallas, Texas, USA) and microvillus OSNs were stained with polyclonal-rabbit TRPC2 antibody (1:200, LS-C95010; LSBio Lynnwood, Washington, USA). After primary antibody incubation, slides were returned to room temperature and rinsed in three 30 min PBS-T washes. Sections were incubated in biotinylated anti-mouse/anti-rabbit secondary antibodies for an hour and then rinsed in two 30 min PBS-T washes followed by two 30 min PBS washes. Sections were incubated for 30 min in an ABC reagent and then rinsed in two 30 min

PBS washes. Staining of ciliated and microvillus OSNs was visualized from 1 min 3,3'diaminobenzedine (DAB).

Images of the olfactory epithelium that were stained for ciliated or microvillus OSNs were captured on a Zeiss Axio Scope A1 Microscope at 40x magnification under the same light conditions. Observers were blinded prior to measuring ciliated and microvillus OSN density. OSN density was indirectly determined by taking optical density (OD) measurements on ImageJ; $OD = \log$ (background grey value/region of interest grey value) as reported in Bettini et al. (2016). Optical density values were averaged across three sections, in which three lamellae were randomly chosen per section. On each side of a lamellae, optical density values were determined across three 30 µm in length regions from the basement membrane to the apical side excluding cilia. Ten micrometer intervals that interconnected between the 30 µm in length measured regions were excluded from data collection.

Olfactory signal-transduction pathway gene expression

Real-time PCR (qPCR) was used to quantify expression of genes involved in the AC and PLC signal-transduction pathway of ciliated and microvillus OSNs, respectively. Three middleor old-aged fish that underwent water or copper exposures were euthanized from a TMS overdose. Fish were then decapitated anteriorly from the eye as the tissue contained the olfactory epithelium. The tissues were mechanically homogenized and pooled into TRIzolTM (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA, USA) in order to initiate RNA extractions, which was based on the manufacturer's guidelines. RNA samples were stored in RNase-free water at -80°C until analysis. This was replicated three to five times per age group.

RNA purity was measured on a NanoDrop ND-100, in which all samples had acceptable 260:230 nm and 260:280 nm ratios of being above 1.5. RNA integrity was assessed by an RNA Nano 6000 Assay Kit for the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzers, in which all but two samples had an RNA Integrity Number (RIN) above 7. A middle- and old-aged fish that were exposed to copper had a RIN number of 5.4 and 5.3, respectively. A Qubit fluorometer (InvitrogenTM, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to determine RNA concentrations. After quality control, total RNA was used to synthesize cDNA via a SuperScriptTM III First Strand Synthesis System (InvitrogenTM) as described by the manufacturer on Mastercycler Pro S (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany).

Primer efficiencies were determined prior to running qPCR experiments. Acceptable values were considered between 90 and 110%. Experiments were run on 96 well plates on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Each qPCR reaction contained 2.5 μ L forward/reverse gene specific primers, 2.5 μ L cDNA template, and 5.0 μ L custom SYBER Green master mix. Every cDNA amplification sequence was run in triplicates. Each qPCR reaction was denatured at 95°C for two minutes and then cycled 40x through a fifteen second denature step at 95°C followed by a one-minute annealing step at 60°C. Dissociation curves were used to confirm the generation of a single product. All genes were normalized to the endogenous control, tubulin- α 1 (TUB-A1). The threshold cycle (Ct value) was used to determine target cDNA amplification levels. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method.

Targeted genes specific to the ciliated OSN signal-transduction pathway included adenylyl cyclase 3b (adcy3b) and $G_{\alpha olf2}$ (gnal2), while the targeted gene that was specific to the microvillus OSN signal-transduction pathway was phospholipase-C β 3 (PLC-b3). Primer sequences are listed in Table 5.1.

Behaviour assay

Zebrafish were observed for their response to L-cysteine and taurocholic acid (TCA), which are detected by microvillus and ciliated OSNs, respectively (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). Fish preference responses to the two odourants were observed in an avoidance-attraction trough, detailed in Shahriari et al., 2021. In short, two inflows that were situated on opposite ends of the trough drained water into the trough at a flowrate of 0.7 l/min. The opposing flows subsequently drained through a central fenestrated pipe (inner diameter of 7 mm), which created two contiguous bodies of water that had minimal intermixing (an area of roughly 5 cm contained mixed water). This permitted the addition of an odourant through one of the two inflows to be restricted to the corresponding half of the trough, as visualized with dye trials (Figure 3.1). A water column depth of at least 5 cm was maintained. Fish movement was recorded using overhead dome colour IR cameras (SAV-CD120; Matcow, Stow, OH USA) that were connected to an Elgato Video Capture software (Elgato Systems, CA USA). An opaque curtain surrounded the apparatus and environmental auditory input was kept to a minimum.

A single zebrafish was placed in an avoidance-attraction trough and allowed to acclimate for 30 min. Fish movement was recorded for the last 10 min of this acclimation period, after which 0.001 mM TCA or 0.1 mM L-cysteine was added into one of the two inflows, chosen at random. These concentrations were selected as they evoke similar generator potential responses at the olfactory epithelium (Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995). Fish response was recorded for another 10 minutes. The amount of time fish spent in the body of water that contained the odourant where there was no intermixing was manually scored for this 10 min period and compared to how much time the fish spent in the same area for the 10 min period prior to odour introduction. This area of the trough containing the odourants was termed as *odour zone*.

Data analysis

SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA) was used to run all statistical analyses. Statistical analyses for olfactory epithelium thickness, ciliated and microvillus OSN density, ciliated and microvillus OSN signal-transduction pathway gene expression, and preference responses, were based on two-way (Age group × Treatment type) analysis of variance (ANOVA). Holm-sidak tests were performed for post hoc analyses. Assumptions of normality and equal variance were tested for all analyses. Log transformations were performed on data that failed either assumption. If log transformations failed for two-way ANOVAs, analyses were used on ranked data instead. Outliers were removed if they passed Grubb's Method on GraphPad v9.5. Statistical significance was defined by $\alpha = 0.05$. All data are represented as mean \pm SEM.

Results

Anatomical changes to the olfactory epithelium in middle- and old-aged fish after copper exposures

Copper reduced olfactory epithelium thickness in middle- and old-aged fish ($F_{1,2} = 40.3$, p < 0.001; Figure 6.1). Specifically, olfactory epithelium thickness of middle- and old-aged fish were $17 \pm 0.76 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $15 \pm 0.76 \ \mu\text{m}$, respectively. Copper exposures decreased olfactory epithelium thickness of middle- and old-aged fish to $12 \pm 0.83 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $9.8 \pm 0.76 \ \mu\text{m}$, respectively (p < 0.001 for both middle- and old-aged fish; Figure 6.1). Copper, however, did not

affect ciliated or microvillus OSN density regardless of age ($F_{1,2} = 0.164$, p = 0.690 for ciliated OSN density, and $F_{1,2} = 3.49$, p = 0.074 for microvillus OSN optical density; Figure 6.2A, B).

Changes in expression of genes specific to the AC and PLC signal-transduction pathways in middle- and old-aged fish after copper exposures

Copper reduced expression of the two target genes specific to the AC signal-transduction pathway of ciliated OSNs ($F_{1,2} = 5.19$, p = 0.042 for gnal2, and $F_{1,2} = 9.48$, p = 0.010 for adcy3b; Figure 6.4A, B) and did not affect the target gene specific to the PLC signal-transduction pathway of microvillus OSNs ($F_{1,2} = 3.78$, p = 0.076; Figure 6.4C). In regard to the AC signal-transduction pathway, copper affected gene expression only in old-aged fish (p = 0.024 and 0.020 for gnal2 and adcy3b, respectively).

Changes in response to an amino acid and a bile acid in middle- and old-aged fish after copper exposures

Age affected zebrafish behavioural response to L-cysteine ($\chi_{1,2} = 5.87$, p = 0.021; Figure 6.5A). This age effect was seen only in control fish (p = 0.027). While middle-aged fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 83 ± 24 s after L-cysteine was introduced into the trough, old-aged fish increased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 37 ± 57 s after the amino acid was introduced into the trough. Copper affected responses to L-cysteine with near statistical significance ($\chi_{1,2} = 3.84$, p = 0.059). The response seen in middle-aged control fish was absent in copper-exposed fish from the same age group (p = 0.056) as copper-exposed fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by only 2.9 ± 30 s after L-cysteine was introduced to the trough. Copper exposures did not affect responses to the amino acid in old-aged fish.

Responses to taurocholic acid were biphasic, with age driving whether an avoidance or attraction response was noted ($\chi_{1,2} = 8.09$, p = 0.007). Middle-aged fish decreased the amount of time spent in the odour zone by 37 ± 25 s while old-aged fish increased the amount of time spent by 27 ± 15 s after TCA was introduced to the trough (p = 0.020; Figure 6.5B). Copper did not affect responses to TCA, regardless of age ($\chi_{1,2} = 1.45$, p = 0.24).

Discussion

Copper is a well-known neurotoxicant that has been shown to reduce the ability of ciliated and microvillus OSNs to respond to bile acids and amino acids, respectively. What has not been explored, however, is whether such effects change over a lifetime. My study indicates that the toxicity of copper does change over age, and in an OSN-specific manner. Even though age did not affect copper toxicity to the zebrafish olfactory epithelium, it was only with middle-aged fish that copper disrupted behavioural responses to L-cysteine and not TCA. As aging-associated hyposmia was seen in old-aged fish responding to L-cysteine, copper toxicity to the olfactory epithelium and olfactory signal-transduction pathway were negligible.

Copper exposures decreased olfactory epithelium thickness in zebrafish regardless of age. This finding further supports the notion that copper induces apoptosis at the olfactory epithelium (Julliard et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2013; Lazzari et al., 2017). Even though damage to the olfactory epithelium progresses over multiple days, recovery is possible after pressure from acute copper exposures is removed, as progenitors cells proliferate to replace damaged cells (Julliard et al., 1996; Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018; Lazzari et al., 2019). Age may affect this regenerative capacity of the olfactory epithelium as proliferation of progenitor cells decreases with aging (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). Therefore, copper-induced decreases in olfactory epithelium thickness may be reversible in middle-aged fish while irreversible in old-aged fish.

Even though copper exposures decreased olfactory epithelium thickness, it did not affect the density of ciliated or microvillus OSNs regardless of age. This contradicts previous findings of differential toxicity to ciliated and microvillus OSN density, of which ciliated OSNs are more sensitive to copper exposures than microvillus OSNs are (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). It is possible that zebrafish from our study had high metallothionein activity, which is expressed in OSNs and binds to heavy metals to minimize olfactory toxicity (Skabo et al., 1997; Williams & Gallagher, 2013; Williams et al., 2016). Besides metallothioneins, biotransformation enzymes including glutathione-S transferase are expressed in OSNs (Starcevic & Zielinski, 1995). It is also possible that indirect quantification using optical density values may not capture changes in ciliated and microvillus OSN numbers when olfactory epithelium thickness decreases. Age influenced subcellular olfactory toxicity. Specifically, copper exposures downregulated expression of genes specific to the AC signal-transduction pathway of ciliated OSNs in old-aged zebrafish only. This aligns with previous studies that also demonstrated that copper affected gene expression in the AC signal-transduction pathway (Tilton et al. 2008; Tilton et al. 2011; Pfister et al. 2020). As bile acids activate the AC signal-transduction pathway, copper may disrupt olfactory signalling during bile acid stimulation even though copper did not affect ciliated OSN density (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). However, it is important to note that changes in gene expression of the AC transduction pathway may not dictate changes in transduction. Since copper exposures did not affect expression of plcb3, which is specific to the PLC signal-transduction pathway of microvillus OSNs, differential toxicity was seen in the aging population.

There was an expectation that copper exposures would affect zebrafish response to Lcysteine or TCA to some degree, as copper exposures affected olfactory epithelium thickness regardless of age and affected gene expression of the AC-signal transduction pathway in oldaged fish. Middle-aged fish avoided L-cysteine and TCA. While this avoidance to L-cysteine was expected, fish avoiding TCA contradicts previous findings of attraction towards the bile acid (Vitebsky et al., 2005; Koide et al., 2009). However, TCA is a social cue and therefore, may elicit different responses between fish. Copper exposures affected middle-aged fish response to L-cysteine and not to TCA. While this is the first study to demonstrate that copper disrupts responses to L-cysteine, previous work on cadmium toxicity, which affects ciliated and microvillus OSNs, showed that avoidance responses to the amino acid disappeared after cadmium exposure (Williams & Gallagher, 2013; Williams et al., 2016). Furthermore, there was a poor translation in how copper exposures affected olfactory epithelium anatomy and how the contaminant affected olfactory functionality. Even though olfactory epithelium thickness decreased while ciliated and microvillus OSN density remained unchanged, only responses to Lcysteine were affected. Besides copper, aging disrupted fish avoidance to L-cysteine and to TCA as this preference response seen in middle-aged fish disappeared in old-aged fish. This demonstrates aging-associated hyposmia. Therefore, when old-aged zebrafish were exposed to copper, no effects on olfactory functionality were observed. While copper may not have affected responses to TCA regardless of age, it only affected responses to L-cysteine within middle-aged fish. Altogether, copper decreased olfactory epithelium thickness and signal-transduction gene

expression, but these anatomical and molecular changes had a negligible impact on olfactory functionality due to aging already inducing hyposmia. Differential toxicity typically seen from copper exposures may also be minimized in the aging population.

In conclusion, age influenced how copper affected olfactory toxicity in zebrafish. This influence may come in one of two ways. First, aging may exacerbate olfactory toxicity such as what was observed in the downregulation of genes specific to the AC-signal transduction pathway in old-aged fish only. However, aging may also minimize the significance of olfactory toxicity from copper exposures as hyposmia is already induced. Throughout an animal's lifespan, olfaction may be most functional at middle age, but it is also during this time when olfaction may be most sensitive to disruption from toxicants including copper exposures.

Figures



Figure 6.1. Olfactory epithelium thickness in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. H&E was used to stain the olfactory epithelium with images captured at 20x magnification. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks indicating significant differences.



Figure 6.2. Ciliated OSN density in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Density was indirectly measured through optical density values of $G_{\alpha/olf}$ immunoreactivity from IHC staining of the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 6.3. Microvillus OSN density in middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Density was indirectly measured through optical density values of TRPC2 immunoreactivity from IHC staining of the olfactory epithelium. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Data points from individual female and male fish are shown in red and blue dots, respectively. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 6.4. Relative expression of A) gnal2 and B) adcy3b, which are involved in the AC pathway, and C) plcb3, which is involved in the PLC pathway, based on qPCR experiments. Genes were normalized to TUB-A1. Relative changes in gene expression were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Bar graphs represent mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was based on a two-way ANOVA ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks representing statistical significance.



Figure 6.5. Behaviour of middle- and old-aged zebrafish that underwent water or copper exposures. Fish preference responses to A) 0.1 mM L-cysteine and B) 0.001 mM taurocholic acid, were observed in an avoidance-attraction trough. Preference responses were determined by measuring the difference in how much time fish spent in the odour zone between the 10 min period after odourant introduction and the 10 min period prior to odourant introduction. Box and whisker plots show the spread of data with the box representing 50% of the data, the whiskers representing the bottom and top 25% of data, and the horizontal line representing the median. Data points from individual fish are shown in blue unfilled dots. Statistical analysis was based on two-way ANOVAs on ranked data ($\alpha = 0.05$) with asterisks representing statistical significance.

Chapter 7: Summary and general conclusions

Olfaction allows animals to receive invaluable chemical information about their environment, such as the location of food, predators, and kin or mates (Petranka et al., 1987; Nevitt, 1999; Barata et al., 2007; Roberts et al., 2018). Odourants are detected by OSNs, which are located at the olfactory epithelium (Morrison & Costanzo, 1990, 1992). Generation of signals during odourant detection are mediated by signal-transduction pathways of OSNs (Pace et al., 1985; Sklar et al., 1986; Berghard & Buck, 1996). These signals propagate from the OSNs to higher-order processing centers that mediate physiology and behaviour (Pace et al., 1985; Levy et al., 1991; Xu et al., 2005). In chapter 2 of my thesis, I reviewed the olfactory signaltransduction pathways of OSNs with an emphasis on how their impairment may change olfactory functionality (Shahriari et al., 2023).

Even though the olfactory system develops early, olfaction changes throughout an animal's lifespan. This is largely influenced by the environment. For example, the chemical environment during early development shapes future olfactory-mediated responses (Schaal et al., 2000; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006). Moreover, toxicants may damage the olfactory epithelium and disrupt responses normally seen towards odours (Tierney et al., 2010). Besides the environment, physiological processes also affect olfaction. While olfaction continues to develop through to adulthood, there is a certain point at which olfaction deteriorates from physiological aging-related processes (Patel & Larson, 2009; Rawson et al., 2012; Suzuki et al., 2021). This reduced sense of smell is referred to as hyposmia. These environmental and physiological factors are hardly if ever isolated, and instead interact to mediate olfaction. For example, age may affect olfactory toxicity from toxicant exposures. For my thesis, I examined how the nature of olfaction changes throughout life in the popular vertebrate model, the zebrafish. My thesis objective was split into two research questions: how does the chemical environment of early developing zebrafish affect future olfactory-mediated behaviours and how does olfaction change with age?

Responses to a binary mixture of attracting and repelling odourants speculated across age

In a natural setting, animals often detect multiple odourants simultaneously. For example, animals may encounter predator- and prey-relevant odourants in mixture. In this situation, a

decision may need to be made on whether to avoid or move towards this mixture of repelling and attracting odourants. In chapter 3 of my thesis, I examined how animals may respond to a binary mixture of odourants that on their own elicit opposite responses. Specifically, I observed adult zebrafish response to a binary mixture that contained an attracting amino acid and a repelling amino acid (Shahriari et al., 2021). I built and validated an avoidance-attraction trough to observe fish preference responses to odourants. Zebrafish elicited an attraction response to L-alanine and an avoidance response to L-cysteine. These behaviours were olfactory-mediated, which was confirmed by nasal tissue ablation. When fish were exposed to L-alanine and L-cysteine together, an avoidance response toward the mixture became attraction. In comparison to another study, finches displayed a combination of avoidance or delayed attraction to food odours in the presence of predator odours (Roth et al., 2008). In an ecological context, animals avoid foraging in areas that have a high risk of predation (Holbrook & Schmitt, 1988; Brinkerhoff et al., 2005; Dupuch et al., 2009; Suselbeek et al., 2014). Altogether, this means that repelling odourants outweigh attracting odourants.

My findings on how animals respond to a binary odourant mixture of an attracting amino acid and a repelling amino acid were based on behaviours elicited in zebrafish from a particular age group. Avoidance responses towards this binary odourant mixture of L-alanine and Lcysteine may change with age, especially in aging fish that have hyposmia. Specifically, the avoidance response to the mixture may be absent in the aging population, especially since amino acid-detecting microvillus OSNs decrease in number with age (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). Furthermore, responses to odourant mixtures may depend on what subset of odourants are being detected. Zebrafish exposed to a binary mixture of bile acids that attract and repel may demonstrate a response that is different from the amino acid mixture of L-alanine and L-cysteine. While the avoidance response to the amino acid mixture may be absent in aging zebrafish, responses to a mixture of attracting and repelling bile acids may be observed across all ages as the number of bile acid-detecting ciliated OSNs stays the same across age. Furthermore, animals tend to have higher sensitivity to repelling odourants than to attracting odourants (Michel & Lubomudrov, 1995; Boesveldt et al., 2010; Valentincic et al., 2011). Therefore, responses to repelling odourants or to a binary mixture that contained a repelling and an attracting odourant may persist throughout life.

Olfactory imprinting

Animals imprint to odourants during early development (Carter & Marr, 1970; Shoji et al., 2000; Atema et al., 2002; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006). Olfactory imprinting is associated with the formation of long-term memories that lead to changes in behavioural responses to the imprinted odourants (Marr & Gardner, 1965; Fillion & Blass, 1986). As animals detect multiple odourants simultaneously, interactions between odourants during their detection may affect olfactory imprinting (Kang & Caprio, 1997; Ishii et al., 2008; McClintock et al., 2020). Furthermore, the addition of an odourant may mask responses normally seen towards imprinted odourants (Cain, 1975; Osada et al., 2013). For the fourth chapter of my thesis, I tested if zebrafish could imprint to single amino acids and to a binary amino acid mixture with the expectation that the assay would less likely show that fish could imprint to multiple amino acids simultaneously over single amino acids. The rationale for this was that interactions between odourants in mixture would disrupt olfactory imprinting or mask responses to imprinted odourants. To test imprinting, I used the avoidance-attraction trough from the third chapter since fish responded to single odourants and to a binary odourant mixture. The imprinting assay was validated by demonstrating that zebrafish imprint to β -phenylethyl alcohol, which acted as a positive control (Harden et al., 2006; Calfún et al., 2016). Fish imprinted to L-leucine and Llysine, but not to L-valine. However, when early developing zebrafish were exposed to a binary mixture of L-leucine and L-lysine, fish did not imprint to either amino acid separately or as a mixture. As a result, olfactory imprinting was easily disrupted by the addition of an odourant to the environment of early developing zebrafish. Future studies should consider the complexity of the olfactory environment when examining imprinting.

Olfactory imprinting often leads to the formation of positive associations with odourants, such as the odourants used for homing behaviour, kin recognition, and forming maternal attachments (Carter & Marr, 1970; Russell, 1976; Shoji et al., 2000; Harden et al., 2006; Hinz et al., 2013). I also demonstrated this with zebrafish imprinting to L-leucine. While naïve fish avoided L-leucine, imprinted fish displayed an attraction response to the amino acid. This change from an avoidance response to an attraction response in L-leucine-imprinted fish suggests that a similar finding may be observed with other amino acids that evoke avoidance responses. For example, zebrafish as early as 3 dpf avoid L-cysteine and this avoidance persists through to

122

adulthood (Vitebsky et al., 2005; Shahriari et al., 2021). However, early developing fish that are continuously exposed to L-cysteine may associate this amino acid with their rearing environment and therefore display attraction responses when re-exposed as adults. While positive associations are often formed during olfactory imprinting, I demonstrated an example of imprinting that may have led to a negative association as fish that imprinted to L-lysine avoided the amino acid when as adults. This avoidance response to imprinted odours is also seen with kin odour to prevent inbreeding (Roberts & Gosling, 2003; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006; Gerlach et al., 2008; Bonadonna & Sanz-Aguilar, 2012). Regardless of whether positive or negative associations are formed to individual odourants during imprinting, the addition of a second odourant to the environment of early developing animals may disrupt imprinting altogether.

The mechanism underlying olfactory imprinting may be mediated by hormones. For example, thyroid hormones are elevated in salmon during imprinting and correspondingly, increase proliferation of neuronal precursors at the olfactory epithelium (Lema & Nevitt, 2004). This increased number of OSNs may explain why imprinting of amino acids potentiates the generator potential in the salmon olfactory epithelium during odourant detection (Yamamoto et al., 2010). Furthermore, long-term potentiation may be involved in the imprinting process. Prior to seaward migration when salmon imprint to odours from their natal stream, increased thyroid hormone levels lead to an upregulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) at the olfactory bulb (Ueda et al., 2016). Later in life when salmon return to their natal stream for spawning, NMDARs are upregulated by gonadotropin releasing hormone, demonstrating memory retrieval. As imprinting is associated with increased generator potential and long-term upregulation of NMDARs, responses to imprinted odours may persist during olfactory degradation from aging processes.

Olfaction across age

The olfactory system forms very early in development and continues to develop as animals reach adulthood. For example, the olfactory epithelium of zebrafish increases in size as the fish grow, all the way to old age (Hansen & Zeiske, 1998). Moreover, this epithelium is organized into finger-like projections known as lamellae, and the number of lamellae increases with age (Hansen & Zeiske, 1998). However, towards the end of an animal's lifespan, physiological aging processes may cause a decrease in olfactory epithelium thickness and a reduction in OSN density (Jia & Hegg, 2015; Ueha et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). The natural decline in OSNs derives from increased apoptosis of these cells that exceeds an age-associated reduction in precursor proliferation.

Vertebrates often have multiple OSN classes, which have different sensitivities to subsets of odourants. Two OSN classes found across vertebrates including in zebrafish are ciliated and microvillus OSNs, which in fish detect bile acids and amino acids, respectively (Lipschitz, 2002; Sato et al., 2005). It has been shown that OSNs have class-specific regenerative capacity due to differences in precursor proliferation, as demonstrated using toxicant exposures (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). Therefore, it is possible that age also has class-specific effects on OSN density with impacts on responses to associated odourants. In chapter five of my thesis, I demonstrated that olfactory epithelium thickness remained the same as zebrafish aged, but overall cell density decreased. Class-specific changes to OSN density were observed, as ciliated OSN density was similar as fish aged, but microvillus OSN density decreased with aging. Since age affected microvillus OSNs only, there was an expectation that age would affect neuronal activation and behaviour to amino acids and not to bile acids. However, age-associated changes to the olfactory epithelium did not translate to changes in neuronal activation or olfactorymediated behaviour as seen in chapters five and six. Specifically, neuronal activation within the olfactory epithelium increased in middle-aged fish and not young- or old-aged fish that were exposed to an amino acid (L-cysteine) or to a bile acid (TCA). Also, only middle-aged fish elicited an avoidance response to both odourants and had an increased number of sharp turns in response to L-cysteine. Therefore, olfaction was most functional in zebrafish at middle age. In comparison to a study that examined age-associated changes to human olfaction, frequency of participants accurately detecting an odour was highest in a middle-aged cohort of between 40 and 60 years old (Barber, 1997). Performance dramatically decreased with people over 60 years old. At middle age, zebrafish body size is at its highest. It is possible that the development of olfaction correlates with body size in addition to age. While this notion has not been tested in regard to the development of the olfactory system, sexual maturity has been suggested to depend more on size than age (Spence et al., 2008). Furthermore, as body size is influenced by thyroid hormones and growth hormones, changes in olfaction across age is likely to be mediated by hormones (Bartke et al., 1998; Wen & Shi, 2015).

Throughout an animal's lifespan, there is constant chemical pressure to the olfactory system from the environment such as through toxicant exposures. The olfactory epithelium is especially vulnerable to damage by toxicants as it is in direct contact with the environment. For example, copper enters the hydrosphere and induces apoptosis at the olfactory epithelium (Julliard et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2013; Lazzari et al., 2017). Copper also imposes class-specific toxicity on OSNs as ciliated OSNs are more sensitive to copper toxicity than microvillus OSNs (Lazzari et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2018). Even though the olfactory epithelium has high resistance to toxicants due to high biotransformation activity and OSN class-specific regenerative capacity, this resistance to olfactory toxicity decreases with age (Ben-Arie et al., 1993; Monod et al., 1994; Malavolta et al., 2008; Williams & Gallagher, 2013; Xu et al., 2019). For chapter six of my thesis, I examined how age affects olfactory toxicity from copper exposures with a focus on differential effects between ciliated and microvillus OSNs. Age did not affect copper toxicity on the zebrafish olfactory epithelium anatomy. Specifically, olfactory epithelium thickness decreased while ciliated and microvillus OSN density were unaffected after copper exposures regardless of age. Middle-aged fish and not old-aged fish responded with avoidance to Lcysteine and to TCA. Therefore, when middle- or old-aged fish were exposed to copper, the neurotoxicant only affected middle-aged fish response to the amino acid. Copper did not affect fish response to the bile acid, demonstrating that olfactory toxicity may depend on the subset of odourants that is being detected. This specificity in olfactory toxicity has been seen in other studies that exposed fish to copper and demonstrated differential effects on responses towards amino acids and bile acids (Kolmakov et al., 2009; Dew et al., 2014; Ma et al., 2018; Razmara et al., 2019). Overall, olfaction may be most sensitive to disruption from toxicants including copper when it is most functional.

While olfaction may be most functional at middle age and therefore have the most meaningful disruption from toxicants, it does not mean that consequences to olfaction will be minimal if animals were exposed to toxicants at other ages. For example, toxicant exposures during early development may have lasting adverse effects on olfactory-mediated behaviours as imprinting to odourants may be disrupted. In fact, resistance to toxicants may be comparable between early developing and aging animals as biotransformation activity is low in both age groups (Xu et al., 2019). Due to low resistance towards toxicants, toxicant exposures during imprinting may induce a rate of apoptosis of OSNs that exceeds enhanced proliferation of

125
neuronal precursors from elevated thyroid hormone levels (Lema & Nevitt, 2004). As a result, enhanced generator potentials to imprinted odourants may be absent (Yamamoto et al., 2010). Olfactory toxicity during imprinting may adversely affect behaviours relevant to increased fitness including homing, kin and maternal recognition, and inbreeding avoidance (Carter & Marr, 1970; Russell, 1976; Shoji et al., 2000; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006; Hinz, Namekawa, et al., 2013).

A focus of my thesis was to examine age and toxicant effects to the olfactory epithelium anatomy. In chapters five and six, I demonstrated that toxicity to the olfactory epithelium may be limiting as it translates poorly to changes in olfactory functionality. Instead, age and toxicant-associated changes to olfactory functionality may depend more heavily on how higher-order processing centers are affected. For example, copper inhibited the electrical current at the olfactory bulb of rats exposed to an amino acid (Trombley & Shepherd, 1996). This inhibition was through copper targeting NMDARs. Therefore, toxicants that disrupt olfactory processing at the olfactory bulb such as through targeting NMDARs may affect fundamental olfactory processes including imprinting, even if signals generated at the olfactory epithelium are not affected (Ueda et al., 2016).

Future Direction

For my thesis, I examined changes to the nature of olfaction throughout the life of zebrafish by investigating how the olfactory environment during early development changes future olfactory-mediated behaviours and how olfaction changes throughout the adult zebrafish life span. A future direction would be to link the two investigations by examining how the olfactory environment of early developing animals affects olfaction throughout an animal's lifespan. For example, olfactory imprinting studies expose animals to odourant(s) early on in life and observe response to the odourants at one time point later in life (Carter & Marr, 1970; Shoji et al., 2000; Atema et al., 2002; Gerlach & Lysiak, 2006; Hinz, Kobbenbring, et al., 2013). However, olfaction changes as animals age. Therefore, future studies should examine how age affects changes to behaviour from imprinting processes.

How age affects olfaction are often studied in regard to changes in olfactory epithelium morphology, OSN density and olfactory-mediated behaviours. However, studies have not focused on subcellular mechanisms underlying age-associated changes to olfaction. As animals age, the prevalence of free radicals and reactive oxygen species within cells increases (Liochev, 2013; Harman, 2002). These toxic agents damage organelles. In chapter 5 of my thesis, I demonstrated that age differentially affects ciliated and microvillus OSNs. Therefore, it is possible that free radicals and reactive oxygen species affect organelles within ciliated and microvillus OSNs differently. Furthermore, there may be class-specific resistance towards their toxicity with differences in activity of biotransformation enzymes such as glutathione-s-transferase, which protect the cell from oxidative stress (Ketterer, 1998). I suggest that studies explore mechanisms underlying OSN class-specific changes across age.

Age affects olfactory-mediated behaviours and this has been associated with a change in olfactory epithelium anatomy. However, there was a poor translation between the two endpoints. This may derive from the possibility that olfactory-mediated behaviours depend more heavily on the processing of odours rather than the sensitivity of their detection. Therefore, future studies should focus on examining how age affects odour processing that may lead to changes in behaviour.

Bibliography

- Abreu, M. S., Giacomini, A. C. V., Gusso, D., Rosa, J. G. S., Koakoski, G., Kalichak, F.,
 Idalêncio, R., Oliveira, T. A., Barcellos, H. H. A., Bonan, C. D., & Barcellos, L. J. G.
 (2016). Acute exposure to waterborne psychoactive drugs attract zebrafish. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 179, 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2015.08.009
- Ahn, H.-S., Black, J. A., Zhao, P., Tyrrell, L., Waxman, S. G., & Dib-Hajj, S. D. (2011). Na v 1.7 is the Predominant Sodium Channel in Rodent Olfactory Sensory Neurons. *Molecular Pain*, 7, 1744-8069-7–32. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-7-32
- Ahuja, G., Nia, S. B., Zapilko, V., Shiriagin, V., Kowatschew, D., Oka, Y., & Korsching, S. I.
 (2014). Kappe neurons, a novel population of olfactory sensory neurons. *Scientific Reports*, 4(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep04037
- Andreini, I., DellaCorte, C., Johnson, L. C., Hughes, S., & Kalinoski, D. L. (1997). G-protein(s), GaqGa11, in the olfactory neuroepithelium of the channel catfish (ictalurus punctatus) is altered by the herbicide, dichlobenil. *Toxicology*, *117*(2), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(96)03558-5
- Antolin, S., & Matthews, H. R. (2007). The effect of external sodium concentration on sodiumcalcium exchange in frog olfactory receptor cells. *The Journal of Physiology*, 581(2), 495–503. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.131094
- Antunes, G., Sebastião, A. M., & Souza, F. M. S. de. (2014). Mechanisms of Regulation of Olfactory Transduction and Adaptation in the Olfactory Cilium. *PLOS ONE*, 9(8), e105531. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105531
- Araneda, R. C., Kini, A. D., & Firestein, S. (2000). The molecular receptive range of an odorant receptor. *Nature Neuroscience*, 3(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/81774
- Armstrong, M. E., Minkoff, D., Dittman, A. H., May, D., Moody, E. K., Quinn, T. P., Atema, J., & Ardren, W. R. (2022). Evidence of an olfactory imprinting window in embryonic Atlantic salmon. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 31(2), 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12628

- Asanuma, N., & Nomura, H. (1991). Cytochemical localization of adenylate cyclase activity in rat olfactory cells. *The Histochemical Journal*, 23(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01047112
- Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., & Gerlach, G. (2002). Larval reef fish could use odour for detection, retention and orientation to reefs. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 241, 151–160. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps241151
- Atherton, J. A., & McCormick, M. I. (2017). Kin recognition in embryonic damselfishes. *Oikos*, *126*(7), 1062–1069. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.03597
- Bakalyar, H. A., & Reed, R. R. (1990). Identification of a Specialized Adenylyl Cyclase That May Mediate Odorant Detection. *Science*, 250(4986), 1403–1406. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2255909
- Baldwin, D. H., Sandahl, J. F., Labenia, J. S., & Scholz, N. L. (2003). Sublethal effects of copper on coho salmon: Impacts on nonoverlapping receptor pathways in the peripheral olfactory nervous system. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 22(10), 2266–2274. https://doi.org/10.1897/02-428
- Baldwin, D. H., Tatara, C. P., & Scholz, N. L. (2011). Copper-induced olfactory toxicity in salmon and steelhead: Extrapolation across species and rearing environments. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 101(1), 295–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.08.011
- Ballard, J. E., Pall, P., Vardigan, J., Zhao, F., Holahan, M. A., Kraus, R., Li, Y., Henze, D.,
 Houghton, A., Burgey, C. S., & Gibson, C. (2020). Application of PharmacokineticPharmacodynamic Modeling to Inform Translation of In Vitro NaV1.7 Inhibition to In
 Vivo Pharmacological Response in Non-human Primate. *Pharmaceutical Research*,
 37(10), 181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-02914-9
- Barata, E. N., Hubbard, P. C., Almeida, O. G., Miranda, A., & Canário, A. V. (2007). Male urine signals social rank in the Mozambique tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus). *BMC Biology*, 5(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-5-54
- Barber, C. E. (1997). Olfactory Acuity as a Function of Age and Gender: A Comparison of African and American Samples. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 44(4), 317–334. https://doi.org/10.2190/81EE-CKJD-REDM-FJ9G

- Bartke, A., Brown-Borg, H. M., Bode, A. M., Carlson, J., Hunter, W. S., & Bronson, R. T. (1998). Does growth hormone prevent or accelerate aging? *Experimental Gerontology*, 33(7), 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(98)00032-1
- Bazáes, A., & Schmachtenberg, O. (2012). Odorant tuning of olfactory crypt cells from juvenile and adult rainbow trout. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(10), 1740–1748. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.067264
- Belanger, R. M., Smith, C. M., Corkum, L. D., & Zielinski, B. S. (2003). Morphology and histochemistry of the peripheral olfactory organ in the round goby, Neogobius melanostomus (Teleostei: Gobiidae). *Journal of Morphology*, 257(1), 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.10106
- Ben-Arie, N., Khen, M., & Lancet, D. (1993). Glutathione S-transferases in rat olfactory epithelium: Purification, molecular properties and odorant biotransformation. *Biochemical Journal*, 292(2), 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2920379
- Benzekri, N. A., & Reiss, J. O. (2012). Olfactory metamorphosis in the coastal tailed frog Ascaphus truei (Amphibia, Anura, Leiopelmatidae). *Journal of Morphology*, 273(1), 68– 87. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.11008
- Berardi, N., Pizzorusso, T., & Maffei, L. (2000). Critical periods during sensory development. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 10(1), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(99)00047-1
- Berghard, A., & Buck, L. B. (1996). Sensory transduction in vomeronasal neurons: Evidence for G alpha o, G alpha i2, and adenylyl cyclase II as major components of a pheromone signaling cascade. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(3), 909–918. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-03-00909.1996
- Bettini, S., Lazzari, M., Ferrando, S., Gallus, L., & Franceschini, V. (2016). Histopathological analysis of the olfactory epithelium of zebrafish (Danio rerio) exposed to sublethal doses of urea. *Journal of Anatomy*, 228(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.12397
- Billig, G. M., Pál, B., Fidzinski, P., & Jentsch, T. J. (2011). Ca2+-activated Cl- currents are dispensable for olfaction. *Nature Neuroscience*, 14(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2821

- Boccaccio, A., Lagostena, L., Hagen, V., & Menini, A. (2006). Fast Adaptation in Mouse Olfactory Sensory Neurons Does Not Require the Activity of Phosphodiesterase. *Journal* of General Physiology, 128(2), 171–184. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200609555
- Boccaccio, A., & Menini, A. (2007). Temporal Development of Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated and Ca2+-Activated Cl- Currents in Isolated Mouse Olfactory Sensory Neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 98(1), 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00270.2007
- Boesveldt, S., Frasnelli, J., Gordon, A. R., & Lundström, J. N. (2010). The fish is bad: Negative food odors elicit faster and more accurate reactions than other odors. *Biological Psychology*, 84(2), 313–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.03.006
- Bolz, F., Kasper, S., Bufe, B., Zufall, F., & Pyrski, M. (2017). Organization and Plasticity of Sodium Channel Expression in the Mouse Olfactory and Vomeronasal Epithelia. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*, 11. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnana.2017.00028
- Bomser, J. A., Quistad, G. B., & Casida, J. E. (2002). Chlorpyrifos Oxon Potentiates
 Diacylglycerol-Induced Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase (ERK 44/42) Activation,
 Possibly by Diacylglycerol Lipase Inhibition. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 178(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.2001.9324
- Bonadonna, F., & Sanz-Aguilar, A. (2012). Kin recognition and inbreeding avoidance in wild birds: The first evidence for individual kin-related odour recognition. *Animal Behaviour*, 84(3), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.06.014
- Bönigk, W., Bradley, J., Müller, F., Sesti, F., Boekhoff, I., Ronnett, G. V., Kaupp, U. B., & Frings, S. (1999). The Native Rat Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channel Is Composed of Three Distinct Subunits. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(13), 5332–5347. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-13-05332.1999
- Borisy, F. F., Ronnett, G. V., Cunningham, A. M., Juilfs, D., Beavo, J., & Snyder, S. H. (1992).
 Calcium/calmodulin-activated phosphodiesterase expressed in olfactory receptor neurons.
 Journal of Neuroscience, 12(3), 915–923. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.12-03-00915.1992
- Bower, E., Szajer, J., Mattson, S. N., Riley, E. P., & Murphy, C. (2013). Impaired odor identification in children with histories of heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. *Alcohol*, 47(4), 275–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.03.002

- Bradley, J., Bönigk, W., Yau, K.-W., & Frings, S. (2004). Calmodulin permanently associates with rat olfactory CNG channels under native conditions. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1266
- Brann, J. H., Dennis, J. C., Morrison, E. E., & Fadool, D. A. (2002). Type-specific inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor localization in the vomeronasal organ and its interaction with a transient receptor potential channel, TRPC2. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 83(6), 1452– 1460. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.01266.x
- Brann, J. H., & Fadool, D. A. (2006). Vomeronasal sensory neurons from Sternotherus odoratus(stinkpot/musk turtle) respond to chemosignals via the phospholipase C system. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209(10), 1914–1927. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02206
- Bringolf, R. B., Heltsley, R. M., Newton, T. J., Eads, C. B., Fraley, S. J., Shea, D., & Cope, W.
 G. (2010). Environmental occurrence and reproductive effects of the pharmaceutical fluoxetine in native freshwater mussels. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 29(6), 1311–1318. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.157
- Brinkerhoff, R. J., Haddad, N. M., & Orrock, J. L. (2005). Corridors and Olfactory Predator Cues Affect Small Mammal Behavior. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 86(4), 662–669. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542(2005)086[0662:CAOPCA]2.0.CO;2
- Brinkmann, A., & Schild, D. (2016). One Special Glomerulus in the Olfactory Bulb of Xenopus laevis Tadpoles Integrates a Broad Range of Amino Acids and Mechanical Stimuli. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(43), 10978–10989. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4631-15.2016
- Broillet, M.-C., & Firestein, S. (1996). Direct Activation of the Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide– Gated Channel through Modification of Sulfhydryl Groups by NO Compounds. *Neuron*, 16(2), 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80055-0
- Brown, R. L., Lynch, L. L., Haley, T. L., & Arsanjani, R. (2003). Pseudechetoxin Binds to the Pore Turret of Cyclic Nucleotide–gated Ion Channels. *Journal of General Physiology*, 122(6), 749–760. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200308823
- Brunet, L. J., Gold, G. H., & Ngai, J. (1996). General Anosmia Caused by a Targeted Disruption of the Mouse Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide–Gated Cation Channel. *Neuron*, 17(4), 681– 693. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80200-7

- Buck, L., & Axel, R. (1991). A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: A molecular basis for odor recognition. *Cell*, 65(1), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90418-X
- Buiakova, O. I., Baker, H., Scott, J. W., Farbman, A., Kream, R., Grillo, M., Franzen, L.,
 Richman, M., Davis, L. M., Abbondanzo, S., Stewart, C. L., & Margolis, F. L. (1996).
 Olfactory marker protein (OMP) gene deletion causes altered physiological activity of
 olfactory sensory neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(18),
 9858–9863. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.18.9858
- Burd, G. D. (1993). Morphological study of the effects of intranasal zinc sulfate irrigation on the mouse olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 24(3), 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.1070240302
- Byrd, C. A., & Brunjes, P. C. (1995). Organization of the olfactory system in the adult zebrafish: Histological, immunohistochemical, and quantitative analysis. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 358(2), 247–259. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903580207
- Byrd, R. P., & Caprio, J. (1982). Comparison of olfactory receptor (EOG) and bulbar (EEG) responses to amino acids in the catfish, Ictalurus punctatus. *Brain Research*, 249(1), 73–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(82)90170-6
- Cadiou, H., & Molle, G. (2003). Adenophostin A and imipramine are two activators of the olfactory inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-gated channel in fish olfatory cilia. *European Biophysics Journal*, 32(2), 106–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-002-0271-x
- Cain, W. S. (1975). Odor intensity: mixtures and masking. *Chemical Senses*, 1(3), 339–352. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/1.3.339
- Calfún, C., Domínguez, C., Pérez-Acle, T., & Whitlock, K. E. (2016). Changes in Olfactory Receptor Expression Are Correlated With Odor Exposure During Early Development in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Chemical Senses*, 41(4), 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw002
- Cao, Y., Oh, B. C., & Stryer, L. (1998). Cloning and localization of two multigene receptor families in goldfish olfactory epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(20), 11987–11992. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.20.11987

- Carlson, M. E., Silva, H. S., & Conboy, I. M. (2008). Aging of signal transduction pathways, and pathology. *Experimental Cell Research*, 314(9), 1951–1961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.03.017
- Carr, W. e. s., Netherton, Iii., J. C., Gleeson, R. A., & Derby, C. D. (1996). Stimulants of Feeding Behavior in Fish: Analyses of Tissues of Diverse Marine Organisms. *The Biological Bulletin*, 190(2), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.2307/1542535
- Carter, C. S., & Marr, J. N. (1970). Olfactory imprinting and age variables in the guinea-pig, Cavia porcellus. *Animal Behaviour*, 18, 238–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(70)80033-1
- Caspers, B. A., Hoffman, J. I., Kohlmeier, P., Krüger, O., & Krause, E. T. (2013). Olfactory imprinting as a mechanism for nest odour recognition in zebra finches. *Animal Behaviour*, 86(1), 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.04.015
- Castillo, K., Delgado, R., & Bacigalupo, J. (2007). Plasma membrane Ca2+-ATPase in the cilia of olfactory receptor neurons: Possible role in Ca2+ clearance. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(9), 2524–2531. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05863.x
- Castillo, K., Restrepo, D., & Bacigalupo, J. (2010). CA2+ MICRODOMAINS IN OLFACTORY CILIA SUPPORT LOW SIGNALLING AMPLIFICATION OF ODOR TRANSDUCTION. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(6), 932–938. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07393.x
- Chamero, P., Katsoulidou, V., Hendrix, P., Bufe, B., Roberts, R., Matsunami, H., Abramowitz, J., Birnbaumer, L., Zufall, F., & Leinders-Zufall, T. (2011). G protein Gαo is essential for vomeronasal function and aggressive behavior in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(31), 12898–12903. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1107770108
- Chamero, P., Weiss, J., Alonso, M. T., Rodríguez-Prados, M., Hisatsune, C., Mikoshiba, K., Leinders-Zufall, T., & Zufall, F. (2017). Type 3 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor is dispensable for sensory activation of the mammalian vomeronasal organ. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09638-8
- Chaput, M. A., El Mountassir, F., Atanasova, B., Thomas-Danguin, T., Le Bon, A. M., Perrut, A., Ferry, B., & Duchamp-Viret, P. (2012). Interactions of odorants with olfactory receptors and receptor neurons match the perceptual dynamics observed for woody and

fruity odorant mixtures. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(4), 584–597. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07976.x

- Chen, S., Lane, A. P., Bock, R., Leinders-Zufall, T., & Zufall, F. (2000). Blocking Adenylyl Cyclase Inhibits Olfactory Generator Currents Induced by "IP3-Odors." *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 84(1), 575–580. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.84.1.575
- Chen, T.-Y., & Yau, K.-W. (1994). Direct modulation by Ca2+–calmodulin of cyclic nucleotideactivated channel of rat olfactory receptor neurons. *Nature*, 368(6471), Article 6471. https://doi.org/10.1038/368545a0
- Chen, X., Xia, Z., & Storm, D. R. (2012). Stimulation of Electro-Olfactogram Responses in the Main Olfactory Epithelia by Airflow Depends on the Type 3 Adenylyl Cyclase. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 32(45), 15769–15778. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2180-12.2012
- Child, K. M., Herrick, D. B., Schwob, J. E., Holbrook, E. H., & Jang, W. (2018). The Neuroregenerative Capacity of Olfactory Stem Cells Is Not Limitless: Implications for Aging. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(31), 6806–6824. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3261-17.2018
- Colovic, M. B., Krstic, D. Z., Lazarevic-Pasti, T. D., Bondzic, A. M., & Vasic, V. M. (2013). Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors: Pharmacology and Toxicology. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 11(3), 315–335.
- Córdova, S. D., dos Santos, T. G., & de Oliveira, D. L. (2016). Water column depth and light intensity modulate the zebrafish preference response in the black/white test. *Neuroscience Letters*, *619*, 131–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2016.03.008
- Coronas, V., Krantic, S., Jourdan, F., & Moyse, E. (1999). Dopamine receptor coupling to adenylyl cyclase in rat olfactory pathway: A combined pharmacological–radioautographic approach. *Neuroscience*, *90*(1), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00460-6
- Coronas, V., Srivastava, L. K., Liang, J.-J., Jourdan, F., & Moyse, E. (1997). Identification and localization of dopamine receptor subtypes in rat olfactory mucosa and bulb: A combined in situ hybridization and ligand binding radioautographic approach. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, *12*(4), 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-0618(97)00215-9

- Coureaud, G., Hamdani, Y., Schaal, B., & Thomas-Danguin, T. (2009). Elemental and configural processing of odour mixtures in the newborn rabbit. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *212*(16), 2525–2531. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.032235
- Croxton, R. S., Baron, M. G., Butler, D., Kent, T., & Sears, V. G. (2006). Development of a GC-MS Method for the Simultaneous Analysis of Latent Fingerprint Components*. *Journal* of Forensic Sciences, 51(6), 1329–1333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1556-4029.2006.00203.x
- Cygnar, K. D., & Zhao, H. (2009). Phosphodiesterase 1C is dispensable for rapid response termination of olfactory sensory neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 12(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2289
- Dawson, T. M., Arriza, J. L., Jaworsky, D. E., Borisy, F. F., Attramadal, H., Lefkowitz, R. J., & Ronnett, G. V. (1993). β-Adrenergic Receptor Kinase-2 and β-Arrestin-2 as Mediators of Odorant-Induced Desensitization. *Science*, *259*(5096), 825–829. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8381559
- Delay, R. J., & Dionne, V. E. (2002). Two Second Messengers Mediate Amino Acid Responses in Olfactory Sensory Neurons of the Salamander, Necturus maculosus. *Chemical Senses*, 27(8), 673–680. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/27.8.673
- Dew, W. A., Azizishirazi, A., & Pyle, G. G. (2014). Contaminant-specific targeting of olfactory sensory neuron classes: Connecting neuron class impairment with behavioural deficits. *Chemosphere*, 112, 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.02.047
- Dhallan, R. S., Yau, K.-W., Schrader, K. A., & Reed, R. R. (1990). Primary structure and functional expression of a cyclic nucleotide-activated channel from olfactory neurons. *Nature*, 347(6289), Article 6289. https://doi.org/10.1038/347184a0
- Dibattista, M., Amjad, A., Maurya, D. K., Sagheddu, C., Montani, G., Tirindelli, R., & Menini, A. (2012). Calcium-activated chloride channels in the apical region of mouse vomeronasal sensory neurons. *Journal of General Physiology*, *140*(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201210780
- Dibattista, M., & Reisert, J. (2016). The Odorant Receptor-Dependent Role of Olfactory Marker Protein in Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(10), 2995–3006. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4209-15.2016

- Dittman, A. H., Quinn, T. P., Nevitt, G. A., Hacker, B., & Storm, D. R. (1997). Sensitization of Olfactory Guanylyl Cyclase to a Specific Imprinted Odorant in Coho Salmon. *Neuron*, 19(2), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80947-2
- Dulac, C., & Axel, R. (1995). A novel family of genes encoding putative pheromone receptors in mammals. *Cell*, 83(2), 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90161-2
- Dulac, C., & Torello, A. T. (2003). Molecular detection of pheromone signals in mammals: From genes to behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1140
- Dupuch, A., Dill, L. M., & Magnan, P. (2009). Testing the effects of resource distribution and inherent habitat riskiness on simultaneous habitat selection by predators and prey. *Animal Behaviour*, 78(3), 705–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.05.033
- Ehrlichman, H., Brown, S., Zhu, J., & Warrenburg, S. (1995). Startle reflex modulation during exposure to pleasant and unpleasant odors. *Psychophysiology*, 32(2), 150–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1995.tb03306.x
- Eisthen, H. L. (2008). Evolution of Vertebrate Olfactory Systems. *Brain Behavior and Evolution*, 50(4), 222–233. https://doi.org/10.1159/000113336
- Elsaesser, R., Montani, G., Tirindelli, R., & Paysan, J. (2005). Phosphatidyl-inositide signalling proteins in a novel class of sensory cells in the mammalian olfactory epithelium. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(10), 2692–2700. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04108.x
- Farber, D. B., & Lolley, R. N. (1974). Cyclic Guanosine Monophosphate: Elevation in Degenerating Photoreceptor Cells of the C3H Mouse Retina. *Science*, *186*(4162), 449– 451. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.186.4162.449
- Farbman, A. I., & Margolis, F. L. (1980). Olfactory marker protein during ontogeny: Immunohistochemical localization. *Developmental Biology*, 74(1), 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(80)90062-7
- Farooqui, A. A., Yi Ong, W., Lu, X.-R., Halliwell, B., & Horrocks, L. A. (2001). Neurochemical consequences of kainate-induced toxicity in brain: Involvement of arachidonic acid release and prevention of toxicity by phospholipase A2 inhibitors. *Brain Research Reviews*, 38(1), 61–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-328X(01)00214-5

- Ferrari, M. C. O., Wisenden, B. D., & Chivers, D. P. (2010). Chemical ecology of predator–prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: A review and prospectusThe present review is one in the special series of reviews on animal–plant interactions. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 88(7), 698–724. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z10-029
- Fillion, T. J., & Blass, E. M. (1986). Infantile Experience with Suckling Odors Determines Adult Sexual Behavior in Male Rats. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3945807
- Filogamo, G., & Robecchi, M. G. (1969). Neuroblasts in the olfactory pits in mammals. *Acta Anatomica*, 73(Suppl. 56), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1159/000143332
- Firestein, S., Darrow, B., & Shepherd, G. M. (1991). Activation of the sensory current in salamander olfactory receptor neurons depends on a G protein-mediated cAMP second messenger system. *Neuron*, 6(5), 825–835. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(91)90178-3
- Firestein, S., & Shepherd, G. M. (1992). Neurotransmitter antagonists block some odor responses in olfactory receptor neurons. *Neuroreport: An International Journal for the Rapid Communication of Research in Neuroscience*, 3, 661–664. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199208000-00001
- Firestein, S., Zufall, F., & Shepherd, G. M. (1991). Single odor-sensitive channels in olfactory receptor neurons are also gated by cyclic nucleotides. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(11), 3565–3572. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.11-11-03565.1991
- Frenz, C. T., Hansen, A., Dupuis, N. D., Shultz, N., Levinson, S. R., Finger, T. E., & Dionne, V. E. (2014). NaV1.5 sodium channel window currents contribute to spontaneous firing in olfactory sensory neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *112*(5), 1091–1104. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00154.2014
- Friedrich, R. W., & Korsching, S. I. (1997). Combinatorial and Chemotopic Odorant Coding in the Zebrafish Olfactory Bulb Visualized by Optical Imaging. *Neuron*, 18(5), 737–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80314-1
- Friedrich, R. W., & Korsching, S. I. (1998). Chemotopic, Combinatorial, and Noncombinatorial Odorant Representations in the Olfactory Bulb Revealed Using a Voltage-Sensitive Axon Tracer. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(23), 9977–9988. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-23-09977.1998

- Frings, S., Seifert, R., Godde, M., & Kaupp, U. B. (1995). Profoundly different calcium permeation and blockage determine the specific function of distinct cyclic nucleotidegated channels. *Neuron*, 15(1), 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(95)90074-8
- Frontera, J. L., Raices, M., Cervino, A. S., Pozzi, A. G., & Paz, D. A. (2016). Neural regeneration dynamics of Xenopus laevis olfactory epithelium after zinc sulfate-induced damage. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 77, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2016.02.003
- Fukuyama, Y., Okada, K., Yamaguchi, M., Kiyono, H., Mori, K., & Yuki, Y. (2015). Nasal Administration of Cholera Toxin as a Mucosal Adjuvant Damages the Olfactory System in Mice. *PLOS ONE*, 10(9), e0139368. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139368
- Gerlach, G., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., Black, K. P., & Miller-Sims, V. (2007). Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(3), 858–863. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606777104
- Gerlach, G., Hodgins-Davis, A., Avolio, C., & Schunter, C. (2008). Kin recognition in zebrafish:
 A 24-hour window for olfactory imprinting. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1647), 2165–2170. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.0647
- Gerlach, G., & Lysiak, N. (2006). Kin recognition and inbreeding avoidance in zebrafish, Danio rerio, is based on phenotype matching. *Animal Behaviour*, 71(6), 1371–1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.10.010
- Gerschütz, A., Heinsen, H., Grünblatt, E., Wagner, A. K., Bartl, J., Meissner, C., Fallgatter, A. J., Al-Sarraj, S., Troakes, C., Ferrer, I., Arzberger, T., Deckert, J., Riederer, P., Fischer, M., Tatschner, T., & Monoranu, C. M. (2014). Neuron-Specific Alterations in Signal Transduction Pathways associated with Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 40(1), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-131280
- Getchell, M. L., Chen, Y., Ding, X., Sparks, D. L., & Getchell, T. V. (1993).
 Immunohistochemical Localization of a Cytochrome P-450 Isozyme in Human Nasal Mucosa: Age-Related Trends. *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology, 102*(5), 368–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/000348949310200509
- Giattina, J. D., Garton, R. R., & Stevens, D. G. (1982). Avoidance of Copper and Nickel by Rainbow Trout as Monitored by a Computer-Based Data Acquisition System.

Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, *111*(4), 491–504. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1982)111<491:AOCANB>2.0.CO;2

- Gliem, S., Schild, D., & Manzini, I. (2009). Highly specific responses to amine odorants of individual olfactory receptor neurons in situ. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(12), 2315–2326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06778.x
- Gliem, S., Syed, A. S., Sansone, A., Kludt, E., Tantalaki, E., Hassenklöver, T., Korsching, S. I., & Manzini, I. (2013). Bimodal processing of olfactory information in an amphibian nose:
 Odor responses segregate into a medial and a lateral stream. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(11), 1965–1984. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1226-8
- Graziadei, P. P. C., & Tucker, D. (1970). Vomeronasal receptors in Turtles. Zeitschrift Für Zellforschung Und Mikroskopische Anatomie, 105(4), 498–514. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00335424
- Green, W. W., Mirza, R. S., Wood, C. M., & Pyle, G. G. (2010). Copper Binding Dynamics and Olfactory Impairment in Fathead Minnows (Pimephales promelas). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(4), 1431–1437. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9023892
- Greenberg, S. B., Grove, G. L., & Cristofalo, V. J. (1977). Cell size in aging monolayer cultures. In Vitro, 13(5), 297–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02616174
- Greer, P. L., Bear, D. M., Lassance, J.-M., Bloom, M. L., Tsukahara, T., Pashkovski, S. L., Masuda, F. K., Nowlan, A. C., Kirchner, R., Hoekstra, H. E., & Datta, S. R. (2016). A Family of non-GPCR Chemosensors Defines an Alternative Logic for Mammalian Olfaction. *Cell*, 165(7), 1734–1748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.001
- Griff, E. R., Kleene, N. K., & Kleene, S. J. (2012). A Selective PMCA Inhibitor Does Not Prolong the Electroolfactogram in Mouse. *PLOS ONE*, 7(5), e37148. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037148
- Griffiths, S. W., Brockmark, S., Höjesjö, J., & Johnsson, J. I. (2004). Coping with divided attention: The advantage of familiarity. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences*, 271(1540), 695–699. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2648
- Grosmaitre, X., Vassalli, A., Mombaerts, P., Shepherd, G. M., & Ma, M. (2006). Odorant responses of olfactory sensory neurons expressing the odorant receptor MOR23: A patch clamp analysis in gene-targeted mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(6), 1970–1975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508491103

- Gudziol, V., Pietsch, J., Witt, M., & Hummel, T. (2010). Theophylline induces changes in the electro-olfactogram of the mouse. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 267(2), 239–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-009-1076-7
- Guo, Q., Yu, J., Su, M., Wang, C., Yang, M., Cao, N., Zhao, Y., & Xia, P. (2019). Synergistic effect of musty odorants on septic odor: Verification in Huangpu River source water. *Science of The Total Environment*, 653, 1186–1191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.062
- Haering, C., Kanageswaran, N., Bouvain, P., Scholz, P., Altmüller, J., Becker, C., Gisselmann,
 G., Wäring-Bischof, J., & Hatt, H. (2015). Ion Transporter NKCC1, Modulator of
 Neurogenesis in Murine Olfactory Neurons *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(15),
 9767–9779. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.640656
- Hagen, V., Dzeja, C., Frings, S., Bendig, J., Krause, E., & Kaupp, U. B. (1996). Caged
 Compounds of Hydrolysis-Resistant Analogues of cAMP and cGMP: Synthesis and
 Application to Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channels. *Biochemistry*, 35(24), 7762–7771.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/bi952895b
- Halpern, M., Shapiro, L. S., & Jia, C. (1995). Differential localization of G proteins in the opossum vomeronasal system. *Brain Research*, 677(1), 157–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)00159-N
- Hanchate, N. K., Kondoh, K., Lu, Z., Kuang, D., Ye, X., Qiu, X., Pachter, L., Trapnell, C., & Buck, L. B. (2015). Single-cell transcriptomics reveals receptor transformations during olfactory neurogenesis. *Science*, 350(6265), 1251–1255. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad2456
- Hansen, A., & Eckart, Z. (1998). The Peripheral Olfactory Organ of the Zebrafish, Danio rerio: An Ultrastructural Study. *Chemical Senses*, 23(1), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/23.1.39
- Hansen, A., & Finger, T. E. (2000). Phyletic distribution of crypt-type olfactory receptor neurons in fishes. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 55(2), 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1159/000006645
- Hansen, A., Reiss, J. O., Gentry, C. L., & Burd, G. D. (1998). Ultrastructure of the olfactory organ in the clawed frog, Xenopus laevis, during larval development and metamorphosis.

Journal of Comparative Neurology, 398(2), 273–288.

https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19980824)398:2<273::AID-CNE8>3.0.CO;2-Y

- Hansen, A., Rolen, S. H., Anderson, K., Morita, Y., Caprio, J., & Finger, T. E. (2003).
 Correlation between Olfactory Receptor Cell Type and Function in the Channel Catfish. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(28), 9328–9339. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-28-09328.2003
- Hansen, A., & Zeiske, E. (1993). Development of the olfactory organ in the zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 333(2), 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903330213
- Hansen, A., & Zeiske, E. (1998). The Peripheral Olfactory Organ of the Zebrafish, Danio rerio: An Ultrastructural Study. *Chemical Senses*, 23(1), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/23.1.39
- Hara, T. J. (2006). Feeding behaviour in some teleosts is triggered by single amino acids primarily through olfaction. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 68(3), 810–825. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-1112.2006.00967.x
- Hara, T. J., & Zhang, C. (1997). Topographic bulbar projections and dual neural pathways of the primary olfactory neurons in salmonid fishes1A preliminary report of these data was presented at the Workshop on Fish Pheromones: Origins and Modes of Action, held in Faro, Portugal, 22–24 May 1995.[25]1. *Neuroscience*, 82(1), 301–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(97)00279-0
- Harden, M. V., Newton, L. A., Lloyd, R. C., & Whitlock, K. E. (2006). Olfactory imprinting is correlated with changes in gene expression in the olfactory epithelia of the zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(13), 1452–1466. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.20328
- Harman, D. (2002). Aging: A Theory Based on Free Radical and Radiation Chemistry. Science of Aging Knowledge Environment, 2002(37), cp14–cp14. https://doi.org/10.1126/sageke.2002.37.cp14
- Hashiguchi, Y., & Nishida, M. (2006). Evolution and origin of vomeronasal-type odorant receptor gene repertoire in fishes. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 6(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-6-76
- Hashiguchi, Y., & Nishida, M. (2007). Evolution of Trace Amine–Associated Receptor (TAAR) Gene Family in Vertebrates: Lineage-Specific Expansions and Degradations of a Second

Class of Vertebrate Chemosensory Receptors Expressed in the Olfactory Epithelium. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 24(9), 2099–2107. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msm140

- Haynes, K. F., & Millar, J. G. (2012). Methods in Chemical Ecology Volume 2: Bioassay Methods. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Hedlund, B., & Shepherd, G. M. (1983). Biochemical studies on muscaranic receptors in the salamander olfactory epithelium. *FEBS Letters*, 162(2), 428–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(83)80801-1
- Heffern, K., Tierney, K., & Gallagher, E. P. (2018). Comparative effects of cadmium, zinc, arsenic and chromium on olfactory-mediated neurobehavior and gene expression in larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 201, 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.05.016
- Hernandez, A. K., Landis, B., Altundag, A., Fjaeldstad, A. W., Gane, S., Holbrook, E. H., Huart, C., Konstantinidis, I., Lechner, M., Macchi, A., Portillo Mazal, P., Miwa, T., Philpott, C. M., Pinto, J. M., Poletti, S. C., Vodicka, J., Welge-Luessen, A., Whitcroft, K. L., & Hummel, T. (2023). Olfactory Nomenclature: An Orchestrated Effort to Clarify Terms and Definitions of Dysosmia, Anosmia, Hyposmia, Normosmia, Hyperosmia, Olfactory Intolerance, Parosmia, and Phantosmia/Olfactory Hallucination. *ORL; Journal for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology and Its Related Specialties*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1159/000530211
- Hinz, C., Kobbenbring, S., Kress, S., Sigman, L., Müller, A., & Gerlach, G. (2013). Kin recognition in zebrafish, Danio rerio, is based on imprinting on olfactory and visual stimuli. *Animal Behaviour*, 85(5), 925–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.02.010
- Hinz, C., Namekawa, I., Behrmann-Godel, J., Oppelt, C., Jaeschke, A., Müller, A., Friedrich, R.
 W., & Gerlach, G. (2013). Olfactory imprinting is triggered by MHC peptide ligands. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep02800
- Holbrook, S. J., & Schmitt, R. J. (1988). The Combined Effects of Predation Risk and Food Reward on Patch Selection. *Ecology*, 69(1), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.2307/1943167
- Horning, M. S., & Trombley, P. Q. (2001). Zinc and Copper Influence Excitability of Rat Olfactory Bulb Neurons by Multiple Mechanisms. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 86(4), 1652–1660. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2001.86.4.1652

- Hosseinzade, M., Mojazi Amiri, B., Iri, Y., & Poorbagher, H. (2021). Effects of diazinon on olfactory epithelium and genes related to olfactory signal transduction in Caspian roach, Rutilus caspicus. *Caspian Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 19(2), 211–218. https://doi.org/10.22124/cjes.2021.4730
- Huang, L., Zhang, W., Han, Y., Tang, Y., Zhou, W., Liu, G., & Shi, W. (2022). Anti-Depressant Fluoxetine Hampers Olfaction of Goldfish by Interfering with the Initiation, Transmission, and Processing of Olfactory Signals. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(22), 15848–15859. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c02987
- Huang, L., Zhang, W., Tong, D., Lu, L., Zhou, W., Tian, D., Liu, G., & Shi, W. (2023).
 Triclosan and triclocarban weaken the olfactory capacity of goldfish by constraining odorant recognition, disrupting olfactory signal transduction, and disturbing olfactory information processing. *Water Research*, 233, 119736.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2023.119736
- Idler, D. R., Fagerlund, U. H. M., & Mayoh, H. (1956). OLFACTORY PERCEPTION IN MIGRATING SALMON. *The Journal of General Physiology*, *39*(6), 889–892.
- Igelström, K. M., & Heyward, P. M. (2012). The antidepressant drug fluoxetine inhibits persistent sodium currents and seizure-like events. *Epilepsy Research*, *101*(1), 174–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2012.03.019
- Inamura, K., Kashiwayanagi, M., & Kurihara, K. (1997). Blockage of urinary responses by inhibitors for IP3-mediated pathway in rat vomeronasal sensory neurons. *Neuroscience Letters*, *233*(2), 129–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(97)00655-1
- Inoue, N., Nishizumi, H., Ooyama, R., Mogi, K., Nishimori, K., Kikusui, T., & Sakano, H. (2021). The olfactory critical period is determined by activity-dependent Sema7A/PlxnC1 signaling within glomeruli. *eLife*, 10, e65078. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.65078
- Ishida, Y., & Kobayashi, H. (1995). Avoidance Behavior of Carp to Pesticides and Decrease of the Avoidance Threshold by Addition of Sodium Lauryl Sulfate. *Fisheries Science*, 61(3), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.2331/fishsci.61.441
- Ishii, A., Roudnitzky, N., Béno, N., Bensafi, M., Hummel, T., Rouby, C., & Thomas-Danguin, T. (2008). Synergy and Masking in Odor Mixtures: An Electrophysiological Study of Orthonasal vs. Retronasal Perception. *Chemical Senses*, 33(6), 553–561. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjn022

- Ishii, T., Serizawa, S., Kohda, A., Nakatani, H., Shiroishi, T., Okumura, K., Iwakura, Y., Nagawa, F., Tsuboi, A., & Sakano, H. (2001). Monoallelic expression of the odourant receptor gene and axonal projection of olfactory sensory neurones. *Genes to Cells*, 6(1), 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2443.2001.00398.x
- Isles, A. R., Baum, M. J., Ma, D., Szeto, A., Keverne, E. B., & Allen, N. D. (2002). A possible role for imprinted genes in inbreeding avoidance and dispersal from the natal area in mice. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 269(1492), 665–670. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2001.1911
- Izadyar, A., Arachchige, D. R., Cornwell, H., & Hershberger, J. C. (2016). Ion transfer stripping voltammetry for the detection of nanomolar levels of fluoxetine, citalopram, and sertraline in tap and river water samples. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 223, 226– 233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2015.09.048
- Jaén, C., Ozdener, M. H., & Reisert, J. (2011). Mechanisms of chloride uptake in frog olfactory receptor neurons. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 197(4), 339–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-010-0618-1
- Jeong, S., Ahn, C., Kwon, J.-S., Kim, K., & Jeung, E.-B. (2023). Effects of Sodium Arsenite on the Myocardial Differentiation in Mouse Embryonic Bodies. *Toxics*, 11(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics11020142
- Jia, C., & Hegg, C. C. (2015). Effect of IP3R3 and NPY on age-related declines in olfactory stem cell proliferation. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 36(2), 1045–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.11.007
- Jiang, Y., Li, Y. R., Tian, H., Ma, M., & Matsunami, H. (2015). Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor M3 modulates odorant receptor activity via inhibition of β-arrestin-2 recruitment. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7448
- Johnson, B. A., Woo, C. C., Hingco, E. E., Pham, K. L., & Leon, M. (1999). Multidimensional chemotopic responses to n-aliphatic acid odorants in the rat olfactory bulb. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 409(4), 529–548. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19990712)409:4<529::AID-CNE2>3.0.CO;2-N

- Jones, D. T., & Reed, R. R. (1989). Golf: An olfactory neuron specific-G protein involved in odorant signal transduction. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 244(4906), 790–795. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2499043
- Jones, G. P., Planes, S., & Thorrold, S. R. (2005). Coral Reef Fish Larvae Settle Close to Home. *Current Biology*, 15(14), 1314–1318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.06.061
- Jones, J., Wellband, K., Zielinski, B., & Heath, D. D. (2019). Transcriptional Basis of Copper-Induced Olfactory Impairment in the Sea Lamprey, a Primitive Invasive Fish. G3 Genes|Genomes|Genetics, 9(3), 933–941. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.118.200920
- Jones, K. A., & Hara, T. J. (1985). Behavioural responses of fishes to chemical cues: Results from a new bioassay. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 27(4), 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1985.tb03197.x
- Juilfs, D. M., Fülle, H.-J., Zhao, A. Z., Houslay, M. D., Garbers, D. L., & Beavo, J. A. (1997). A subset of olfactory neurons that selectively express cGMP-stimulated phosphodiesterase (PDE2) and guanylyl cyclase-D define a unique olfactory signal transduction pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(7), 3388–3395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.7.3388
- Julliard, A. K., Saucier, D., & Astic, L. (1996). Time-course of apoptosis in the olfactory epithelium of rainbow trout exposed to a low copper level. *Tissue and Cell*, 28(3), 367– 377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-8166(96)80023-1
- Jung, A., Lischka, F. W., Engel, J., & Schild, D. (1994). Sodium/calcium exchanger in olfactory receptor neurones of Xenopus laevis. *Neuroreport*, 5(14), 1741–1744. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199409080-00013
- Kalueff, A. V., Gebhardt, M., Stewart, A. M., Cachat, J. M., Brimmer, M., Chawla, J. S.,
 Craddock, C., Kyzar, E. J., Roth, A., Landsman, S., Gaikwad, S., Robinson, K., Baatrup,
 E., Tierney, K., Shamchuk, A., Norton, W., Miller, N., Nicolson, T., Braubach, O., ...
 Schneider, and the Z. N. R. C. (ZNRC), Henning. (2013). Towards a Comprehensive
 Catalog of Zebrafish Behavior 1.0 and Beyond. *Zebrafish*, *10*(1), 70–86.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2012.0861
- Kaneko, H., Putzier, I., Frings, S., Kaupp, U. B., & Gensch, T. (2004). Chloride Accumulation in Mammalian Olfactory Sensory Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(36), 7931–7938. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2115-04.2004

- Kang, J., & Caprio, J. (1997). In Vivo Responses of Single Olfactory Receptor Neurons of Channel Catfish to Binary Mixtures of Amino Acids. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1997.77.1.1
- Kaniganti, T., Deogade, A., Maduskar, A., Mukherjee, A., Guru, A., Subhedar, N., & Ghose, A. (2021). Sensitivity of olfactory sensory neurons to food cues is tuned to nutritional states by Neuropeptide Y signaling. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *159*(6), 1028–1044. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.15488
- Kashiwayanagi, M., Kawahara, H., Kanaki, K., Nagasawa, F., & Kurihara, K. (1996). Ca2+ and Cl--dependence of the turtle olfactory response to odorants and forskolin. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology*, *115*(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(95)02139-6
- Kass, M. D., Czarnecki, L. A., & McGann, J. P. (2018). Stable olfactory sensory neuron in vivo physiology during normal aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 69, 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.04.018
- Kato, A., Reisert, J., Ihara, S., Yoshikawa, K., & Touhara, K. (2014). Evaluation of the Role of G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinase 3 in Desensitization of Mouse Odorant Receptors in a Mammalian Cell Line and in Olfactory Sensory Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, 39(9), 771– 780. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bju050
- Kawamura, R., & Nikaido, M. (n.d.). *Neural activation in olfactory epithelium of East African cichlid in response to odorant exposure.*
- Kay, L. M., Crk, T., & Thorngate, J. (2005). A Redefinition of Odor Mixture Quality. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 119(3), 726–733. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.119.3.726
- Kelliher, K. R., Ziesmann, J., Munger, S. D., Reed, R. R., & Zufall, F. (2003). Importance of the CNGA4 channel gene for odor discrimination and adaptation in behaving mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(7), 4299–4304.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0736071100
- Kennedy, C. J., & Tierney, K. B. (2013). Xenobiotic Protection/Resistance Mechanisms in Organisms. In E. A. Laws (Ed.), *Environmental Toxicology: Selected Entries from the Encyclopedia of Sustainability Science and Technology* (pp. 689–721). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5764-0_23

- Kermen, F., Darnet, L., Wiest, C., Palumbo, F., Bechert, J., Uslu, O., & Yaksi, E. (2020). Stimulusspecific behavioral responses of zebrafish to a large range of odors exhibit individual variability. *BMC Biology*, *18*(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-020-00801-8
- Ketterer, B. (1998). Glutathione S-Transferases and Prevention of Cellular Free Radical Damage. *Free Radical Research*, 28(6), 647–658. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715769809065820
- Kihara, T., Shimohama, S., Sawada, H., Honda, K., Nakamizo, T., Kanki, R., Yamashita, H., & Akaike, A. (2002). Protective effect of dopamine D2 agonists in cortical neurons via the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase cascade. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 70(3), 274–282. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.10426
- Kim, B.-Y., Park, J. Y., Cho, K. J., & Bae, J. H. (2022). Effects of Urban Particulate Matter on the Olfactory System in a Mouse Model. *American Journal of Rhinology & Allergy*, 36(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/19458924211026416
- Kim, B.-Y., Park, J. Y., Kim, E. J., Kim, B. G., Kim, S. W., & Kim, S. W. (2019). The neuroplastic effect of olfactory training to the recovery of olfactory system in mouse model. *International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology*, 9(7), 715–723. https://doi.org/10.1002/alr.22320
- Kim, H., Kim, H., Nguyen, L. T., Ha, T., Lim, S., Kim, K., Kim, S. H., Han, K., Hyeon, S. J.,
 Ryu, H., Park, Y. S., Kim, S. H., Kim, I.-B., Hong, G.-S., Lee, S. E., Choi, Y., Cohen, L.
 B., & Oh, U. (2022). Amplification of olfactory signals by Anoctamin 9 is important for mammalian olfaction. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *219*, 102369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2022.102369
- Kim, J.-W., Hong, S.-L., Lee, C. H., Jeon, E.-H., & Choi, A.-R. (2010). Relationship between olfactory function and olfactory neuronal population in C57BL6 mice injected intraperitoneally with 3-methylindole. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, 143(6), 837–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otohns.2010.08.016
- Kim, S., Ma, L., & Yu, C. R. (2011). Requirement of calcium-activated chloride channels in the activation of mouse vomeronasal neurons. *Nature Communications*, 2(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1368

- Kimchi, T., Xu, J., & Dulac, C. (2007). A functional circuit underlying male sexual behaviour in the female mouse brain. *Nature*, 448(7157), Article 7157. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06089
- Kleene, S. J. (1993). Origin of the chloride current in olfactory transduction. *Neuron*, *11*(1), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(93)90276-W
- Kleene, S. J. (1994). Inhibition of olfactory cyclic nucleotide-activated current by calmodulin antagonists. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *111*(2), 469–472.
- Kleene, S. J. (1997). High-gain, low-noise amplification in olfactory transduction. *Biophysical Journal*, 73(2), 1110–1117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(97)78143-8
- Kleene, S. J. (2009). Limits of Calcium Clearance by Plasma Membrane Calcium ATPase in Olfactory Cilia. *PLOS ONE*, *4*(4), e5266. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005266
- Kleene, S. J., & Gesteland, R. C. (1991). Calcium-activated chloride conductance in frog olfactory cilia. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(11), 3624–3629. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.11-11-03624.1991
- Koide, T., Miyasaka, N., Morimoto, K., Asakawa, K., Urasaki, A., Kawakami, K., & Yoshihara, Y. (2009). Olfactory neural circuitry for attraction to amino acids revealed by transposon-mediated gene trap approach in zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(24), 9884–9889. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900470106
- Kolmakov, N. N., Hubbard, P. C., Lopes, O., & Canario, A. V. M. (2009). Effect of Acute Copper Sulfate Exposure on Olfactory Responses to Amino Acids and Pheromones in Goldfish (Carassius auratus). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(21), 8393–8399. https://doi.org/10.1021/es901166m
- Kondo, K., Suzukawa, K., Sakamoto, T., Watanabe, K., Kanaya, K., Ushio, M., Yamaguchi, T., Nibu, K.-I., Kaga, K., & Yamasoba, T. (2010). Age-related changes in cell dynamics of the postnatal mouse olfactory neuroepithelium: Cell proliferation, neuronal differentiation, and cell death. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *518*(11), 1962–1975. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22316
- Könemann, S., Meyer, S., Betz, A., Županič, A., & vom Berg, C. (2021). Sub-Lethal Peak Exposure to Insecticides Triggers Olfaction-Mediated Avoidance in Zebrafish Larvae. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(17), 11835–11847. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c01792

- Konishi, J., Abe, T., Ogihara, A., Adachi, D., Denboh, T., & Kudo, H. (2022). Olfactory behavioural and neural responses of planktivorous lacustrine sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) to prey odours. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *101*(1), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15110
- Kratzing, J. E. (1975). The fine structure of the olfactory and vomeronasal organs of a lizard (Tiliqua scincoides scincoides). *Cell and Tissue Research*, 156(2), 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00221807
- Krause, E. T., Krüger, O., Kohlmeier, P., & Caspers, B. A. (2012). Olfactory kin recognition in a songbird. *Biology Letters*, 8(3), 327–329. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2011.1093
- Krishna, N. S. R., Getchell, T. V., Awasthi, Y. C., Dhooper, N., & Getchell, M. L. (1995). Ageand Gender-Related Trends in the Expression of Glutathione S-Transferases in Human Nasal Mucosa. *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, 104(10), 812–822. https://doi.org/10.1177/000348949510401012
- Kurahashi, T., & Yau, K.-W. (1993). Co-existence of cationic and chloride components in odorant-induced current of vertebrate olfactory receptor cells. *Nature*, 363(6424), Article 6424. https://doi.org/10.1038/363071a0
- Kwon, H. J., Koo, J. H., Zufall, F., Leinders-Zufall, T., & Margolis, F. L. (2009). Ca2+ Extrusion by NCX Is Compromised in Olfactory Sensory Neurons of OMP-/- Mice. *PLOS ONE*, 4(1), e4260. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004260
- Laing, D. G., Panhuber, H., & Baxter, R. I. (1978). Olfactory properties of Amines and n-Butanol. *Chemical Senses*, 3(2), 149–166. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/3.2.149
- Laporte, S. A., Miller, W. E., Kim, K.-M., & Caron, M. G. (2002). β-Arrestin/AP-2 Interaction in G Protein-coupled Receptor Internalization: IDENTIFICATION OF A β-ARRESTIN BINDING SITE IN β2-ADAPTIN *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(11), 9247– 9254. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108490200
- Lari, E., Bogart, S. J., & Pyle, G. G. (2018). Fish can smell trace metals at environmentally relevant concentrations in freshwater. *Chemosphere*, 203, 104–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.174
- Lari, E., & Pyle, G. G. (2017). Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) detection, avoidance, and chemosensory effects of oil sands process-affected water. *Environmental Pollution*, 225, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.03.041

- Laska, M., & Freyer, D. (1997). Olfactory Discrimination Ability for Aliphatic Esters in Squirrel Monkeys and Humans. *Chemical Senses*, 22(4), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/22.4.457
- Lazzari, M., Bettini, S., Milani, L., Maurizii, M. G., & Franceschini, V. (2017). Differential response of olfactory sensory neuron populations to copper ion exposure in zebrafish. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 183, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.12.012
- Lazzari, M., Bettini, S., Milani, L., Maurizii, M. G., & Franceschini, V. (2019). Differential nickel-induced responses of olfactory sensory neuron populations in zebrafish. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 206, 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.10.011
- Lee, A. C., He, J., & Ma, M. (2011). Olfactory Marker Protein Is Critical for Functional Maturation of Olfactory Sensory Neurons and Development of Mother Preference. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(8), 2974–2982. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5067-10.2011
- Lee, A. C., Tian, H., Grosmaitre, X., & Ma, M. (2009). Expression Patterns of Odorant Receptors and Response Properties of Olfactory Sensory Neurons in Aged Mice. *Chemical Senses*, 34(8), 695–703. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjp056
- Leinders-Zufall, T., Cockerham, R. E., Michalakis, S., Biel, M., Garbers, D. L., Reed, R. R., Zufall, F., & Munger, S. D. (2007). Contribution of the receptor guanylyl cyclase GC-D to chemosensory function in the olfactory epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(36), 14507–14512. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704965104
- Leinders-Zufall, T., Ma, M., & Zufall, F. (1999). Impaired Odor Adaptation in Olfactory Receptor Neurons after Inhibition of Ca2+/Calmodulin Kinase II. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(14), RC19–RC19. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-14j0005.1999
- Leinders-Zufall, T., Rand, M. N., Shepherd, G. M., Greer, C. A., & Zufall, F. (1997). Calcium Entry through Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channels in Individual Cilia of Olfactory Receptor Cells: Spatiotemporal Dynamics. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *17*(11), 4136–4148. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-11-04136.1997
- Leinders-Zufall, T., & Zufall, F. (1995). Block of cyclic nucleotide-gated channels in salamander olfactory receptor neurons by the guanylyl cyclase inhibitor LY83583. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 74(6), 2759–2762. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1995.74.6.2759

- Lema, S. C., & Nevitt, G. A. (2004). Evidence that thyroid hormone induces olfactory cellular proliferation in salmon during a sensitive period for imprinting. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(19), 3317–3327. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.01143
- Levy, N. S., Bakalyar, H. A., & Reed, R. R. (1991). Signal transduction in olfactory neurons. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 39(4, Part 2), 633–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(91)90262-4
- Li, R.-C., Lin, C.-C., Ren, X., Wu, J. S., Molday, L. L., Molday, R. S., & Yau, K.-W. (2018). Ca2+-activated Cl current predominates in threshold response of mouse olfactory receptor neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(21), 5570–5575. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1803443115
- Li, S., Ahmed, L., Zhang, R., Pan, Y., Matsunami, H., Burger, J. L., Block, E., Batista, V. S., & Zhuang, H. (2016). Smelling Sulfur: Copper and Silver Regulate the Response of Human Odorant Receptor OR2T11 to Low-Molecular-Weight Thiols. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *138*(40), 13281–13288. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b06983
- Li, Y. R., & Matsunami, H. (2011). Activation State of the M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Modulates Mammalian Odorant Receptor Signaling. *Science Signaling*, 4(155), ra1–ra1. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2001230
- Liman, E. R., & Buck, L. B. (1994). A second subunit of the olfactory cyclic nucleotide-gated channel confers high sensitivity to cAMP. *Neuron*, 13(3), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(94)90029-9
- Lin, W., Arellano, J., Slotnick, B., & Restrepo, D. (2004). Odors Detected by Mice Deficient in Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channel Subunit A2 Stimulate the Main Olfactory System. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(14), 3703–3710. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0188-04.2004
- Lin, W., Margolskee, R., Donnert, G., Hell, S. W., & Restrepo, D. (2007). Olfactory neurons expressing transient receptor potential channel M5 (TRPM5) are involved in sensing semiochemicals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(7), 2471–2476. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0610201104
- Lind, G. J., Chew, S., Marzani, D., & Wallman, J. (1998). Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Antagonists Inhibit Chick Scleral Chondrocytes. 39(12).

- Lindsay, S. M., & Vogt, R. G. (2004). Behavioral Responses of Newly Hatched Zebrafish (Danio rerio) to Amino Acid Chemostimulants. *Chemical Senses*, 29(2), 93–100. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjh009
- Liochev, S. I. (2013). Reactive oxygen species and the free radical theory of aging. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *60*, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.02.011
- Lipschitz, D. L. (2002). Amino Acid Odorants Stimulate Microvillar Sensory Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, *27*(3), 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/27.3.277
- Lipschitz, D. L., & Michel, W. C. (2002). Amino Acid Odorants Stimulate Microvillar Sensory Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, 27(3), 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/27.3.277
- Lischka, F. W., & Schild, D. (1993). Standing calcium gradients in olfactory receptor neurons can be abolished by amiloride or ruthenium red. *Journal of General Physiology*, 102(5), 817–831. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.102.5.817
- Liu, M., Chen, T.-Y., Ahamed, B., Li, J., & Yau, K.-W. (1994). Calcium-Calmodulin Modulation of the Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Cation Channel. *Science*, 266(5189), 1348–1354. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.266.5189.1348
- Livermore, A., & Laing, D. G. (1996). Influence of training and experience on the perception of multicomponent odor mixtures. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception* and Performance, 22, 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.22.2.267
- Livermore, A., & Laing, D. G. (1998). The influence of odor type on the discrimination and identification of odorants in multicomponent odor mixtures. *Physiology & Behavior*, 65(2), 311–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00168-1
- Lolley, R. N., Farber, D. B., Rayborn, M. E., & Hollyfield, J. G. (1977). Cyclic GMP Accumulation Causes Degeneration of Photoreceptor Cells: Simulation of an Inherited Disease. *Science*, 196(4290), 664–666. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.193183
- López, F., Delgado, R., López, R., Bacigalupo, J., & Restrepo, D. (2014). Transduction for Pheromones in the Main Olfactory Epithelium Is Mediated by the Ca2+-Activated Channel TRPM5. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(9), 3268–3278. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4903-13.2014
- Lowe, G., & Gold, G. H. (1993). Nonlinear amplification by calcium-dependent chloride channels in olfactory receptor cells. *Nature*, 366(6452), Article 6452. https://doi.org/10.1038/366283a0

- Lowe, G., Nakamura, T., & Gold, G. H. (1989). Adenylate cyclase mediates olfactory transduction for a wide variety of odorants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86(14), 5641–5645. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.14.5641
- Lynch, J. W. (1998). Nitric Oxide Inhibition of the Rat Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Cation Channel. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, 165(3), 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002329900436
- Ma, E. Y., Heffern, K., Cheresh, J., & Gallagher, E. P. (2018). Differential copper-induced death and regeneration of olfactory sensory neuron populations and neurobehavioral function in larval zebrafish. *NeuroToxicology*, 69, 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2018.10.002
- Ma, L., & Michel, W. C. (1998). Drugs Affecting Phospholipase C-Mediated Signal Transduction Block the Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Current of Adult Zebrafish. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 79(3), 1183–1192. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.79.3.1183
- Mackay-Sim, A., & Kittel, P. (1991). Cell dynamics in the adult mouse olfactory epithelium: A quantitative autoradiographic study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *11*(4), 979–984. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.11-04-00979.1991
- Madrid, R., Delgado, R., & Bacigalupo, J. (2005). Cyclic AMP Cascade Mediates the Inhibitory Odor Response of Isolated Toad Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 94(3), 1781–1788. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01253.2004
- Maj, J., Rogóż, Z., Skuza, G., & Kołodziejczyk, K. (1997). Antidepressant effects of pramipexole, a novel dopamine receptor agonist. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 104(4), 525–533. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01277669
- Malavolta, M., Cipriano, C., Costarelli, L., Giacconi, R., Tesei, S., Muti, E., Piacenza, F.,
 Pierpaoli, S., Larbi, A., Pawelec, G., Dedoussis, G., Herbein, G., Monti, D., Jajte, J.,
 Rink, L., & Mocchegiani, E. (2008, April 28). *Metallothionein Downregulation in Very Old Age: A Phenomenon Associated with Cellular Senescence?* (140 Huguenot Street,
 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801-5215 USA) [Research-article].
 Https://Home.Liebertpub.Com/Rej; Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd
 Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801-5215 USA. https://doi.org/10.1089/rej.2008.0679

- Malnic, B., Hirono, J., Sato, T., & Buck, L. B. (1999). Combinatorial Receptor Codes for Odors. *Cell*, 96(5), 713–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80581-4
- Mandal, C., Jung, K. H., & Chai, Y. G. (2015). Ethanol toxicity affects olfactory receptor genes in forebrain of fetal mice. *Molecular & Cellular Toxicology*, 11(1), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13273-015-0007-5
- Mandal, D. K., Roy, D., & Ghosh, L. (2005). Structural organization of the olfactory epithelium of a spotted snakehead fish, Channa punctatus. *Acta Ichthyologica et Piscatoria*, 35(1), 45–50. https://doi.org/10.3750/AIP2005.35.1.06
- Mania-Farnell, B. L., Bruch, R. C., & Farbman, A. I. (1993). Amitriptyline reduces olfactory neuron adenylyl cyclase activity. *Chemical Senses*, 18(1), 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/18.1.35
- Mania-Farnell, B. L., Farbman, A. I., & Bruch, R. C. (1993). Bromocriptine, a dopamine d2 receptor agonist, inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity in rat olfactory epithelium. *Neuroscience*, 57(1), 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(93)90119-Z
- Manzini, I., Schild, D., & Di Natale, C. (2022). Principles of odor coding in vertebrates and artificial chemosensory systems. *Physiological Reviews*, 102(1), 61–154. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00036.2020
- Marr, J. N., & Gardner, L. E. (1965). Early Olfactory Experience and Later Social Behavior in the Rat: Preference, Sexual Responsiveness, and Care of Young. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 107(1), 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.1965.10532774
- Martin, C. W., Fodrie, F. J., Heck, K. L., & Mattila, J. (2010). Differential habitat use and antipredator response of juvenile roach (Rutilus rutilus) to olfactory and visual cues from multiple predators. *Oecologia*, 162(4), 893–902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1564-x
- Maryoung, L. A., Blunt, B., Tierney, K. B., & Schlenk, D. (2015). Sublethal toxicity of chlorpyrifos to salmonid olfaction after hypersaline acclimation. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 161, 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.01.026
- Mashukova, A., Spehr, M., Hatt, H., & Neuhaus, E. M. (2006). β-Arrestin2-Mediated Internalization of Mammalian Odorant Receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(39), 9902–9912. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2897-06.2006

- Matsunami, H., & Buck, L. B. (1997). A Multigene Family Encoding a Diverse Array of Putative Pheromone Receptors in Mammals. *Cell*, 90(4), 775–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80537-1
- Matsuo, A. Y. O., Gallagher, E. P., Trute, M., Stapleton, P. L., Levado, R., & Schlenk, D. (2008). Characterization of Phase I biotransformation enzymes in coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 147(1), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2007.08.001
- McClintock, T. S., Wang, Q., Sengoku, T., Titlow, W. B., & Breheny, P. (2020). Mixture and Concentration Effects on Odorant Receptor Response Patterns In Vivo. *Chemical Senses*, 45(6), 429–438. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjaa032
- Medrano, S., Burns-Cusato, M., Atienza, M. B., Rahimi, D., & Scrable, H. (2009). Regenerative capacity of neural precursors in the adult mammalian brain is under the control of p53. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(3), 483–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.07.016
- Menco, B. P. M., Bruch, R. C., Dau, B., & Danho, W. (1992). Ultrastructural localization of olfactory transduction components: The G protein subunit Golfα and type III adenylyl cyclase. *Neuron*, 8(3), 441–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(92)90272-F
- Meyer, M. R., Angele, A., Kremmer, E., Kaupp, U. B., & Müller, F. (2000). A cGMP-signaling pathway in a subset of olfactory sensory neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 97(19), 10595–10600. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.19.10595
- Michel, W. C. (1999). Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channel Activation Is Not Required for Activity-Dependent Labeling of Zebrafish Olfactory Receptor Neurons by Amino Acids. *Neurosignals*, 8(6), 338–347. https://doi.org/10.1159/000014607
- Michel, W. C., & Lubomudrov, L. M. (1995). Specificity and sensitivity of the olfactory organ of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 177(2), 191–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00225098
- Michel, W. C., Sanderson, M. J., Olson, J. K., & Lipschitz, D. L. (2003). Evidence of a novel transduction pathway mediating detection of polyamines by the zebrafish olfactory system. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 206(10), 1697–1706. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00339

- Miyamoto, T., Restrepo, D., Cragoe, E. J., & Teeter, J. H. (1992). IP3-and cAMP-induced responses in isolated olfactory receptor neurons from the channel catfish. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, 127(3), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00231505
- Miyazawa, T., Gallagher, M., Preti, G., & Wise, P. M. (2008). Synergistic Mixture Interactions in Detection of Perithreshold Odors by Humans. *Chemical Senses*, 33(4), 363–369. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjn004
- Møller, T. C., Pedersen, M. F., van Senten, J. R., Seiersen, S. D., Mathiesen, J. M., Bouvier, M.,
 & Bräuner-Osborne, H. (2020). Dissecting the roles of GRK2 and GRK3 in μ-opioid
 receptor internalization and β-arrestin2 recruitment using CRISPR/Cas9-edited HEK293
 cells. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 17395. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73674-0
- Mombaerts, P., Wang, F., Dulac, C., Chao, S. K., Nemes, A., Mendelsohn, M., Edmondson, J., & Axel, R. (1996). Visualizing an Olfactory Sensory Map. *Cell*, 87(4), 675–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81387-2
- Monod, G., Saucier, D., Perdu-Durand, E., Diallo, M., Cravedi, J.-P., & Astic, L. (1994).
 Biotransformation enzyme activities in the olfactory organ of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Immunocytochemical localization of cytochrome P4501A1 and its induction by β-naphthoflavone. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, *13*(6), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00004326
- Monti Graziadei, G. A., & Graziadei, P. P. C. (1979). Neurogenesis and neuron regeneration in the olfactory system of mammals. II. Degeneration and reconstitution of the olfactory sensory neurons after axotomy. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 8(2), 197–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01175561
- Monti-Bloch, L., & Grosser, B. I. (1991). Effect of putative pheromones on the electrical activity of the human vomeronasal organ and olfactory epithelium. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 39(4, Part 2), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(91)90255-4
- Moran, D. T., Rowley, J. C., Jafek, B. W., & Lovell, M. A. (1982). The fine structure of the olfactory mucosa in man. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 11(5), 721–746. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01153516

- Morgan, C. D., & Murphy, C. (2010). Differential effects of active attention and age on eventrelated potentials to visual and olfactory stimuli. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 78(2), 190–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2010.07.008
- Morrison, E. E., & Costanzo, R. M. (1990). Morphology of the human olfactory epithelium. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 297(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902970102
- Morrison, E. E., & Costanzo, R. M. (1992). Morphology of olfactory epithelium in humans and other vertebrates. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 23(1), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.1070230105
- Muller, J. F., & Marc, R. E. (1984). Three distinct morphological classes of receptors in fish olfactory organs. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 222(4), 482–495. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902220403
- Munger, S. D., Lane, A. P., Zhong, H., Leinders-Zufall, T., Yau, K.-W., Zufall, F., & Reed, R.
 R. (2001). Central Role of the CNGA4 Channel Subunit in Ca2+-Calmodulin-Dependent Odor Adaptation. *Science*, 294(5549), 2172–2175. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1063224
- Munger, S. D., Leinders-Zufall, T., McDougall, L. M., Cockerham, R. E., Schmid, A.,
 Wandernoth, P., Wennemuth, G., Biel, M., Zufall, F., & Kelliher, K. R. (2010). An
 Olfactory Subsystem that Detects Carbon Disulfide and Mediates Food-Related Social
 Learning. *Current Biology*, 20(16), 1438–1444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.06.021
- Nache, V., Wongsamitkul, N., Kusch, J., Zimmer, T., Schwede, F., & Benndorf, K. (2016). Deciphering the function of the CNGB1b subunit in olfactory CNG channels. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 29378. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29378
- Nache, V., Zimmer, T., Wongsamitkul, N., Schmauder, R., Kusch, J., Reinhardt, L., Bönigk, W., Seifert, R., Biskup, C., Schwede, F., & Benndorf, K. (2012). Differential Regulation by Cyclic Nucleotides of the CNGA4 and CNGB1b Subunits in Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide–Gated Channels. *Science Signaling*, 5(232), ra48–ra48. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2003110
- Nakamura, T., & Gold, G. H. (1987). A cyclic nucleotide-gated conductance in olfactory receptor cilia. *Nature*, *325*(6103), Article 6103. https://doi.org/10.1038/325442a0
- Nakashima, N., Nakashima, K., Taura, A., Takaku-Nakashima, A., Ohmori, H., & Takano, M. (2020). Olfactory marker protein directly buffers cAMP to avoid depolarization-induced

silencing of olfactory receptor neurons. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15917-2

- Nakayasu, C., Kanemura, F., Hirano, Y., Shimizu, Y., & Tonosaki, K. (2000). Sensitivity of the olfactory sense declines with the aging in senescence-accelerated mouse (SAM-P1). *Physiology & Behavior*, 70(1), 135–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(00)00234-1
- Nevitt, G. (1999). Olfactory foraging in Antarctic seabirds: A species-specific attraction to krill odors. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 177, 235–241. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps177235
- Nevitt, G. A., Dittman, A. H., Quinn, T. P., & Moody, W. J. (1994). Evidence for a peripheral olfactory memory in imprinted salmon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(10), 4288–4292. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.10.4288
- Ngai, J., Chess, A., Dowling, M. M., Necles, N., Macagno, E. R., & Axel, R. (1993). Coding of olfactory information: Topography of odorant receptor expression in the catfish olfactory epithelium. *Cell*, 72(5), 667–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90396-8
- Nickell, W. T., Kleene, N. K., & Kleene, S. J. (2007). Mechanisms of neuronal chloride accumulation in intact mouse olfactory epithelium. *The Journal of Physiology*, 583(3), 1005–1020. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.129601
- Nikonov, A. A., & Caprio, J. (2001). Electrophysiological Evidence for a Chemotopy of Biologically Relevant Odors in the Olfactory Bulb of the Channel Catfish. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 86(4), 1869–1876. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2001.86.4.1869
- Nikonov, A. A., Finger, T. E., & Caprio, J. (2005). Beyond the olfactory bulb: An odotopic map in the forebrain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(51), 18688– 18693. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0505241102
- Noé, J., Tareilus, E., Boekhoff, I., & Breer, H. (1997). Sodium/calcium exchanger in rat olfactory neurons. *Neurochemistry International*, 30(6), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-0186(96)00090-3
- Nolte, D. L., Mason, J. R., Epple, G., Aronov, E., & Campbell, D. L. (1994). Why are predator urines aversive to prey? *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 20(7), 1505–1516. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02059876

- NORGREN, R. B., Jr., & LEHMAN, M. N. (1991). Neurons that Migrate from the Olfactory Epithelium in the Chick Express Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone. *Endocrinology*, *128*(3), 1676–1678. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-128-3-1676
- Ogura, T., Szebenyi, S. A., Krosnowski, K., Sathyanesan, A., Jackson, J., & Lin, W. (2011). Cholinergic microvillous cells in the mouse main olfactory epithelium and effect of acetylcholine on olfactory sensory neurons and supporting cells. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *106*(3), 1274–1287. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00186.2011
- Ohkuma, M., Kawai, F., & Miyachi, E. (2013). Acetylcholine enhances excitability by lowering the threshold of spike generation in olfactory receptor cells. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *110*(9), 2082–2089. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01077.2012
- Oikawa, T., Suzuki, K., Saito, T. R., Takahashi, K. W., & Taniguchi, K. (1998). Fine structure of three types of olfactory organs in Xenopus laevis. *The Anatomical Record*, 252(2), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0185(199810)252:2<301::AID-AR16>3.0.CO;2-R
- Oike, H., Nagai, T., Furuyama, A., Okada, S., Aihara, Y., Ishimaru, Y., Marui, T., Matsumoto,
 I., Misaka, T., & Abe, K. (2007). Characterization of Ligands for Fish Taste Receptors.
 Journal of Neuroscience, 27(21), 5584–5592. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0651-07.2007
- Oka, Y., Omura, M., Kataoka, H., & Touhara, K. (2004). Olfactory receptor antagonism between odorants. *The EMBO Journal*, 23(1), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600032
- Oka, Y., Saraiva, L. R., & Korsching, S. I. (2012). Crypt Neurons Express a Single V1R-Related ora Gene. *Chemical Senses*, *37*(3), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjr095
- Olwin, B. B., & Storm, D. R. (1985). Calcium binding to complexes of calmodulin and calmodulin binding proteins. *Biochemistry*, 24(27), 8081–8086. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00348a037
- Omura, M., & Mombaerts, P. (2014). Trpc2-Expressing Sensory Neurons in the Main Olfactory Epithelium of the Mouse. *Cell Reports*, 8(2), 583–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.010
- Omura, M., & Mombaerts, P. (2015). Trpc2-expressing sensory neurons in the mouse main olfactory epithelium of type B express the soluble guanylate cyclase Gucy1b2. *Molecular* and Cellular Neuroscience, 65, 114–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2015.02.012

- O'Neill, M. J., Hicks, C. A., Ward, M. A., Cardwell, G. P., Reymann, J.-M., Allain, H., & Bentué-Ferrer, D. (1998). Dopamine D2 receptor agonists protect against ischaemiainduced hippocampal neurodegeneration in global cerebral ischaemia. *European Journal* of Pharmacology, 352(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(98)00333-1
- Osada, K., Hanawa, M., Tsunoda, K., & Izumi, H. (2013). Evaluation of the Masking of Dimethyl Sulfide Odors by Citronellal, Limonene and Citral through the Use of Trained Odor Sensor Mice. *Chemical Senses*, 38(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjs077
- Otsuguro, K., Gautam, S. H., Ito, S., Habara, Y., & Saito, T. (2005). Characterization of Forskolin-Induced Ca2+ Signals in Rat Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, 97(4), 510–518. https://doi.org/10.1254/jphs.fp0040883
- Pace, U., Hanski, E., Salomon, Y., & Lancet, D. (1985). Odorant-sensitive adenylate cyclase may mediate olfactory reception. *Nature*, 316(6025), Article 6025. https://doi.org/10.1038/316255a0
- Patel, R. C., & Larson, J. (2009). Impaired olfactory discrimination learning and decreased olfactory sensitivity in aged C57Bl/6 mice. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 829–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.007
- Paterson, G., & Metcalfe, C. D. (2008). Uptake and depuration of the anti-depressant fluoxetine by the Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). *Chemosphere*, 74(1), 125–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.08.022
- Perez, M., Giurfa, M., & d'Ettorre, P. (2015). The scent of mixtures: Rules of odour processing in ants. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08659
- Peterlin, Z., Li, Y., Sun, G., Shah, R., Firestein, S., & Ryan, K. (2008). The Importance of Odorant Conformation to the Binding and Activation of a Representative Olfactory Receptor. *Chemistry & Biology*, 15(12), 1317–1327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.10.014
- Peterson, B. Z., DeMaria, C. D., & Yue, D. T. (1999). Calmodulin Is the Ca2+ Sensor for Ca2+-Dependent Inactivation of L-Type Calcium Channels. *Neuron*, 22(3), 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80709-6
- Petranka, J. W., Kats, L. B., & Sih, A. (1987). Predator-prey interactions among fish and larval amphibians: Use of chemical cues to detect predatory fish. *Animal Behaviour*, 35(2), 420–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(87)80266-X
- Pfister, P., Smith, B. C., Evans, B. J., Brann, J. H., Trimmer, C., Sheikh, M., Arroyave, R.,
 Reddy, G., Jeong, H.-Y., Raps, D. A., Peterlin, Z., Vergassola, M., & Rogers, M. E.
 (2020). Odorant Receptor Inhibition Is Fundamental to Odor Encoding. *Current Biology*, 30(13), 2574-2587.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.04.086
- Porter, R. H., & Moore, J. D. (1981). Human kin recognition by olfactory cues. *Physiology & Behavior*, *27*(3), 493–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(81)90337-1
- Prasad, K. N. (1974). Manganese inhibits adenylate cyclase activity and stimulates phosphodiesterase activity in neuroblastoma cells: Its possible implication in manganesepoisoning. *Experimental Neurology*, 45(3), 554–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(74)90161-7
- Pun, R. Y. K., & Kleene, S. J. (2003). Contribution of Cyclic-Nucleotide-Gated Channels to the Resting Conductance of Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Biophysical Journal*, 84(5), 3425– 3435. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(03)70064-2
- Pyrski, M., Koo, J. H., Polumuri, S. K., Ruknudin, A. M., Margolis, J. W., Schulze, D. H., & Margolis, F. L. (2007). Sodium/calcium exchanger expression in the mouse and rat olfactory systems. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 501(6), 944–958. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21290
- Rankin, M. L., Alvania, R. S., Gleason, E. L., & Bruch, R. C. (2002). Internalization of G Protein-Coupled Receptors in Single Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 72(2), 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0720541.x
- Rawson, N. E., Gomez, G., Cowart, B. J., Kriete, A., Pribitkin, E., & Restrepo, D. (2012). Ageassociated loss of selectivity in human olfactory sensory neurons. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1913–1919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.09.036
- Razmara, P., Imbery, J. J., Koide, E., Helbing, C. C., Wiseman, S. B., Gauthier, P. T., Bray, D. F., Needham, M., Haight, T., Zovoilis, A., & Pyle, G. G. (2021). Mechanism of copper nanoparticle toxicity in rainbow trout olfactory mucosa. *Environmental Pollution*, 284, 117141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117141

- Razmara, P., Lari, E., Mohaddes, E., Zhang, Y., G. Goss, G., & G. Pyle, G. (2019). The effect of copper nanoparticles on olfaction in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Environmental Science: Nano*, 6(7), 2094–2104. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9EN00360F
- Razmara, P., Sharpe, J., & Pyle, G. G. (2020). Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) chemosensory detection of and reactions to copper nanoparticles and copper ions. *Environmental Pollution*, 260, 113925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.113925
- Reed, B., & Jennings, M. (2011). Guidance on the housing and care of zebrafish Danio rerio. Guidance on the Housing and Care of Zebrafish Danio Rerio. https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20133283946
- Rehnberg, B. G., & Schreck, C. B. (1987). Chemosensory detection of predators by coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch): Behavioural reaction and the physiological stress response. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 65(3), 481–485. https://doi.org/10.1139/z87-074
- Reisert, J., Bauer, P. J., Yau, K.-W., & Frings, S. (2003). The Ca-activated Cl Channel and its Control in Rat Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of General Physiology*, 122(3), 349– 364. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200308888
- Reisert, J., Golden, G. J., Dibattista, M., & Gelperin, A. (2021). Odor sampling strategies in mice with genetically altered olfactory responses. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(5), e0249798. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249798
- Reisert, J., Lai, J., Yau, K.-W., & Bradley, J. (2005). Mechanism of the Excitatory Cl– Response in Mouse Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Neuron*, 45(4), 553–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.012
- Reisert, J., Yau, K.-W., & Margolis, F. L. (2007). Olfactory marker protein modulates the cAMP kinetics of the odour-induced response in cilia of mouse olfactory receptor neurons. *The Journal of Physiology*, 585(3), 731–740. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.142471
- Restrepo, D., Miyamoto, T., Bryant, B. P., & Teeter, J. H. (1990). Odor Stimuli Trigger Influx of Calcium Into Olfactory Neurons of the Channel Catfish. *Science*, 249(4973), 1166–1168. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2168580
- Rey, N. L., Sacquet, J., Veyrac, A., Jourdan, F., & Didier, A. (2012). Behavioral and cellular markers of olfactory aging and their response to enrichment. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(3), 626.e9-626.e23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.03.026

- Rivière, S., Challet, L., Fluegge, D., Spehr, M., & Rodriguez, I. (2009). Formyl peptide receptorlike proteins are a novel family of vomeronasal chemosensors. *Nature*, 459(7246), Article 7246. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08029
- Roberts, S. A., Prescott, M. C., Davidson, A. J., McLean, L., Beynon, R. J., & Hurst, J. L.
 (2018). Individual odour signatures that mice learn are shaped by involatile major urinary proteins (MUPs). *BMC Biology*, *16*(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-018-0512-9
- Roberts, S. C., & Gosling, L. M. (2003). Genetic similarity and quality interact in mate choice decisions by female mice. *Nature Genetics*, 35(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1231
- Roecker, A. J., Layton, M. E., Pero, J. E., Kelly, M. J. I., Greshock, T. J., Kraus, R. L., Li, Y., Klein, R., Clements, M., Daley, C., Jovanovska, A., Ballard, J. E., Wang, D., Zhao, F., Brunskill, A. P. J., Peng, X., Wang, X., Sun, H., Houghton, A. K., & Burgey, C. S. (2021). Discovery of Arylsulfonamide Nav1.7 Inhibitors: IVIVC, MPO Methods, and Optimization of Selectivity Profile. *ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, *12*(6), 1038–1049. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.1c00218
- Rolen, S. H., Sorensen, P. W., Mattson, D., & Caprio, J. (2003). Polyamines as olfactory stimuli in the goldfish Carassius auratus. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 206(10), 1683–1696. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00338
- Rössler, P., Mezler, M., & Breer, H. (1998). Two olfactory marker proteins in Xenopus laevis. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 395(3), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19980808)395:3<273::AID-CNE1>3.0.CO;2-#
- Roth, T. C., Cox, J. G., & Lima, S. L. (2008). Can foraging birds assess predation risk by scent? *Animal Behaviour*, 76(6), 2021–2027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.08.022
- Rünnenburger, K., Breer, H., & Boekhoff, I. (2002). Selective G protein βγ-subunit compositions mediate phospholipase C activation in the vomeronasal organ. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 81(10), 539–547. https://doi.org/10.1078/0171-9335-00277
- Russell, M. J. (1976). Human olfactory communication. *Nature*, 260(5551), Article 5551. https://doi.org/10.1038/260520a0
- Ryba, N. J. P., & Tirindelli, R. (1997). A New Multigene Family of Putative Pheromone Receptors. *Neuron*, 19(2), 371–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80946-0

- Sabiniewicz, A., Brandenburg, M., & Hummel, T. (2023). Odor Threshold Differs for Some But Not All Odorants Between Older and Younger Adults. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 78(6), 1025–1035. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbad019
- Saidu, S. P., Weeraratne, S. D., Valentine, M., Delay, R., & Van Houten, J. L. (2009). Role of Plasma Membrane Calcium ATPases in Calcium Clearance from Olfactory Sensory Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, 34(4), 349–358. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjp008
- Saito, S., Oikawa, T., Taniguchi, K., & Taniguchi, K. (2010). Fine structure of the vomeronasal organ in the grass lizard, Takydromus tachydromoides. *Tissue and Cell*, 42(5), 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2010.07.008
- Sansone, A., Hassenklöver, T., Syed, A. S., Korsching, S. I., & Manzini, I. (2014). Phospholipase C and Diacylglycerol Mediate Olfactory Responses to Amino Acids in the Main Olfactory Epithelium of an Amphibian. *PLOS ONE*, 9(1), e87721. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087721
- Sanz, G., Schlegel, C., Pernollet, J.-C., & Briand, L. (2005). Comparison of Odorant Specificity of Two Human Olfactory Receptors from Different Phylogenetic Classes and Evidence for Antagonism. *Chemical Senses*, 30(1), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bji002
- Saraiva, L. R., Ibarra-Soria, X., Khan, M., Omura, M., Scialdone, A., Mombaerts, P., Marioni, J. C., & Logan, D. W. (2015). Hierarchical deconstruction of mouse olfactory sensory neurons: From whole mucosa to single-cell RNA-seq. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 18178. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18178
- Sasaki, K., Okamoto, K., Inamura, K., Tokumitsu, Y., & Kashiwayanagi, M. (1999). Inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate accumulation induced by urinary pheromones in female rat vomeronasal epithelium. *Brain Research*, 823(1), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01164-6
- Sato, K., & Sorensen, P. W. (2018). The Chemical Sensitivity and Electrical Activity of Individual Olfactory Sensory Neurons to a Range of Sex Pheromones and Food Odors in the Goldfish. *Chemical Senses*, 43(4), 249–260. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjy016
- Sato, Y., Miyasaka, N., & Yoshihara, Y. (2005). Mutually Exclusive Glomerular Innervation by Two Distinct Types of Olfactory Sensory Neurons Revealed in Transgenic Zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(20), 4889–4897. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0679-05.2005

- Schaal, B., Marlier, L., & Soussignan, R. (2000). Human Foetuses Learn Odours from their Pregnant Mother's Diet. *Chemical Senses*, 25(6), 729–737. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/25.6.729
- Serizawa, S., Miyamichi, K., Nakatani, H., Suzuki, M., Saito, M., Yoshihara, Y., & Sakano, H. (2003). Negative Feedback Regulation Ensures the One Receptor-One Olfactory Neuron Rule in Mouse. *Science*, 302(5653), 2088–2094. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1089122
- Shahriari, A., Aoudi, B., & Tierney, K. B. (2023). The signal-transduction pathways of the peripheral olfactory organ and their impairment in vertebrates. *Aquaculture and Fisheries*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaf.2023.05.011
- Shahriari, A., Khara, L. S., Allison, W. T., & Tierney, K. B. (2021). Zebrafish (Danio rerio) behavioural response to an odorant mixture containing attracting and repelling odorants. *Behaviour*, 158(5), 355–375. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568539X-bja10070
- Shamchuk, A. L., & Tierney, K. B. (2012). Phenotyping stimulus evoked responses in larval zebrafish. *Behaviour*, 149(10–12), 1177–1203. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568539X-00003016
- Shi, W., Sun, S., Han, Y., Tang, Y., Zhou, W., Du, X., & Liu, G. (2021). Microplastics impair olfactory-mediated behaviors of goldfish Carassius auratus. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 409, 125016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.125016
- Shoji, T., Ueda, H., Ohgami, T., Sakamoto, T., Katsuragi, Y., Yamauchi, K., & Kurihara, K.
 (2000). Amino Acids Dissolved in Stream Water as Possible Home Stream Odorants for Masu Salmon. *Chemical Senses*, 25(5), 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/25.5.533
- Skabo, S. J., Holloway, A. F., West, A. K., & Chuah, M. I. (1997). Metallothioneins 1 and 2 Are Expressed in the Olfactory Mucosa of Mice in Untreated Animals and during the Regeneration of the Epithelial Layer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 232(1), 136–142. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1997.6243
- Sklar, P. B., Anholt, R. R., & Snyder, S. H. (1986). The odorant-sensitive adenylate cyclase of olfactory receptor cells. Differential stimulation by distinct classes of odorants. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 261(33), 15538–15543. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)66747-X

- Song, S. J., Park, B., Jo, K., & Kim, C.-S. (2022). Damage to Olfactory Organs of Adult Zebrafish Induced by Diesel Particulate Matter. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23010407
- Song, Y., Cygnar, K. D., Sagdullaev, B., Valley, M., Hirsh, S., Stephan, A., Reisert, J., & Zhao, H. (2008). Olfactory CNG Channel Desensitization by Ca2+/CaM via the B1b Subunit Affects Response Termination but Not Sensitivity to Recurring Stimulation. *Neuron*, 58(3), 374–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.02.029
- Sorensen, P. W., Hara, T. J., & Stacey, N. E. (1987). Extreme olfactory sensitivity of mature and gonadally-regressed goldfish to a potent steroidal pheromone, 17α,20β-dihydroxy-4pregnen-3-one. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 160(3), 305–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00613020
- Sorensen, P. W., & Sato, K. (2005). Second Messenger Systems Mediating Sex Pheromone and Amino Acid Sensitivity in Goldfish Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, 30(suppl_1), i315–i316. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjh241
- Sørhus, E., Incardona, J. P., Karlsen, Ø., Linbo, T., Sørensen, L., Nordtug, T., van der Meeren, T., Thorsen, A., Thorbjørnsen, M., Jentoft, S., Edvardsen, R. B., & Meier, S. (2016).
 Crude oil exposures reveal roles for intracellular calcium cycling in haddock craniofacial and cardiac development. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 31058. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31058
- Spehr, J., Hagendorf, S., Weiss, J., Spehr, M., Leinders-Zufall, T., & Zufall, F. (2009). Ca2+– Calmodulin Feedback Mediates Sensory Adaptation and Inhibits Pheromone-Sensitive Ion Channels in the Vomeronasal Organ. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(7), 2125–2135. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5416-08.2009
- Spehr, M., Hatt, H., & Wetzel, C. H. (2002). Arachidonic Acid Plays a Role in Rat Vomeronasal Signal Transduction. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(19), 8429–8437. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-19-08429.2002
- Spence, R., Gerlach, G., Lawrence, C., & Smith, C. (2008). The behaviour and ecology of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Biological Reviews*, 83(1), 13–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00030.x

- Starcevic, S. L., & Zielinski, B. S. (1995). Immunohistochemical localization of glutathione Stransferase pi in rainbow trout olfactory receptor neurons. *Neuroscience Letters*, 183(3), 175–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(94)11144-8
- Steele, C. W., Owens, D. W., & Scarfe, A. D. (1990). Attraction of zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio, to alanine and its suppression by copper. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 36(3), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1990.tb05614.x
- Stephan, A. B., Shum, E. Y., Hirsh, S., Cygnar, K. D., Reisert, J., & Zhao, H. (2009). ANO2 is the cilial calcium-activated chloride channel that may mediate olfactory amplification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(28), 11776–11781. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903304106
- Stephan, A. B., Tobochnik, S., Dibattista, M., Wall, C. M., Reisert, J., & Zhao, H. (2012). The Na+/Ca2+ exchanger NCKX4 governs termination and adaptation of the mammalian olfactory response. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2943
- Stowers, L., Holy, T. E., Meister, M., Dulac, C., & Koentges, G. (2002). Loss of Sex Discrimination and Male-Male Aggression in Mice Deficient for TRP2. *Science*, 295(5559), 1493–1500. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1069259
- Suselbeek, L., Emsens, W.-J., Hirsch, B. T., Kays, R., Rowcliffe, J. M., Zamora-Gutierrez, V., & Jansen, P. A. (2014). Food acquisition and predator avoidance in a Neotropical rodent. *Animal Behaviour*, 88, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.11.012
- Suzuki, H., Nikaido, M., Hagino-Yamagishi, K., & Okada, N. (2015). Distinct functions of two olfactory marker protein genes derived from teleost-specific whole genome duplication. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 15(1), 245. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-015-0530-y
- Suzuki, H., Teranishi, M., Katayama, N., Nakashima, T., Sugiura, S., & Sone, M. (2021). Relationship between cognitive impairment and olfactory function among older adults with olfactory impairment. *Auris Nasus Larynx*, 48(3), 420–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anl.2020.11.020
- Syed, A. S., Sansone, A., Nadler, W., Manzini, I., & Korsching, S. I. (2013). Ancestral amphibian v2rs are expressed in the main olfactory epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(19), 7714–7719. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1302088110

- Tabor, R., Yaksi, E., Weislogel, J.-M., & Friedrich, R. W. (2004). Processing of Odor Mixtures in the Zebrafish Olfactory Bulb. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(29), 6611–6620. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1834-04.2004
- Takeuchi, H., Kato, H., & Kurahashi, T. (2013). 2,4,6-Trichloroanisole is a potent suppressor of olfactory signal transduction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(40), 16235–16240. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1300764110
- Tan, L., Li, Q., & Xie, X. S. (2015). Olfactory sensory neurons transiently express multiple olfactory receptors during development. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 11(12), 844. https://doi.org/10.15252/msb.20156639
- Tang, L., Liu, M., Hu, C., Zhou, B., Lam, P. K. S., Lam, J. C. W., & Chen, L. (2020). Binary exposure to hypoxia and perfluorobutane sulfonate disturbs sensory perception and chromatin topography in marine medaka embryos. *Environmental Pollution*, 266, 115284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115284
- Taniguchi, M., Kashiwayanagi, M., & Kurihara, K. (1995). Intracellular injection of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate increases a conductance in membranes of turtle vomeronasal receptor neurons in the slice preparatio. *Neuroscience Letters*, 188(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(95)11379-B
- Taniguchi, M., Wang, D., & Halpern, M. (2000). Chemosensitive Conductance and Inositol 1,4,5-Trisphosphate-induced Conductance in Snake Vomeronasal Receptor Neurons. *Chemical Senses*, 25(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/25.1.67
- Taylor-Burds, C. C., Westburg, Ä. M., Wifall, T. C., & Delay, E. R. (2004). Behavioral Comparisons of the Tastes of l-Alanine and Monosodium Glutamate in Rats. *Chemical Senses*, 29(9), 807–814. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjh246
- Tempere, S., Schaaper, M. H., Cuzange, E., de Revel, G., & Sicard, G. (2017). Masking of Several Olfactory Notes by Infra-threshold Concentrations of 2,4,6-Trichloroanisole. *Chemosensory Perception*, 10(3), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-017-9227-5
- Thesen, T., & Murphy, C. (2001). Age-related changes in olfactory processing detected with olfactory event-related brain potentials using velopharyngeal closure and natural breathing. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 40(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8760(00)00157-4

- Thomas-Danguin, T., Sinding, C., Romagny, S., El Mountassir, F., Atanasova, B., Le Berre, E., Le Bon, A.-M., & Coureaud, G. (2014). The perception of odor objects in everyday life: A review on the processing of odor mixtures. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00504
- Tierney, K. B. (2016). Chemical avoidance responses of fishes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *174*, 228–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.02.021
- Tierney, K. B., Baldwin, D. H., Hara, T. J., Ross, P. S., Scholz, N. L., & Kennedy, C. J. (2010). Olfactory toxicity in fishes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 96(1), 2–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.09.019
- Tierney, K. B., Ross, P. S., & Kennedy, C. J. (2007). Linuron and carbaryl differentially impair baseline amino acid and bile salt olfactory responses in three salmonids. *Toxicology*, 231(2), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2006.12.001
- Tierney, K. B., Singh, C. R., Ross, P. S., & Kennedy, C. J. (2007). Relating olfactory neurotoxicity to altered olfactory-mediated behaviors in rainbow trout exposed to three currently-used pesticides. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 81(1), 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.11.006
- Tilton, F. A., Bammler, T. K., & Gallagher, E. P. (2011). Swimming impairment and acetylcholinesterase inhibition in zebrafish exposed to copper or chlorpyrifos separately, or as mixtures. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 153(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2010.07.008
- Tilton, F. A., Tilton, S. C., Bammler, T. K., Beyer, R. P., Stapleton, P. L., Scholz, N. L., & Gallagher, E. P. (2011). Transcriptional impact of organophosphate and metal mixtures on olfaction: Copper dominates the chlorpyrifos-induced response in adult zebrafish. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 102(3), 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.01.012
- Tilton, F., Tilton, S. C., Bammler, T. K., Beyer, R., Farin, F., Stapleton, P. L., & Gallagher, E. P. (2008). Transcriptional Biomarkers and Mechanisms of Copper-Induced Olfactory Injury in Zebrafish. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(24), 9404–9411. https://doi.org/10.1021/es801636v
- Touhara, K., Sengoku, S., Inaki, K., Tsuboi, A., Hirono, J., Sato, T., Sakano, H., & Haga, T. (1999). Functional identification and reconstitution of an odorant receptor in single

olfactory neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(7), 4040–4045. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.7.4040

- Trinh, K., & Storm, D. R. (2003). Vomeronasal organ detects odorants in absence of signaling through main olfactory epithelium. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1039
- Trinh, K., & Storm, D. R. (2004). Detection of Odorants through the Main Olfactory Epithelium and Vomeronasal Organ of Mice. *Nutrition Reviews*, 62(suppl_3), S189–S192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2004.tb00098.x
- Trombley, P. Q., & Shepherd, G. M. (1996). Differential modulation by zinc and copper of amino acid receptors from rat olfactory bulb neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 76(4), 2536–2546. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1996.76.4.2536
- Ueda, H., Nakamura, S., Nakamura, T., Inada, K., Okubo, T., Furukawa, N., Murakami, R., Tsuchida, S., Zohar, Y., Konno, K., & Watanabe, M. (2016). Involvement of hormones in olfactory imprinting and homing in chum salmon. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21102
- Ueha, R., Shichino, S., Ueha, S., Kondo, K., Kikuta, S., Nishijima, H., Matsushima, K., & Yamasoba, T. (2018). Reduction of Proliferating Olfactory Cells and Low Expression of Extracellular Matrix Genes Are Hallmarks of the Aged Olfactory Mucosa. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 10. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00086
- Ukhanov, K., Brunert, D., Corey, E. A., & Ache, B. W. (2011). Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase-Dependent Antagonism in Mammalian Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(1), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3698-10.2011
- Vaccarezza, O. L., Sepich, L. N., & Tramezzani, J. H. (1981). The vomeronasal organ of the rat. *Journal of Anatomy*, 132(Pt 2), 167–185.
- Valentinčič, T., Kralj, J., Stenovec, M., Koce, A., & Caprio, J. (2000). The Behavioral Detection Of Binary Mixtures Of Amino Acids And Their Individual Components By Catfish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 203(21), 3307–3317. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.203.21.3307
- Valentincic, T., Miklavc, P., Kralj, S., & Zgonik, V. (2011). Olfactory discrimination of complex mixtures of amino acids by the black bullhead Ameiurus melas. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 79(1), 33–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2011.02976.x

- Vargas, G., & Lucero, M. T. (1999). Dopamine Modulates Inwardly Rectifying Hyperpolarization-Activated Current (I h) in Cultured Rat Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 81(1), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.81.1.149
- Vetter, I. R., & Wittinghofer, A. (2001). The Guanine Nucleotide-Binding Switch in Three Dimensions. *Science*, *294*(5545), 1299–1304. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1062023
- Vielma, A., Ardiles, A., Delgado, L., & Schmachtenberg, O. (2008). The elusive crypt olfactory receptor neuron: Evidence for its stimulation by amino acids and cAMP pathway agonists. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 211(15), 2417–2422. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.018796
- Vitebsky, A., Reyes, R., Sanderson, M. j., Michel, W. c., & Whitlock, K. E. (2005). Isolation and characterization of the laure olfactory behavioral mutant in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Developmental Dynamics*, 234(1), 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20530
- Vocke, K., Dauner, K., Hahn, A., Ulbrich, A., Broecker, J., Keller, S., Frings, S., & Möhrlen, F. (2013). Calmodulin-dependent activation and inactivation of anoctamin calcium-gated chloride channels. *Journal of General Physiology*, 142(4), 381–404. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201311015
- Vogl, A., Noé, J., Breer, H., & Boekhoff, I. (2000). Cross-talk between olfactory second messenger pathways. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 267(14), 4529–4535. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01503.x
- Volz, S. N., Hausen, J., Nachev, M., Ottermanns, R., Schiwy, S., & Hollert, H. (2020). Short exposure to cadmium disrupts the olfactory system of zebrafish (Danio rerio) – Relating altered gene expression in the olfactory organ to behavioral deficits. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 226, 105555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2020.105555
- Volz, S. N., Hausen, J., Smith, K., Ottermanns, R., Schaeffer, A., Schiwy, S., & Hollert, H. (2020). Do you smell the danger? Effects of three commonly used pesticides on the olfactory-mediated antipredator response of zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Chemosphere*, 241, 124963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124963
- Wakisaka, N., Miyasaka, N., Koide, T., Masuda, M., Hiraki-Kajiyama, T., & Yoshihara, Y. (2017). An Adenosine Receptor for Olfaction in Fish. *Current Biology*, 27(10), 1437-1447.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.04.014

- Waldeck, C., Vocke, K., Ungerer, N., Frings, S., & Möhrlen, F. (2009). Activation and desensitization of the olfactory cAMP-gated transduction channel: Identification of functional modules. *Journal of General Physiology*, 134(5), 397–408. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200910296
- Wang, H.-W., Wysocki, C. J., & Gold, G. H. (1993). Induction of Olfactory Receptor Sensitivity in Mice. *Science*, 260(5110), 998–1000. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8493539
- Wang, J., Luthey-Schulten, Z. A., & Suslick, K. S. (2003). Is the olfactory receptor a metalloprotein? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(6), 3035–3039. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.262792899
- Wang, L., Espinoza, H. M., & Gallagher, E. P. (2013). Brief exposure to copper induces apoptosis and alters mediators of olfactory signal transduction in coho salmon. *Chemosphere*, 93(10), 2639–2643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.08.044
- Wang, L., & Gallagher, E. P. (2013). Role of Nrf2 antioxidant defense in mitigating cadmiuminduced oxidative stress in the olfactory system of zebrafish. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 266(2), 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2012.11.010
- Wayman, G. A., Impey, S., & Storm, D. R. (1995). Ca2+ Inhibition of Type III Adenylyl Cyclase in Vivo(*). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(37), 21480–21486. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.37.21480
- Wei, J., Wayman, G., & Storm, D. R. (1996). Phosphorylation and Inhibition of Type III Adenylyl Cyclase by Calmodulin-dependent Protein Kinase II in Vivo *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(39), 24231–24235. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.39.24231
- Wei, J., Zhao, A. Z., Chan, G. C. K., Baker, L. P., Impey, S., Beavo, J. A., & Storm, D. R. (1998). Phosphorylation and Inhibition of Olfactory Adenylyl Cyclase by CaM Kinase II in Neurons: A Mechanism for Attenuation of Olfactory Signals. *Neuron*, 21(3), 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80561-9
- Weiler, E., Apfelbach, R., & Farbman, A. I. (1999). The Vomeronasal Organ of the Male Ferret. Chemical Senses, 24(2), 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/24.2.127
- Weiss, J., Pyrski, M., Jacobi, E., Bufe, B., Willnecker, V., Schick, B., Zizzari, P., Gossage, S. J., Greer, C. A., Leinders-Zufall, T., Woods, C. G., Wood, J. N., & Zufall, F. (2011). Lossof-function mutations in sodium channel Nav1.7 cause anosmia. *Nature*, 472(7342), Article 7342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09975

- Wekesa, K. S., & Anholt, R. R. H. (1997). Pheromone Regulated Production of Inositol-(1, 4, 5)-Trisphosphate in the Mammalian Vomeronasal Organ*. *Endocrinology*, 138(8), 3497– 3504. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.138.8.5338
- Wekesa, K. S., Miller, S., & Napier, A. (2003). Involvement of Gq/11 in signal transduction in the mammalian vomeronasal organ. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 206(5), 827–832. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00174
- Wen, L., & Shi, Y.-B. (2015). Unliganded Thyroid Hormone Receptor α Controls Developmental Timing in Xenopus tropicalis. *Endocrinology*, 156(2), 721–734. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1439
- Williams, C. R., & Gallagher, E. P. (2013). Effects of cadmium on olfactory mediated behaviors and molecular biomarkers in coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 140–141, 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.06.010
- Williams, C. R., MacDonald, J. W., Bammler, T. K., Paulsen, M. H., Simpson, C. D., & Gallagher, E. P. (2016). From the Cover: Cadmium Exposure Differentially Alters Odorant-Driven Behaviors and Expression of Olfactory Receptors in Juvenile Coho Salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). *Toxicological Sciences*, *154*(2), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfw172
- Wong, S. T., Trinh, K., Hacker, B., Chan, G. C. K., Lowe, G., Gaggar, A., Xia, Z., Gold, G. H.,
 & Storm, D. R. (2000). Disruption of the Type III Adenylyl Cyclase Gene Leads to
 Peripheral and Behavioral Anosmia in Transgenic Mice. *Neuron*, 27(3), 487–497.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00060-X
- Xu, F., Schaefer, M., Kida, I., Schafer, J., Liu, N., Rothman, D. L., Hyder, F., Restrepo, D., & Shepherd, G. M. (2005). Simultaneous activation of mouse main and accessory olfactory bulbs by odors or pheromones. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 489(4), 491–500. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20652
- Xu, J., Morris, L., Thapa, A., Ma, H., Michalakis, S., Biel, M., Baehr, W., Peshenko, I. V., Dizhoor, A. M., & Ding, X.-Q. (2013). cGMP Accumulation Causes Photoreceptor Degeneration in CNG Channel Deficiency: Evidence of cGMP Cytotoxicity Independently of Enhanced CNG Channel Function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(37), 14939–14948. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0909-13.2013

- Xu, L., Li, W., Voleti, V., Zou, D.-J., Hillman, E. M. C., & Firestein, S. (2020). Widespread receptor-driven modulation in peripheral olfactory coding. *Science*, 368(6487), eaaz5390. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz5390
- Xu, S.-F., Hu, A.-L., Xie, L., Liu, J.-J., Wu, Q., & Liu, J. (2019). Age-associated changes of cytochrome P450 and related phase-2 gene/proteins in livers of rats. *PeerJ*, 7, e7429. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7429
- Yamamoto, Y., Hino, H., & Ueda, H. (2010). Olfactory Imprinting of Amino Acids in Lacustrine Sockeye Salmon. PLOS ONE, 5(1), e8633. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008633
- Yamamoto, Y., Shibata, H., & Ueda, H. (2013). Olfactory Homing of Chum Salmon to Stable Compositions of Amino Acids in Natal Stream Water. *Zoological Science*, 30(8), 607– 612. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.30.607
- Yamazaki, Y., Brown, R. L., & Morita, T. (2002). Purification and Cloning of Toxins from Elapid Venoms that Target Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Ion Channels,. *Biochemistry*, 41(38), 11331–11337. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi026132h
- Yan, C., Zhao, A. Z., Bentley, J. K., & Beavo, J. A. (1996). The Calmodulin-dependent Phosphodiesterase Gene PDE1C Encodes Several Functionally Different Splice Variants in a Tissue-specific Manner *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(41), 25699–25706. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.41.25699
- Yan, C., Zhao, A. Z., Bentley, J. K., Loughney, K., Ferguson, K., & Beavo, J. A. (1995).
 Molecular cloning and characterization of a calmodulin-dependent phosphodiesterase enriched in olfactory sensory neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(21), 9677–9681. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.21.9677
- Yildirim, E., Dietrich, A., & Birnbaumer, L. (2003). The mouse C-type transient receptor potential 2 (TRPC2) channel: Alternative splicing and calmodulin binding to its N terminus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(5), 2220–2225. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0438036100
- Yoo, Y. M., Jung, E. M., Jeon, B. H., Tran, D. N., & Jeung, E. B. (2020). Cigarette smoke extract influences intracellular calcium concentration in A549 cells. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*. https://doi.org/10.26402/jpp.2020.5.08

- Zhainazarov, A. B., Spehr, M., Wetzel, C. H., Hatt, H., & Ache, B. W. (2004). Modulation of the Olfactory CNG Channel by Ptdlns(3,4,5)P3. *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, 201(1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-004-0707-4
- Zhang, J., Hao, C., Jiang, J., Feng, Y., Chen, X., Zheng, Y., Liu, J., Zhang, Z., Long, C., & Yang, L. (2018). The mechanisms underlying olfactory deficits in apolipoprotein E– deficient mice: Focus on olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 62, 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.09.036
- Zhang, J.-X., Wei, W., Zhang, J.-H., & Yang, W.-H. (2010). Uropygial Gland-Secreted Alkanols Contribute to Olfactory Sex Signals in Budgerigars. *Chemical Senses*, 35(5), 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjq025
- Zhang, P., Yang, C., & Delay, R. J. (2010). Odors activate dual pathways, a TRPC2 and a AAdependent pathway, in mouse vomeronasal neurons. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 298(5), C1253–C1264. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00271.2009
- Zhang, Z., Yang, D., Zhang, M., Zhu, N., Zhou, Y., Storm, D. R., & Wang, Z. (2017). Deletion of Type 3 Adenylyl Cyclase Perturbs the Postnatal Maturation of Olfactory Sensory Neurons and Olfactory Cilium Ultrastructure in Mice. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 11. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncel.2017.00001
- Zheng, C., Feinstein, P., Bozza, T., Rodriguez, I., & Mombaerts, P. (2000). Peripheral Olfactory Projections Are Differentially Affected in Mice Deficient in a Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channel Subunit. *Neuron*, 26(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81140-X
- Zheng, J., & Zagotta, W. N. (2004). Stoichiometry and Assembly of Olfactory Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channels. *Neuron*, 42(3), 411–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00253-3
- Zhu, A., Zhang, X., & Yan, X. (2023). Intestinal Bile Acids Induce Behavioral and Olfactory Electrophysiological Responses in Large Yellow Croaker (Larimichthys crocea). *Fishes*, 8(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/fishes8010026
- Zielinski, B., & Hara, T. J. (1988). Morphological and physiological development of olfactory receptor cells in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) embryos. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 271(2), 300–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902710210

- Zippel, H. P., Voigt, R., Knaust, M., & Luan, Y. (1993). Spontaneous behaviour, training and discrimination training in goldfish using chemosensory stimuli. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 172(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00214717
- Zuri, I., Fishelson, L., & Terkel, J. (1998). Morphology and cytology of the nasal cavity and vomeronasal organ in juvenile and adult blind mole rats (Spalax ehrenbergi). *The Anatomical Record*, 251(4), 460–471. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0185(199808)251:4<460::AID-AR5>3.0.CO;2-W